# Characteristic classes of spin surface bundles: Applications of the Madsen-Weiss theory

### Dissertation

zur

Erlangung des Doktorgrades (Dr. rer. nat.)

 $\operatorname{der}$ 

Mathematisch-Naturwissenschaftlichen Fakultät

 $\operatorname{der}$ 

Rheinischen Friedrich-Wilhelms-Universität Bonn

vorgelegt von

Johannes Felix Ebert

aus Bonn

e-mail: ebert@math.uni-bonn.de

Bonn, Juli 2006

Angefertigt mit Genehmigung der Mathematisch-Naturwissenschaftlichen Fakultät der Rheinischen Friedrich-Wilhelms-Universität Bonn

- 1. Referent: Prof. Dr. Carl-Friedrich Bödigheimer (Bonn)
- 2. Referent: Prof. Dr. Fritz Grunewald (Düsseldorf)
- 3. Referentin: Prof. Dr. Ulrike Tillmann (Oxford)

Tag der Promotion: 15.11.2006

#### Abstract

In this work, we study topological properties of surface bundles, with an emphasis on surface bundles with a spin structure.

We develop a criterion to decide whether a given manifold bundle has a spin structure and specialize it to surface bundles.

We study examples of surface bundles, in particular sphere and torus bundles and surface bundles induced by actions of finite groups on Riemann surfaces. The examples are used to show that the obstruction cohomology class against the existence of a spin structure is nonzero.

We develop a connection between the Atiyah-Singer index theorem for families of elliptic operators and the modern homotopy theory of moduli spaces of Riemann surfaces due to Tillmann, Madsen and Weiss.

This theory and the index theorem is applied to prove that the tautological classes of spin surface bundles satisfy certain divisibility relations. The result is that the divisibility improves, compared with the non-spin-case, by a certain power of 2. The explicit computations for sphere bundles are used in the proof of the divisibility result.

In the last chapter, we use actions of certain finite groups to construct explicit torsion elements in the homotopy groups of the mapping class and compute their order, which relies on methods from algebraic K-theory and on the Madsen-Weiss theorem.

## Contents

1	Introduction	6
2	Generalities on surface bundles2.1Complex structures on surfaces and the diffeomorphism group	<b>15</b> 15 17 18 20 24
3	Spin structures on manifold bundles3.1Spin structures on vector bundles3.2Spin structures on manifolds3.3Spaces of Spin structures3.4Spin structures on fiber bundles3.5When does a smooth fiber bundle have a spin structure?	<b>27</b> 27 29 30 34 36
4	Spin structures on surface bundles4.1Spin structures on surfaces4.2The spin mapping class group	<b>38</b> 38 43
5	Some examples5.1Finite group actions and the nontriviality of the obstruction class5.2Sphere bundles5.3Torus bundles	<b>45</b> 45 47 51
6	The stable homotopy theory of Riemann surfaces6.1The Becker-Gottlieb-Transfer6.2The pushforward6.3The universal Becker-Gottlieb transfer6.4Relation to bordism theory6.5The theorems of Tillmann, Madsen and Weiss6.6Miscellaneous calculations6.7The Atiyah-Singer index theorem6.8Examples for the index theorem6.9From the Mumford conjecture to the Madsen-Tillmann map6.10The Madsen-Tillmann-diagram	<b>55</b> 55 57 58 60 62 64 66 67 69 72
7	Divisibility of MMM-classes for spin surface bundles         7.1       The general case         7.2       The even classes         7.3       The odd classes	<b>73</b> 73 74 74

8	The icosahedral group and $\pi_3(B\Gamma_\infty^+)$	77
	8.1 The icosahedral group and the Poincaré sphere	77
	8.2 Surfaces with an action of the icosahedral group	78
	8.3 Review of the work by Jones-Westbury	81
	8.4 Application of the Jones-Westbury formula to the mapping class group	82
	8.5 Increasing the genus	84
	8.6 Concluding remarks	85
$\mathbf{A}$	Appendix on groupoids	86
в	List of notations	89

### 1 Introduction

In the last decades, the theory of Riemann surfaces and their moduli spaces has seen a rapid development. In particular, there is now an elaborate *homotopy theory* of moduli spaces of Riemann surfaces.

This homotopy theory of moduli spaces is based on Teichmüller theory. Teichmüller theory tells us that the moduli space  $\mathfrak{M}_g$  of conformal equivalence classes of Riemann surfaces of genus g is the quotient of a space  $\mathcal{T}_g$  homeomorphic to  $\mathbb{C}^{3g-3}$  by the action of the mapping class group  $\Gamma_g$ . This is the group of connected components of  $\text{Diff}(M_g)$ , the group of orientation-preserving diffeomorphisms of a surface of genus g. The action is properly discontinuous and has finite isotropy groups. As a consequence,  $\mathfrak{M}_g$  and the classifying space  $B\Gamma_g$  are rationally homology equivalent.

But the connection between the object  $\mathfrak{M}_g$  from complex analysis and the diffeomorphism group  $\operatorname{Diff}(M_g)$  from differential topology is much stronger. It comes from a very special property of 2-dimensional manifolds. Any oriented surface M has a complex structure, but there is a more global statement. The *space*  $\mathcal{S}(M)$  of all complex structures on M is actually *contractible*. As a consequence, Earle and Eells proved in 1969 that the unit component of the diffeomorphism group is contractible. Thus,  $\operatorname{Diff}(M)$  and  $\Gamma_g$  are the same thing for the eyes of a topologist. Another, simpler, consequence of the contractibility of  $\mathcal{S}(M)$  is the following. The topological group  $\operatorname{Diff}(M)$  appears as the structural group of oriented smooth *surface bundles*; and the contractibility of  $\mathcal{S}(M)$  shows that on any surface bundle  $E \to B$ , we can find complex structures on the fibers which vary continuously. Moreover, all these complex structures are *concordant*.

The next important and much deeper step towards the homotopical theory of moduli spaces was Harer's stability theorem. For this, one needs to introduce mapping class groups  $\Gamma_{g,n}$ for surfaces of genus g with n boundary components. There are stabilization maps between these mapping class groups given by boundary connected sum (for more details, see 6.5). Then the homology groups  $H_k(B\Gamma_{g,n})$  and thus  $H_k(B \operatorname{Diff}(M_g))$  do not depend on g and n, as long as g is large enough compared to k.

Based on Harer stability, Ulrike Tillmann proved a very strong theorem. The mapping class groups  $\Gamma_g$  and  $\Gamma_{g,n}$  are perfect; and one can form the infinite mapping class group  $\Gamma_{\infty,n}$ , as the colimit over all stabilization maps. One can apply Quillen's plus construction to  $B\Gamma_{\infty,n}$ . The result is a simply connected space  $B\Gamma^+_{\infty,n}$  and a homology equivalence  $B\Gamma_{\infty,n} \to B\Gamma^+_{\infty,n}$ . Because of Harer stability, the homotopy type of  $B\Gamma^+_{\infty,n}$  does not depend on n and will be abbreviated by  $B\Gamma^+_{\infty}$ .

Tillmann's theorem states that  $\mathbb{Z} \times B\Gamma_{\infty}^+$  is an infinite loop space. In other words, there exists a connective spectrum and whose infinite loop space is homotopy equivalent to  $\mathbb{Z} \times B\Gamma_{\infty}^+$ .

Later, Madsen and Weiss identified this spectrum. There exists a certain Thom spectrum  $\mathbb{G}_{-2}^{SO}$  and a homotopy equivalence  $\alpha : \mathbb{Z} \times B\Gamma_{\infty}^+ \to \Omega^{\infty} \mathbb{G}_{-2}^{SO}$ , which is a Pontryagin-Thom type construction.

The most important ingredient for the proof of the Madsen-Weiss Theorem is Harer's stability theorem.

Harer, Bauer and Galatius have proven analogous results for surfaces with *spin structures*, which are one of the main topics of the present work. Now I turn to the results of this dissertation.

**Chapter 2:** Chapter 1 is this introduction and chapter 2 provides the necessary background from the theory of moduli spaces and mapping class groups, except for the modern homotopy theory of moduli spaces, which is described in chapter 6. I describe in detail the connection between the differential topology of surface bundles and the moduli spaces, which are objects of complex geometry (2.1, 2.2, 2.5). I give a proof of the folklore statement that the classifying space  $B\Gamma_g$  of the mapping class group and the moduli space  $\mathfrak{M}_g$ of Riemann surfaces are rationally homology equivalent (Theorem 2.5.2).

In section 2.3, I give the definition of the most important characteristic cohomology classes of surface bundles. There are the *Morita-Miller-Mumford classes* (or *MMM-classes* for shortness)  $\kappa_n \in H^{2n}(B \operatorname{Diff}(M);\mathbb{Z})$  (see Definition 2.3.1) and the symplectic classes  $\gamma_n \in H^{2n}(B \operatorname{Diff}(M);\mathbb{Z})$  (see Definition 2.3.8) for any oriented closed surface M.

In section 2.4, I describe an important series of vector bundles on the moduli spaces of Riemann surfaces, or rather on  $B \operatorname{Diff}(M)$ , the so-called *Hodge bundles*  $V_n$ ,  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ . They can be viewed as the vector bundles of holomorphic *n*-differentials when one chooses a complex structure on the fibers of the universal surface bundle.

**Chapter 3:** We carry out the preparations for the discussion of spin structures on surface bundles. We study more generally spin structures on arbitrary manifold bundles. After a brief discussion of spin structures on vector bundles (section 3.1) and manifolds (section 3.2), we discuss two important questions:

**Questions 1.0.1.** 1. What should the *space* of all spin structures on *M* be?

2. What is the "correct" space of automorphisms of a manifold with spin structure?

We address both questions in section 3.3, and we do it in a uniform way. Namely, we construct both spaces as classifying spaces of a groupoid. The first groupoid is SPIN(M) and its classifying space is the space of all spin structures. The second groupoid is Sdiff(M), which has the same objects as SPIN(M), but there are much more morphisms, namely, all *spin diffeomorphisms* of M. One should think that BSdiff(M) is the space of all spin manifolds diffeomorphic to M and that BDiff(M) is the space of all manifolds diffeomorphic to M. Thus one expects a fiber sequence

#### 3.3.9.

$$BSPJN(M) \to BSdiff(M) \to BDiff(M);$$

which is indeed true. In order to answer the question whether a manifold bundle classified by a map  $B \to B \operatorname{Diff}(M)$  admits a spin structure, the fiber sequence 3.3.9 is not suitable.

One cannot apply obstruction theory in a reasonable way, because the situation is too non-Abelian. We need an auxiliary fiber sequence, which is related to the first one by the diagram



where  $\text{Diff}(M, \sigma)$  is the group of all diffeomorphisms of M which fix the given spin structure  $\sigma$ . We stress that this group and its classifying space play a purely auxiliary role. The bottom horizontal map is a finite covering, and the question whether a lift exists is group-theoretical and cannot be addressed by cohomological methods. But the left-hand side fibration is *simple* and the obstruction theory behaves nicely. The fibration is classified by a cohomology class  $c \in h^2(B \operatorname{Diff}(M, \sigma); \mathbb{F}_2)$  and we will prove:

**Corollary 3.5.5.** Let  $E \to B$  be a smooth *M*-bundle, classified by a map  $\lambda : B \to B \operatorname{Diff}(M)$  such that its monodromy  $\rho = \pi_1(B\lambda) : \pi_1(B) \to \pi_0(\operatorname{Diff}(M))$  fixes  $\sigma$ . Then the following statement holds.

There exists a spin structure on the fiber bundle E extending  $\phi^*\sigma$  if and only if the monodromy homomorphism takes values in  $\pi_0(\text{Diff}(M, \sigma) \text{ and } \lambda^*c = 0 \in H^2(B; \mathbb{F}_2).$ 

The two obvious questions which arise from this statement are:

Questions 1.0.2. 1. Is the cohomology class c nontrivial, i.e. is the group extension  $\mathbb{Z}/2 \to \text{Sdiff}(M, \sigma) \to \text{Diff}(M, \sigma)$  nontrivial?

2. Can one express the cohomology class c in terms of more familiar classes?

**Chapter 4:** The whole theory in chapter 3 is valid for manifolds of arbitrary dimension, but in chapter 4, we turn to surfaces. I will review the results of Atiyah and Johnson on spin structures on surfaces in section 4.1. The most important thing about spin structures on surfaces is the existence of the *Atiyah-invariant* (see Definition 4.1.2) of a spin structure. It takes values in  $\mathbb{F}_2$  and divides the spin structures into the even ones and the odd ones. There are two definitions, one using index theory and the other one using elementary differential topology and linear algebra over  $\mathbb{F}_2$ . We give an easy new proof of Atiyah's theorem that any diffeomorphism of a surface fixes a spin structure (Corollary 4.1.21). In the section 4.2, we apply the general theory of chapter 3 to surfaces. The main result of this short section is

**Proposition 4.2.2.** Let M be an oriented surface of genus  $g \ge 2$ .

1.  $B \operatorname{Sdiff}(M)$  has two connected components  $B \operatorname{Sdiff}(M)^+$  and  $B \operatorname{Sdiff}(M)^-$  belonging to the different values of the Atiyah invariant.

- 2. Both components are aspherical if  $g \geq 2$ .
- 3. The fundamental group  $\hat{\Gamma}_g^{\epsilon} := \pi_1(B \operatorname{Sdiff}(M)^{\epsilon})$  is a central  $\mathbb{Z}/2$ -extension of  $\Gamma(M, \sigma)$ , where  $\sigma$  is a spin structure with Atiyah invariant  $\epsilon \in \{\pm 1\}$ .

The groups  $\hat{\Gamma}_{g}^{\epsilon}$  are the *spin mapping class groups*. We do not study spin mapping class groups of surfaces with boundary. They are studied for example in [8] and are extremely important for the development of the homotopy theory of spin surface bundles. On the other hand, we shall only *use* the results and for this use, we do not need the mapping class groups with boundary explicitly.

**Chapter 5:** The purpose of this chapter is twofold. I will introduce another theme of this work, the application of *finite group actions* on surfaces to the topological theory of moduli spaces. Finite group actions on surfaces were employed by several authors, who achieved some progress: Glover and Mislin detected torsion classes in the cohomology of  $B\Gamma_g$ ; Kawazumi, Akita, Uemura gave a new and elementary proof of the algebraic independence of the Morita-Mumford classes. Even more recently, Galatius, Madsen and Tillmann used finite group actions to prove that some divisibility properties of the Morita-Mumford classes are optimal (see below).

If G is a finite group M a Riemann surface  $G \curvearrowright M$  a group action, we can study the surface bundle  $E(G; M) := EG \times_G M \to BG$  and can ask whether there exists a spin structure on E(G; M). The answer is simple and general:

**Theorem 5.1.1.** Let G be a finite group which acts faithfully on a closed surface M. Then the induced surface bundle E(G; M) is spin if and only if all 2-Sylow-subgroups act freely on M.

We use Theorem 5.1.1 to show that c is nonzero.

The remaining sections 5.2 and 5.3 of chapter 5.1 are devoted to the study of the exceptional genera g = 0 and g = 1. It is well-known that any  $\mathbb{S}^2$ -bundle is the sphere bundle of a 3-dimensional oriented vector bundle, which is unique up to isomorphism. In other words,  $\text{Diff}(\mathbb{S}^2) \simeq \text{SO}(3)$ . We study the extension 3.3.9 for  $M = \mathbb{S}^2$ :

Proposition 5.2.2. In the diagram below, all horizontal maps are homotopy equivalences.

$$\mathbb{Z}/2 = \mathbb{Z}/2 = \mathbb{Z}/2$$

$$\downarrow \qquad \qquad \downarrow \qquad \qquad \downarrow$$

$$SU(2) \longrightarrow SL_2(\mathbb{C}) \longrightarrow Sdiff(\mathbb{S}^2, \sigma_0)$$

$$\downarrow \qquad \qquad \qquad \qquad \downarrow \qquad \qquad \qquad \downarrow$$

$$SO(3) \longrightarrow \mathbb{P}SL_2(\mathbb{C}) \longrightarrow Diff(\mathbb{S}^2),$$

where  $\sigma_0$  is the unique spin structure on  $\mathbb{S}^2$ . Using this, we can express the spin condition for  $\mathbb{S}^2$ -bundles in more familiar terms.

**Proposition 5.2.3.** Let  $\pi : E \to B$  be an  $\mathbb{S}^2$ -bundle and let  $V \to B$  be a 3-dimensional vector bundle whose sphere bundle is E. Then the following conditions are equivalent.

- 1. E has a spin structure.
- 2. V is a spin vector bundle.
- 3. There exists a 2-dimensional complex vector bundle  $U \to B$ , such that E is isomorphic to the projective bundle  $\mathbb{P}U \to B$  and such that  $c_1(U) = 0$ .

Because of 1 and 2, the class  $c \in H^2(B \operatorname{Diff}(\mathbb{S}^2), \mathbb{F}_2) \cong H^2(B \operatorname{SO}(3); \mathbb{F}_2) \cong \mathbb{F}_2$  agrees with  $w_2$ .

Then we calculate the characteristic classes of  $S^2$ -bundles in terms of the characteristic classes of related vector bundles (Propositions 5.2.4, 5.2.5 and 5.2.6).

We also do calculations for torus bundles. Besides the calculation of the characteristic classes for torus bundles, the main result of section 5.3 is

**Corollary 5.3.12.** A torus bundle has an odd spin structure if and only if  $\gamma_1 = 0 \pmod{2}$ .

**Chapter 6:** This chapter introduces the modern homotopy theory of moduli spaces after Tillmann, Madsen and Weiss. This theory is centered around the Madsen-Tillmann spectrum  $\mathbb{G}_{-2}^{SO}$  and a map  $\alpha$  from the classifying space of the stable mapping class group  $\mathbb{Z} \times B\Gamma_{\infty}$  to the infinite loop space  $\Omega^{\infty}\mathbb{G}_{-2}^{SO}$ . The map  $\alpha$  is a homology equivalence by the Madsen-Weiss theorem.

Our focus is on a close connection of the map  $\alpha$  with the index theory of families of Cauchy-Riemann operators.

In the first four sections of chapter 6, we develop the general theory. Section 6.1 explains the Becker-Gottlieb transfer and section 6.2 the relation with pushforward (alias umkehr maps) in cohomology. Both things are classical and the only purpose of these sections is to have the definitions and important properties at hand. Section 6.3 introduces the Madsen-Tillmann spectra  $\mathbb{G}_{-d}^{\mathbf{F}}$  in a general context. In section 6.4, we explain the connection between the Madsen-Tillmann spectra and the classical Thom spectra, which is employed for many computations. Section 6.5 is a short survey on the results of Harer, Madsen, Tillmann and Weiss and a few other people. We also consider the case of spin surfaces. In section 6.6, we give a few computations which are used at several places in this dissertation.

In section 6.7, we show how the Atiyah-Singer index theorem for families of elliptic differential operators fits into this context. In fact, we concentrate on Dolbeault operators on bundles of Riemann surfaces. Section 6.8 shows a few examples and in the final section 6.9, we show how the Madsen-Tillmann map naturally arises from Mumfords conjecture and index theory. **Chapter 7** It is a classical topic in the theory of characteristic classes that the presence of spin structures improves the divisibility of characteristic numbers. Let us discuss a simple example. Consider an oriented closed 4-manifold M. By Hirzebruch's signature theorem, the signature of M equals  $\frac{1}{3}\langle p_1(TM), [M] \rangle$ . Since the signature is an integer, it follows that  $p_1(TM)$  is divisible by 3. On the other hand, the signature of  $\mathbb{CP}^2$  is 1 and the divisibility is optimal for oriented 4-manifolds. Rochlin's theorem ([31], p. 288) gives an improvement of this for spin manifolds. More specifically, if M has a spin structure, then the signature is divisible by 16 or the first Pontryagin class is divisible by 48. A proof can be given using the Atiyah-Singer theorem. If M is spin, then there exists the Dirac operator  $\mathcal{P}$ , an elliptic differential operator whose index is  $\frac{1}{24}\langle p_1(TM); [M] \rangle$ . Thus the signature is divisible by 8. The last power of 2 is encoded in the algebraic symmetries of the Dirac operator. Namely, there exists a parallel quaternionic structure on the spinor bundles, whence the index is an even number (compare [31], p. 288). This divisibility of the signature of 4-dimensional spin manifolds is optimal: a K3-surface has signature 16.

In the chapter 7, we prove divisibility theorems for the characteristic classes  $\kappa_n$  of surface bundles of a similar spirit.

**Proposition 7.2.2.** For a spin surface bundle,  $\kappa_n$  is divisible by  $2^{n+1}$ . This holds even integrally.

For the rest of the discussion, we have to distinguish between even and odd values of n. Let us first consider the even classes  $\kappa_{2n}$ .

**Theorem 7.2.3.** For spin surface bundles, the class  $\kappa_{2n}$  is not divisible by any nontrivial multiple of  $2^{2n+1}$ . This holds in the stable range for spin mapping class groups.

The condition on the stable range has the following reason. If the genus is not large enough, then all Morita-Mumford classes vanish, and they are divisible by any number. Thus the genus must be large enough to make sense out of this statement.

Our proof consists of two steps. First, we use the calculations of section 5.2 to prove that  $\kappa_{2n}$  of the universal sphere bundle with spin structure is not divisible by  $2^{2n+2}$ . This is not in the stable range, but can be used to prove results in the stable range. The second step uses the Madsen-Weiss theorem to reduce the statement about the cohomology of  $\Omega^{\infty} \mathbb{G}_{-2}^{\text{Spin}}$ . Theorem 7.2.3 means that the reduction of  $\kappa_{2n}$  modulo  $2^{2n+2}$  is nonzero and this can be proven using the classifying map  $\mathbb{HP}^{\infty} \to \Omega^{\infty} \mathbb{G}_{-2}^{\text{Spin}}$  of the universal S<sup>2</sup>-bundle with spin structure.

For the odd Morita-Mumford classes, there is an old divisibility theorem by Morita ([38]). It says that the denominator of the Bernoulli numbers  $den(\frac{B_n}{2n})$  divides  $\kappa_{2n-1}$  for any oriented surface bundle. Recently, Galatius, Madsen and Tillmann ([18]) proved that this is optimal. Here we prove

**Theorem 7.3.1.** For spin surface bundles, the class  $\kappa_{2n-1}$  is divisible by  $2^{2n} \operatorname{den}(\frac{B_n}{2n})$ .

The proof of Theorem 7.3.1 follows the pattern of the proof of Rochlin's theorem. The existence of a spin structure implies the existence of a holomorphic square-root S of the vertical cotangent bundle and a differential operator  $\bar{\partial}_S$ . The Grothendieck-Riemann-Roch

formula is used to prove that  $2^{2n-1} \operatorname{den}(\frac{B_n}{2n})$  divides  $\kappa_{2n-1}$ , and the last power of 2 is grasped by a look on internal symmetries of the index bundle of  $\bar{\partial}_S$ . We do not know whether this divisibility relation is optimal. The construction of surface bundles is difficult and the proof in [18] does not generalize, because it relies essentially on the consideration of cyclic group actions on surfaces. The problem is a 2-primary problem and due to Theorem 5.1.1, there are not enough spin surface bundles given by finite group actions to prove the optimality.

**Chapter 8** This last chapter is not immediately related to the other chapters of this dissertation in the sense that spin structures do not play any role there. The topic is the following. It is known that  $\pi_3(B\Gamma^+_\infty) \cong \mathbb{Z}/24$  and we look for geometric representatives of elements in this group. Usually it is difficult to give a geometric description of maps from a space Y into the plus construction of a space X, in particular, if Y is simply-connected (like  $\mathbb{S}^3$ ) and X is aspherical (like  $B\Gamma_{\infty}$ ), then any map  $Y \to X$  is nullhomotopic. There is a better chance for constructing a nontrivial map  $\mathbb{S}^n \to B\Gamma^+_\infty$  if one starts with a map  $X \to B\Gamma_g$  when X is an n-dimensional homology sphere. Plus construction gives a map  $X^+ \to B\Gamma^+_{\infty}$  and  $X^+ \simeq \mathbb{S}^n$ . How do we construct a map  $X \to B\Gamma_{\infty}$ ? It is given by a homomorphism  $\pi_1 X \to \Gamma_\infty$  which in turn is given by any action  $\pi_1(X) \curvearrowright M_g$  if the fundamental group of X is finite. The most popular 3-dimensional homology sphere is the Poincaré sphere, whose fundamental group  $\hat{G}$  is the binary icosahedral group. Using the connection between the fundamental group of the Poincaré sphere and Euclidean geometry, it is not difficult to construct nontrivial actions of G on Riemann surfaces (8.2). How can we detect whether the element in  $\pi_3(B\Gamma^+_{\infty})$  is nontrivial? The method is the use of the Jones-Westbury formula (see [29]). We make use out of the map  $B\rho^+$  :  $B\Gamma^+_{\infty} \to$  $B\operatorname{GL}_{\infty}(\mathbb{Z})^+$  into algebraic K-theory, which yields a map  $\pi_3(B\Gamma_{\infty}^+) \to K_3(\mathbb{Z})$ . There exists a homomorphism  $e: K_3(\mathbb{Z}) \to \mathbb{Q}/\mathbb{Z}$ , which is injective and maps onto  $(\frac{1}{48}\mathbb{Z})/\mathbb{Z} \subset \mathbb{Q}/\mathbb{Z}$ . It turns out that  $e \circ (B\rho^+)_* : \pi_3(B\Gamma^+_\infty) \to \mathbb{Q}/\mathbb{Z}$  is injective (subsection 8.6). The element in  $K_3(\mathbb{Z})$  given by this procedure agrees with the element given by the representation of G on the first homology of the surface. The computation of the *e*-invariant of these elements is the subject of the paper [29]. To carry out the calculation, one needs information about the fixed points of the actions. In our case, this information is available and the computations yield that we have constructed an element in  $\pi_3(B\Gamma_{\infty}^+)$  of order 12 (see Proposition

8.4.2). Strictly speaking, we only have constructed an element in the stable homotopy of a mapping class group of a fixed genus which does not need to lie in the stable range, but this problem can be overcome by a stabilization (alias connected sum) operation (see section 8.5).

I have included an appendix A which contains the proof of two results needed in section 3.3 and are abstract and technical in nature.

**Remark on the notations:** This work is divided into chapters (numbered like chapter 2), sections (section 1 of chapter 1 is numbered as 2.1). Equations, theorems etc occurring

in section 2.1 are numbered like Theorem 2.1.1). I hope this makes my system of cross-references transparent.

Between the appendix A and the bibliography I have included a list of the notations used in this work. I tried to use a constant notation throughout the text. The advantage is that I could save a lot of phrases like "Let  $\pi : E \to B$  be a surface bundle". The disadvantage of this method is that the reader may sometimes wonder what the meaning of a symbol is. To help in these situations, there is appendix B.

### Acknowledgements

It is a great pleasure to thank everyone who helped me during my years as a PhD student. There is one institution and one person who deserve the warmest thanks. The institution is the Max-Planck-Institut für Mathematik in Bonn which employed me for three years. Without this financial support, this work would not have been possible. During the last weeks of writing this thesis, I was financially supported by the Graduiertenkolleg 1150 "Homotopie und Kohomologie"

I am grateful my advisor Carl-Friedrich Bödigheimer for all he has done for me in the last years. Almost every week he listened patiently to me when I was developping the ideas of this work and always answered my questions. He always encouraged me to push this work further.

I want to thank the Mathematisches Forschungsinstitut Oberwolfach for inviting me three times to very pleasant visits. The most important one for me was the first one: the Arbeitsgemeinschaft in October 2003 on the Madsen-Weiss theorem, organized by Søren Galatius and Michael Weiss. I take the opportunity to thank the organizers and speakers of this workshop, which was the beginning of my study of stable homotopy theory of moduli spaces.

I want to thank the American Institute of Mathematics in Palo Alto, California for the invitation to the workshop on the geometry and topology of moduli spaces in March 2005. I had the opportunity to discuss with a lot of people about my research. I want to thank all of them, even if the results of these discussion did not enter the present work. Among them are: Anton Zorich, Maxim Kontsevich, Eduard Looijenga, Friedrich Hirzebruch, John Rognes, Karlheinz Knapp, Jeffrey Giansiracusa, Gerald Gaudens, Christian Ausoni, Holger Reich, Roland Friedrich and many more.

Furthermore, I want to thank the organizers and the speakers of the Oberseminar Topologie at the Mathematical Institute of the University of Bonn, which was run by Carl-Friedrich Bödigheimer, Stefan Schwede, Gerald Gaudens, Christian Ausoni, Elke Markert and Birgit Richter. I could benefit from virtually every talk I heard there in the last years.

Furthermore, I want to mention my brother and sister students Balazs Visy, Maria Guadalupe Castillo, Juan Wang, Ulrich Denker and Fridolin Roth for having such a nice time as a PhD student. During the last weeks, Gerald Gaudens, Christian Ausoni and Elke Markert helped me with LaTeX problems.

Bonn, July 2006

### 2 Generalities on surface bundles

This chapter is a survey on the theory of surface bundles and the mapping class groups.

#### 2.1 Complex structures on surfaces and the diffeomorphism group

Here, we clarify the relation between the classifying space of the mapping class groups and the moduli space of Riemann surfaces.

Let M be a smooth, closed, oriented and connected 2-manifold. It is well-known ([25]) that M is determined up to diffeomorphism by a single invariant, the genus of M;

$$g := \frac{1}{2} \dim H_1(M; \mathbb{Q}) \in \mathbb{N}.$$

If we want to stress that the genus of M is g, we also use the notation  $M_g$ . Let Diff(M) be the group of *orientation-preserving* diffeomorphisms of M. The space of all smooth maps  $M \to M$  carries the  $C^{\infty}$ -Whitney topology (a sequence of maps converges if and only if all its derivatives converge uniformly). The diffeomorphism group Diff(M) is an open subspace. With the subspace topology, it becomes a topological group.

Let a complex structure on M be given, let  $\phi: M \supset U \to \mathbb{C}$  be a holomorphic chart,  $p \in U$ and let  $T\phi$  be the derivative of  $\phi$ . Then  $v \mapsto T\phi^{-1}(iT\phi(v))$  does not depend on the choice of  $\phi$  and defines a smooth bundle endomorphism  $J: TM \to TM$ , such that  $J^2 = -$  id and such that for all nonzero tangent vectors  $v \in T_pM$ ,  $p \in M$ , the basis (v, Jv) of  $T_pM$  is positively oriented.

A bundle endomorphism with these properties is called an *almost complex structure* on M. There is a converse to this construction. Let J be an almost complex structure on M and let  $p \in M$ . For any  $p \in M$ , there exists a neighborhood  $U \subset M$  of p and a map  $\phi : U \to \mathbb{C}$ , such that  $\phi$  is a diffeomorphism  $U \to \phi(U)$  and such that  $T\phi \circ J = iT\phi$ . The collection of all these maps  $\phi$  is a holomorphic atlas on M. Both constructions are mutually inverse. The statement that this holomorphic atlas exists is called the *Newlander-Nirenberg theorem*.

To prove the existence of  $\phi$ , one can use the existence of quasiconformal mapping with given complex dilatation (see, for example, [26]). In higher dimensions, there is a similar statement, with an additional integrability condition on J, but the proof is much more difficult.

Thus complex structures and almost complex structures on oriented surfaces are equivalent notions. Also, there is a close connection with Riemannian metrics. We say that a Riemannian metric h on a surface with an almost-complex structure J is conformal if Jis orthogonal with respect to h. It is easy to see that conformal metrics exist, that two differ by a multiplication with a positive function and that any multiple of a conformal metric with a positive function is again conformal. Conversely, any Riemannian metric on an oriented surface determines an almost-complex structure: a Riemannian metric plus an orientation determines the Hodge \*-operator, which satisfies  $*^2 = -$  id when acting on 1-forms. Set J := -\*' (the dual of the Hodge star operator). This is a complex structure. Both constructions are mutually inverse.

We denote the set of all almost complex structures by

$$\mathcal{S}(M) \subset C^{\infty}(M, \operatorname{End}(TM)).$$

The vector space  $C^{\infty}(M, \operatorname{End}(TM))$  of all smooth sections of  $\operatorname{End}(TM)$  carries the  $C^{\infty}$ -Whitney topology, which turns it into a Fréchet space.

There is a slightly different description of  $\mathcal{S}(M)$ . Let  $\mathrm{GL}(M) \to M$  be the  $\mathrm{GL}_2^+(\mathbb{R})$ principal bundle of oriented frames of M. It is easy to see that  $\mathcal{S}(M)$  can be identified with the space of smooth sections in the fiber bundle  $\mathrm{GL}(M) \times_{\mathrm{GL}_2^+(\mathbb{R})} \mathrm{GL}_2^+(\mathbb{R})/\mathrm{GL}_1(\mathbb{C})$ . But  $\mathrm{GL}_2^+(\mathbb{R})/\mathrm{GL}_1(\mathbb{C})$  is contractible (as a  $\mathrm{GL}_2^+(\mathbb{R})$ -space, it is diffeomorphic to the upper half plane). Thus  $\mathcal{S}(M)$  is contractible.

There is an obvious right-action of  $\operatorname{Diff}(M)$  on  $\mathcal{S}(M)$ . Let  $f \in \operatorname{Diff}(M)$  and  $J \in \mathcal{S}(M)$ . Set  $J \cdot f := Tf^{-1} \circ J \circ Tf$ . This action is continuous. As a set, the quotient  $\mathcal{S}(M)/\operatorname{Diff}(M)$  is the same as the set of conformal equivalence classes of Riemann surfaces of genus g. Let us formulate this more precisely. Let  $\operatorname{Diff}_0(M)$  be the subgroup of all diffeomorphisms which are homotopic to the identity.

**Theorem 2.1.1.** ([15]) Let  $g \ge 2$ .

- 1. The action of Diff(M) on  $\mathcal{S}(M)$  is proper; the action of  $\text{Diff}_0(M)$  is free. The projection map  $\mathcal{S}(M) \to \mathcal{S}(M) / \text{Diff}_0(M)$  is a principal  $\text{Diff}_0(M)$ -bundle.
- 2. There is a natural homeomorphism  $\mathcal{S}(M)/\operatorname{Diff}_0(M) \to \mathcal{T}_g$  (the classical Teichmüller space).

A new, surprisingly simple proof of the first assertion in this theorem, as well as a simple proof of the next theorem can be found in the paper [45]. Theorem 2.1.1 has many consequences. Because  $\mathcal{T}_g \cong \mathbb{R}^{6g-6}$  by Teichmüller's theorem, in the fibration  $\operatorname{Diff}_0(M) \to \mathcal{S}(M) \to \mathcal{T}_g$  both, basis and total space are contractible. Therefore,  $\operatorname{Diff}_0(M)$  is also contractible. In particular, diffeomorphisms which are homotopic are also isotopic.

For lower genera, Theorem 2.1.1 needs to be modified, because the action of  $\text{Diff}_0(M)$  is no longer free if g = 0, 1. The result which is needed in this work is

**Theorem 2.1.2.** ([15], see also [45])

- 1. If g = 0, then the inclusion  $SO(3) \to Diff_0(\mathbb{S}^2) = Diff(\mathbb{S}^2)$  given by the rotations of  $\mathbb{S}^2$ , is a homotopy equivalence (This was already proved by Smale, [51]).
- 2. If g = 1, then the inclusion  $T \to \text{Diff}_0(T)$  given by the Lie group structure of the torus T, is a homotopy equivalence.

The (discrete) group of components of Diff(M) is the mapping class group

$$\Gamma_q := \pi_0(\mathrm{Diff}(M)).$$

There is a proper action  $\Gamma_g \curvearrowright \mathcal{T}_g$  and the quotient is the *moduli space of Riemann surfaces* of genus g;  $\mathfrak{M}_g := \mathcal{T}_g/\Gamma_g$ . There is a complex structure on the Teichmüller space such that the mapping class group acts by biholomorphic maps. It follows that  $\mathfrak{M}_g$  is a complex analytic space.

The action of  $\Gamma_g$  on  $\mathcal{T}_g$  is not free, because the stabilizer subgroup of a point consists of all complex automorphisms of the Riemann surface represented by this point. This group is always finite (if  $g \geq 2$ ), but in general not trivial. We will say more about the relation between  $\mathfrak{M}_g$  and  $B\Gamma_g$  in section 2.5.

#### 2.2 Surface bundles and bundles of Riemann surfaces

**Definition 2.2.1.** Let M be a smooth oriented manifold. An oriented *smooth* M-bundle on a base space B is a fiber bundle  $\pi : E \to B$  with fiber M and structural group Diff<sup>+</sup>(M).

In this work, we will only consider oriented and smooth M-bundles with compact fibers. If not stated otherwise, any M-bundle is smooth and oriented. Also, in most cases the dimension of M will be 2. Then we say that E is a surface bundle. The genus of a surface bundle is the genus of the fiber - we do not consider bundles whose fibers change from one component of the base space to another one.

If  $\pi: E \to B$  is a smooth *M*-bundle, then there is an associated Diff(M)-principal bundle  $Q \to B$ . Its fiber over  $b \in B$  consists of all orientation-preserving diffeomorphisms from M to  $\pi^{-1}(b)$ . By construction, there is a natural isomorphism  $Q \times_{\text{Diff}(M)} M \cong E$ .

**Definition 2.2.2.** Under the present assumption, the *vertical tangent bundle* of  $E \to B$  is the *d*-dimensional oriented vector bundle

$$T_v E := Q \times_{\operatorname{Diff}(M)} TM \to Q \times_{\operatorname{Diff}(M)} M = E.$$

The restriction of  $T_v E$  to the fiber  $E_b := \pi^{-1}(b)$  of E is canonically isomorphic to the tangent bundle of  $\pi^{-1}(b)$ . It should be remarked that if E and B are smooth manifolds and  $\pi$  is a smooth submersion, then the vertical tangent bundle is canonically isomorphic to ker  $T\pi$  and there is a short exact sequence

$$0 \to T_v E \to TE \to \pi^* TB \to 0$$

of vector bundles on E. If the surface bundle E is clear from the context, we sometimes write  $T_v := T_v E$ .

If  $E \to B$  is a surface bundle and  $b \in B$  a point, then we write  $E_b := \pi^{-1}(b)$  for the fiber.

**Definition 2.2.3.** Let  $\pi : E \to B$  be a surface bundle and  $Q \to B$  the associated Diff(M)-principal bundle. Then a *complex structure* J on E is a continuous section of the fiber bundle

$$Q \times_{\operatorname{Diff}(M)} \mathcal{S}(M) \to B.$$

Strictly speaking, we just defined almost-complex structures, and we know that any individual fiber has a holomorphic atlas with respect to  $J_b := J|_{E_b}$ . But the Newlander-Nirenberg-Theorem can be improved to a parameterized version, which guarantees the existence of holomorphic charts depending continuously on the base variable. More precisely, for any  $e \in E$ , we can find a neighborhood  $V \subset E$  and a homeomorphism  $\phi : V \to \pi(V) \times \mathbb{D}$ which commutes with the projections to B and whose restriction to any fiber of  $\pi$  is biholomorphic. This is a consequence of the theory of quasiconformal mappings, in particular of the continuous dependence of the solutions of the Beltrami-equation on the coefficients. Because  $\mathcal{S}(M)$  is contractible, all complex structures on  $E \to B$  are essentially equivalent.

**Proposition 2.2.4.** Any surface bundle admits the structure of a bundle of Riemann surfaces. Further, this structure is unique up to concordance, i.e. if  $J_0, J_1$  are two complex structures on  $\pi$ , then there exists a complex structure J on the surface bundle  $\pi \times [0, 1]$ , such that  $J|_{\pi \times \{i\}} = J_i$  for i = 0, 1.

**Proof:** Because the fiber  $\mathcal{S}(M)$  of  $Q \times_{\text{Diff}(M)} \mathcal{S}(M) \to B$  is contractible, the space of all sections is contractible (in particular, nonempty).

For  $g \geq 2$ , the classifying space  $B\Gamma_g$  of the mapping class group classifies isomorphism classes of surface bundles of genus g and also concordance classes of bundles of Riemann surfaces of genus g - this follows from the discussion above. The universal surface bundle  $E(\text{Diff}(M); M) := E \text{Diff}(M) \times_{\text{Diff}(M)} M \to B \text{Diff}(M)$  can be viewed as a surface bundle on  $B\Gamma_g$ , which by abuse of language<sup>1</sup> is denoted by  $E(\Gamma_g, M_g)$ . This bundle has a complex structure, unique up to concordance.

#### 2.3 Characteristic classes of surface bundles

To define the *Morita-Miller-Mumford classes* of a surface bundle, we need the notion of the cohomological push-forward or umkehr map. Let  $\pi : E \to B$  be an oriented surface bundle. Then there is a map  $\pi_1 : H^n(E;\mathbb{Z}) \to H^{n-2}(B;\mathbb{Z})$ . We will discuss the definition and some of the properties of  $\pi_1$  in section 6.2. If E and B are oriented manifolds, then there is an easy definition of  $\pi_1$  in terms of Poincaré duality (see [12]).

**Definition 2.3.1.** ([38], [35]) The Morita-Miller-Mumford classes of  $\pi : E \to B$  are by definition

$$\kappa_n(\pi) := \pi_! ((e(T_v E))^{n+1} \in H^{2n}(B, \mathbb{Z}).$$

**Remark 2.3.2.** Sometimes, the Morita-Miller-Mumford classes are called only "Mumford classes" or "Morita-Mumford classes". We will prefer the short term *MMM-classes*. Originally, Mumford ([41]) defined rational cohomology classes in  $H^*(\mathfrak{M}_g; \mathbb{Q})$ , using techniques from algebraic geometry. We will say more about these rational MMM-classes in section 2.5. It is not difficult to see that the Morita-Miller-Mumford classes are natural in B.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>The group  $\Gamma_g$  does *not* act on the surface.

Therefore they define cohomology classes in  $H^{2n}(B \operatorname{Diff}(M); \mathbb{Z})$  for any closed Riemann surface M. The 0-th Morita-Miller-Mumford class is just the element  $2 - 2g \in H^0(B; \mathbb{Z})$ , by the Gauß-Bonnet theorem.

**Remark 2.3.3.** There is a slight problem in Definition 2.3.1. We only can define the MMM-classes for surface bundles over base spaces which are "not too large" (see 6.1 for a more precise condition). In order to know that this defines a cohomology class in  $H^{2n}(B \operatorname{Diff}(M);\mathbb{Z})$ , we need to know that  $\operatorname{Diff}(M)$  is "not too large", which is not immediate, since it is infinite dimensional. This is a  $\lim^{1}$ -problem, which is implicitly solved in [18] and [19]. The way in which this problem is solved is not important in the present work, see also section 6.1.

The Mumford Conjecture 2.3.4. In [41], Mumford conjectured that the homomorphism of graded algebras  $\mathbb{Q}[\kappa_1, \kappa_2, \ldots] \to H^*(B\Gamma_g, \mathbb{Q})$  is an isomorphism in degrees \* < g/2. This was quite recently proven by Madsen and Weiss ([33]). We will say more about this in chapter 6.

There is another series of characteristic classes. To define them, we need the symplectic group SP. Let R be a commutative ring with unit 1, let  $\mathbb{1}_n$  be the unit matrix of size  $n \times n$  and let

$$I := \begin{pmatrix} 0 & -\mathbb{1}_n \\ \mathbb{1}_n & 0 \end{pmatrix}.$$

The symplectic group is

$$SP_{2n}(R) := \{A \in Mat(2n \times 2n; R) | A^t I A = I\}.$$
 (2.3.5)

It is a fact that  $\operatorname{SP}_{2n}(R) \subset \operatorname{SL}_{2n}(R)$ . Furthermore,  $\operatorname{SP}_{2n}(\mathbb{R})$  contains U(n) as a maximal compact subgroup. In particular,  $U(n) \subset \operatorname{SP}_{2n}(\mathbb{R})$  is a homotopy equivalence.

The mapping class group  $\Gamma_g$  acts on  $H_1(M_g; \mathbb{Z}) \cong \mathbb{Z}^{2g}$  and that action preserves the intersection form on  $H_1(M; \mathbb{Z})$ . If one chooses a symplectic basis of  $H_1(M; \mathbb{Z})$ , one obtains a homomorphism

$$\rho: \Gamma_g \to \operatorname{SP}_{2g}(\mathbb{Z}), \tag{2.3.6}$$

which can be composed with the inclusion  $SP_{2g}(\mathbb{Z}) \to SP_{2g}(\mathbb{R})$ . After passage to classifying spaces, we obtain

$$B\rho: B\operatorname{Diff}(M) \to B\operatorname{SP}_{2g}(\mathbb{R}) \simeq U(g).$$
 (2.3.7)

There are the integral Chern character classes  $s_n \in H^{2n}(BU(g);\mathbb{Z})$ , which are as usual defined by  $s_n := \sum_i x_i^n$ , where  $x_i$  is the *i*-th Chern root.

**Definition 2.3.8.** The *symplectic classes* are defined by

$$\gamma_n := B\rho^*(s_n) \in H^{2n}(B\operatorname{Diff}(M); \mathbb{Z}).$$

There is another description, which is sometimes more useful. If the surface bundle  $\pi$ :  $E \to B$  is classified by a map  $f: B \to B \operatorname{Diff}(M)$ , then  $\gamma_n(\pi) := f^* \gamma_n$  is the integral Chern character class of the symplectic vector bundle

$$H_1^v(\pi;\mathbb{R}) := \bigcup_{b \in B} H_1(\pi^{-1}(b);\mathbb{R}),$$

which also can be described as the bundle induced by the maps  $B \to B \operatorname{Diff}(M) \to B \operatorname{SP}_{2g}(\mathbb{R})$ . The choice of a complex structure on E determines a complex structure on the vector bundle  $H_1^v(\pi; \mathbb{R})$  via the Hodge decomposition: any element in the cohomology group  $H^1(\pi^{-1}(b); \mathbb{R})$  is represented by a harmonic 1-form by the Hodge Theorem, and the Hodge \*-operator defines a complex structure on  $H^1(\pi^{-1}(b); \mathbb{R})$ . Note that  $H_1^v(\pi; \mathbb{R})$  is flat as a real vector bundle and as a symplectic vector bundle, but *not* as a complex vector bundle.

#### 2.4 The Hodge bundles

Let  $\pi : E \to B$  be a bundle of Riemann surfaces. Then we can define a series of complex vector bundles  $V_n = V_n(\pi)$  on  $B, n \in \mathbb{Z}$ , associated to and natural in  $\pi$ .

Our definition starts with the notion of a holomorphic vector bundle on a bundle of Riemann surfaces, which is not necessarily assumed to be a holomorphic map. Before, we need to make precise the notion of a smooth vector bundle on a general manifold bundle. Let  $\pi: E \to B$  be a smooth *M*-bundle and let  $W \to E$  be a vector bundle. A *smooth bundle atlas* is a bundle atlas for *W*, such that all transition functions are smooth in fiber-direction, with an additional condition: all fiber-direction-derivatives of the transition functions are assumed to be continuous. An example of this is the vertical tangent bundle, since we assume that the structural group is Diff(M) with the Whitney topology. As usual, we say that two smooth bundle atlases are equivalent if their union is a smooth atlas, and a smooth vector bundle on *E* is a vector bundle, together with an equivalence class of atlases.

Now we can define the notion of a holomorphic vector bundle on a bundle of Riemann surfaces.

**Definition 2.4.1.** Let  $\pi : E \to B$  be a bundle of Riemann surfaces and  $W \to E$  a smooth vector bundle. Then a *holomorphic atlas* on W is a bundle atlas, consisting of fiberwise smooth trivializations, such that all transition function are fiberwise holomorphic<sup>2</sup>. Two holomorphic atlases are equivalent if their union is again a holomorphic bundle atlas. A *holomorphic vector bundle* on E is a complex vector bundle, together with an equivalence class of holomorphic atlases.

The prime example of a holomorphic vector bundle on a bundle of Riemann surfaces is the vertical tangent bundle. The almost-complex structure J turns  $T_v E$  into a complex line

 $<sup>^{2}</sup>$ Then all derivatives of the transition functions are automatically continuous, and a holomorphic bundle atlas is in particular a smooth bundle atlas

bundle; and the complexification  $T_v E \otimes \mathbb{C}$  decomposes into the  $\pm i$ -eigenspaces of J. The same is true for the vertical cotangent bundle.

**Definition 2.4.2.** The vertical holomorphic cotangent bundle  $\Lambda_v E$  is the eigenspace of J to the eigenvalue i.

The notion of a smooth section in a smooth vector bundle  $W \to E$  on a manifold bundle  $E \to B$  also needs some explanation. Let  $s: E \to W$  be a continuous section. We say that s is smooth if the restriction of s to any fiber  $E_b$  is smooth and if all fiberwise derivatives are continuous on the whole of E. We denote the space of all fiberwise smooth sections by the symbol

 $C_v^{\infty}(E; W).$ 

We should interpret the space  $C_v^{\infty}(E; W)$  as the space of continuous sections in a bundle  $\mathcal{C}^{\infty}(W)$  of Fréchet spaces on B. More precisely, let  $E_b := \pi^{-1}(b)$  and  $W_b := W|_{E_b}$  and set

$$\mathcal{C}^{\infty}(W) := \bigcup_{b \in B} C^{\infty}(E_b; W_b)$$

with the obvious projection map to B and the obvious linear structure. We say that a section  $s: B \to \mathcal{C}^{\infty}(W)$  is continuous if the adjoint map  $E \to W$ ,  $e \mapsto s(\pi(e))(e)$  is a smooth section of  $W \to E$ . The result is a bundle of Fréchet spaces. The space of continuous sections in  $\mathcal{C}^{\infty}(W)$  is isomorphic to the space  $C_v^{\infty}(E;W)$ .

If  $W \to E$  is a fiberwise holomorphic vector bundle, then the *Cauchy-Riemann-operator* 

$$\bar{\partial}_W : \mathcal{C}^{\infty}(W) \to \mathcal{C}^{\infty}(W \otimes \overline{\Lambda_v E})$$

is defined. It takes a point  $s \in \mathcal{C}^{\infty}(W)$  alias a smooth section in  $W_b \to E_b$  to  $\bar{\partial}_{W_b} s$ , which is a smooth section in  $W_b \otimes \Lambda_{E_b}$  over  $E_b$ . The topologies are designed to achieve that  $\bar{\partial}_W$ is a continuous bundle map.

If the fibers of  $\pi$  are compact and closed, then the regularity theory of elliptic differential operators implies that Cauchy-Riemann operators are Fredholm operators, i.e. their kernels and cokernels are finite-dimensional (see [31] for details). Moreover, the *Fredholm index*  $b \mapsto \operatorname{ind}(\bar{\partial}_{W_b}) = \dim \operatorname{ker}(\bar{\partial}_{W_b}) - \dim \operatorname{ker}(\bar{\partial}_{W_b})$  is locally constant and the *index spaces* 

$$\operatorname{ind}(\bar{\partial}_{W_b}) := \ker(\bar{\partial}_{W_b}) - \operatorname{coker}(\bar{\partial}_{W_b})$$

fit together to form a virtual vector bundle  $\operatorname{ind}_{\bar{\partial}_W} \in K^0(B)$  on B, at least if B is compact. Actually, it is sufficient to assume that the dimension of the kernel spaces are *bounded*.

**Lemma 2.4.3.** If  $\pi : E \to B$  is a bundle of Riemann surfaces and if  $W \to E$  is a holomorphic line bundle which has degree l when restricted to any fiber of  $\pi$ , then dim ker $(\bar{\partial}_{W_b})$  is bounded. **Proof:** We need Clifford's theorem ([20], p.251). It states that if  $W_0, W_1$  are two holomorphic line bundles on a compact Riemann surface and if both have nonzero holomorphic sections, then

 $\dim \ker \bar{\partial}_{W_0} + \dim \ker \bar{\partial}_{W_1} \le 1 + \dim \ker \bar{\partial}_{W_0 \otimes W_1}.$ 

If W is a line bundle on a surface, then there exists a  $q \in \mathbb{N}$ , which only depends on l, such that  $\Lambda^{\otimes q}W^{-1}$  has nonvanishing holomorphic sections, and we apply Cliffords theorem to the pair  $W, \Lambda^{\otimes q}W^{\otimes (-1)}$  to obtain a bound on the dimension.

We have seen that families of holomorphic vector bundles on the total space give rise to a virtual vector bundle.

The Serre duality theorem ([20], p. 102) has a parametrized version. Fix a conformal metric on the bundle of Riemann surfaces (this is a contractible choice) and fix a hermitian metric on the vector bundle W (this is also a contractible choice). Then we have a bilinear form of vector bundles

$$\mathcal{C}^{\infty}(W \otimes \overline{\Lambda_v E}) \times \mathcal{C}^{\infty}(\overline{W} \otimes \Lambda_v E) \to B \times \mathbb{C},$$

which sends a pair of points  $(s,t) \in \mathcal{C}^{\infty}(W \otimes \overline{\Lambda_v E})_b \times \mathcal{C}^{\infty}(\overline{W} \otimes \Lambda_v E)_b$  to

$$\int_{E_b} \beta(s,t) \operatorname{vol},$$

where vol is the volume form on the Riemannian manifold  $E_b$  and  $\beta$  is the bilinear vector bundle map  $C^{\infty}(E_b; W_b \otimes \overline{\Lambda_{E_b}}) \times C^{\infty}(E_b; \overline{W_b} \otimes \Lambda_{E_b}) \to C^{\infty}(E_b; \mathbb{C})$ . The Serre duality theorem for a single Riemann surface asserts that this bilinear map descends to a *perfect pairing* of finite dimensional vector spaces

$$\operatorname{coker}(\bar{\partial}_{W_b}) \times \operatorname{ker}(\bar{\partial}_{\overline{W_b} \otimes \Lambda_{E_t}}) \to \mathbb{C}.$$

This statement extends to families of Riemann surfaces and we obtain

**Proposition 2.4.4.** There is a natural (up to contractible choices) perfect pairing

$$\operatorname{coker}(\bar{\partial}_W) \times \ker(\bar{\partial}_{\overline{W} \otimes \Lambda_v E}) \to B \times \mathbb{C}$$

of finite dimensional families of vector spaces over B and thus an  $\mathbb{C}$ -linear isomorphism

$$\operatorname{coker}(\bar{\partial}_W) \cong (\operatorname{ker}(\bar{\partial}_{\overline{W} \otimes \Lambda_v E}))'$$

of families of vector spaces (or of vector bundles, if the dimensions are locally constant).

If we want to define a *natural* vector bundle depending on a surface bundle, then we need natural holomorphic vector bundles on Riemann surfaces.

Examples for these are the integral tensor powers of the vertical cotangent bundle. These are essentially the only examples of natural holomorphic line bundles. This uniqueness

statement can be justified rigorously in the framework of algebraic geometry, see [24], p.62. These examples have an additional feature, namely: the dimensions of the kernel and of the cokernel only depend on the genus of the Riemann surface, not on the choice of a complex structure. More precisely, if M is a Riemann surface of genus g and  $\Lambda = \Lambda_M$  the canonical line bundle, then

$$\dim \ker(\bar{\partial}_{\Lambda_M^{\otimes m}}) = \begin{cases} 1, & m = 0, g \in \mathbb{N}, \\ g, & m = 1, g \in \mathbb{N}, \\ 1 - m, & g = 0, m \le 0, \\ 0, & g = 0, m > 0, \\ 1, & g = 1, m \in \mathbb{Z}, \\ 0, & g \ge 2, m < 0, \\ (2m - 1)(g - 1), & g \ge 2, m \ge 2. \end{cases}$$
(2.4.5)

and dim coker $(\bar{\partial}_{\Lambda_M^{\otimes m}}) = \dim \ker(\bar{\partial}_{\Lambda_M^{\otimes(1-m)}})$  by Serre duality. The proof can be found in many books on compact Riemann surfaces, for example [16], p. 80.

**Definition 2.4.6.** Let  $\pi : E \to B$  be a bundle of Riemann surfaces. Then the *n*-th Hodge bundle is the vector bundle

$$V_n(\pi) := \ker \bar{\partial}_{(\Lambda_v E)^{\otimes n}}.$$

Sometimes we also write  $V_n(E)$  for  $V_n(\pi)$ . The bundle  $H_1^v(\pi; \mathbb{R})$  defined in the preceding section can be viewed as a Hodge bundle. It is  $V_1' = \overline{V_1}$ .

The Grothendieck-Riemann-Roch theorem computes the rational characteristic classes of the index bundle ind  $\bar{\partial}_V$  when  $V \to E$  is a family of holomorphic vector bundles on E. The Grothendieck-Riemann-Roch theorem is the cohomological version of the Atiyah-Singer index theorem for families of elliptic operators (see [6]), when applied to the Cauchy-Riemann operators. The latter is much stronger and will be discussed in section 6.7. Let  $\operatorname{td}(x) = \frac{x}{1-e^{-x}} \in \mathbb{Q}[[x]]$  be the Todd power series. We now state the Grothendieck-Riemann-Roch theorem.

**Theorem 2.4.7.** ([6]) Let  $\pi : E \to B$  be a bundle of Riemann surfaces and let  $V \to E$  be a family of holomorphic vector bundles on E. Let  $c \in H^2(E)$  be the first Chern class of the vertical tangent bundle. Then the Chern character of the index bundle is given by the formula

$$\operatorname{ch}(\operatorname{ind}\bar{\partial}_V) = \pi_!(\operatorname{td}(c)\operatorname{ch}(V)) \in H^*(B;\mathbb{Q}).$$

However, it is important to note that we missed out an important point. The Atiyah-Singer family index theorem ([6]) is formulated only for bundles  $E \to B$  with a *compact* base space B. There are several problems if one tries to generalize it to arbitrary (at least, paracompact) spaces B. One of the problems is resolved by Lemma 2.4.3, but there are other difficulties. The author of this dissertation does not know whether this difficulties can be overcome, they are not even easy to isolate. The only possibility is to check the proof in [6] step by step, which can be expected to be cumbersome and is not done in this work.

#### 2.5 Comparison with algebraic geometry

We now construct a comparison map  $\mu$ : Diff $(M) \to \mathfrak{M}_g$  if M is a differentiable surface of genus g. For  $g \geq 2$ , the source space is homotopy equivalent to  $B\Gamma_g$ . We begin by choosing a complex structure on the universal surface bundle

$$\pi: E(\operatorname{Diff}(M); M) := E\operatorname{Diff}(M) \times_{\operatorname{Diff}(M)} M \to B\operatorname{Diff}(M),$$

which is possible by the discussion following Definition 2.2.3. If  $b \in B \operatorname{Diff}(M)$ , then  $\pi^{-1}(b)$  is a Riemann surface and we set  $\mu : b \mapsto [\pi^{-1}(b)] \in \mathfrak{M}_g$ . This map turns out to be continuous. That is one of the reasons for the continuity condition in the definition 2.2.3. However,  $\mu$  would certainly be continuous with a weaker notion of continuity, as a consequence of Teichmüller theory.

Corollary 2.5.1. to Prop 2.2.4. The homotopy class of the moduli map

$$\mu: B \operatorname{Diff}(M) \to \mathfrak{M}_q$$

does not depend on the choice of the complex structure on E(Diff(M); M).

The main theorem of this section is

acyclic.

**Theorem 2.5.2.** If  $g \ge 2$ , then  $\mu$  induces an isomorphism in (co)homology with rational coefficients.

This theorem is a folklore statement. However, I was not able to find a proof in the published literature. Thus I present a proof here. For smaller genera, there is a similar statement. The mapping class group  $\Gamma_1$  of a torus is isomorphic to  $SL_2(\mathbb{Z})$ , whose rational homology is trivial. On the other hand, the Teichmüller space of tori is the upper half plane and the action of the mapping class group is given by Möbius transformations. The quotient  $\mathbb{H}/SL_2(\mathbb{Z})$  is biholomorphic equivalent to the complex plane  $\mathbb{C}$ . Thus the rational homology of the moduli space  $\mathfrak{M}_1$  is also trivial. Note that, however, the space  $B \operatorname{SL}_2(\mathbb{Z})$  is *not* the classifying space of torus bundles, but rather the space of torus bundles with a section (Any two points on a complex torus can be translated by a holomorphic automorphism). Morita showed ([39]) that the space  $B \operatorname{Diff}(T)$  is not rationally acycylic. If g = 0, then the moduli space is a point by Riemann's uniformization theorem and the mapping class group is trivial. Again, the mapping class group is not quite the correct object to consider, because  $\operatorname{Diff}(\mathbb{S}^2) \simeq \operatorname{SO}(3)$ , and  $B \operatorname{SO}(3)$  is certainly not rationally

The main ingredient for the proof of Theorem 2.5.2 is the following lemma.

#### Lemma 2.5.3. The mapping class group has a normal torsionfree subgroup of finite index.

**Proof:** We make use of the homomorphism  $\rho : \Gamma_g \to \operatorname{GL}_{2g}(\mathbb{Z})$  from 2.3.6. For  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ , the the kernel of the homomorphism  $\operatorname{GL}_{2g}(\mathbb{Z}) \to \operatorname{GL}_{2g}(\mathbb{Z}/n\mathbb{Z})$  is the congruence subgroup  $\Gamma(n) \subset \operatorname{GL}_{2g}(\mathbb{Z})$ . If  $3 \leq n$ , then  $\Gamma(n)$  is torsionfree (see [13], p. 40 f.). Then  $\Delta := \rho^{-1}(\Gamma(n)) \subset \Gamma_g$  is a normal subgroup of finite index. I claim that  $\Delta$  is torsionfree.

Let  $\gamma \in \Delta$  be a torsion element,  $\gamma^r = \text{id.}$  Without loss of generality, we can assume that r is a prime number. Since  $\Gamma(n)$  is torsionfree,  $\rho(\gamma) = \text{id.}$  Thus, we need to argue that the kernel of  $\rho$ , the *Torelli group*, is torsionfree.

To this end, let us show that  $\gamma$  (it is a component of the diffeomorphism group) contains a diffeomorphism f of the same order as  $\gamma$ . Consider the bundle

$$\pi: \mathcal{V}_g := \mathcal{S}(M) \times_{\mathrm{Diff}_0(M)} M \to \mathcal{T}_g.$$

It has an action of the mapping class group  $\Gamma_g = \text{Diff}(M)/\text{Diff}_0(M)$  which covers the action of  $\Gamma_g$  on  $\mathcal{T}_g$ . If  $\gamma$  had no fixed point on  $\mathcal{T}_g$ , then the action of the group  $\mathbb{Z}/r$  generated by  $\gamma$  on  $\mathcal{T}_g$  would be free. Then we would have a finite-dimensional model for  $B\mathbb{Z}/r$ , which is absurd. Thus  $\gamma$  has a fixed point  $x \in \mathcal{T}_g$ . But then  $\gamma$  yields an orientation-preserving diffeomorphism f of finite order of the fiber  $\pi^{-1}(x)$ . By construction,  $[f] = \gamma$ . and f is a diffeomorphism of a surface of genus  $g \geq 2$ , which acts trivially on  $H_1(M,\mathbb{Z})$ . It is well-known, that f itself must be the identity.

Let  $\Delta \subset \Gamma_g$  be a torsionfree normal subgroup of finite index, set  $G := \Gamma_g / \Delta$ . Then we have a commutative diagram

$$B\Delta \xrightarrow{m} \mathcal{T}_g / \Delta \tag{2.5.4}$$

$$\downarrow^q \qquad \qquad \downarrow^p$$

$$B\Gamma_g \xrightarrow{\mu} \mathfrak{M}_g$$

In this diagram,  $B\Delta$  and  $\mathcal{T}_g/\Delta$  are G-spaces and the upper horizontal map m is an equivariant homotopy equivalence (because  $\Delta$  is torsionfree, it must act freely on the finitedimensional contractible manifold  $\mathcal{T}_g$ ). The map q is a finite G-covering and p is also a quotient map by G, but with singularities.

**Lemma 2.5.5.** Let X be a CW-complex and let G a finite group, which acts cellularly on X. Assume that a group element which leaves a cell invariant fixes the cell pointwise. Then there is a natural isomorphism  $H_*(X; \mathbb{Q}) \otimes_{G\mathbb{Q}} \mathbb{Q} \cong H_*(X/G; \mathbb{Q})$ .

**Proof:** Under the assumptions on the action, there is a natural isomorphism

$$C_*(X;\mathbb{Q})\otimes_{G\mathbb{Q}}\mathbb{Q}\cong C_*(X/G;\mathbb{Q}).$$

Because G is finite,  $\otimes_{G\mathbb{O}}\mathbb{Q}$  is an exact functor. Hence

$$H_*(X/G;\mathbb{Q}) \cong H_*(C_*(X;\mathbb{Q})) \otimes_{G\mathbb{Q}} \mathbb{Q}) \cong H_*(X;\mathbb{Q}) \otimes_{G\mathbb{Q}} \mathbb{Q}.$$

**Proof of Theorem 2.5.2:** The assumptions on the action are very mild and can be easily satisfied in our case. An application of Lemma 2.5.5 to the vertical maps in the diagram 2.5.4 finishes the proof of the theorem.

Now I give a construction of the MMM-classes in  $H^*(\mathfrak{M}_q, \mathbb{Q})$ . Recall the diagram 2.5.4



where m is a homotopy equivalence.  $\mathcal{T}_g/\Delta$  is a smooth manifold and  $\mathfrak{M}_g$  is not a manifold, but is still an oriented rational homology manifold of dimension 6g-6, i.e., for all  $x \in \mathfrak{M}_g$ ,  $H_*(\mathfrak{M}_g, \mathfrak{M}_g \setminus \{x\}; \mathbb{Q}) \cong H_*(\mathbb{R}^{6g-6}, \mathbb{R}^{6g-6} \setminus \{0\}; \mathbb{Q})$ . Then the proof of Poincaré duality in [12] applies without any change, but only for rational coefficients. Hence we can define the push-forward for proper maps in rational cohomology in the same way as for smooth manifolds. Now we define  $\kappa'_n := \frac{1}{[\Gamma_g:\Delta]} p_!(m^{-1})^* q^*(\kappa_n) \in H^{2n}(\mathfrak{M}_g; \mathbb{Q})$ . This does not depend on the choice of the torsionfree normal subgroup  $G \subset \Gamma_g$ . One can see that  $\mu^*(\kappa'_n) = \kappa_n \in$  $H^{2n}(B\Gamma_g; \mathbb{Q})$ . However, the integral MMM-classes do not lie in the image of  $H^{2n}(\mathfrak{M}_g; \mathbb{Z}) \to$  $H^{2n}(B\Gamma_q; \mathbb{Z})$ .

The reason is that there exist Riemann surfaces M and cyclic groups G acting on M, such that  $\kappa_n(EG \times_G M \to BG) \neq 0$ . Moreover, such actions exist for many values of the genus and n. This is shown in the work by Akita, Kawazumi and Uemura [3].

The moduli map  $\mu : BG \to \mathfrak{M}_g$  of such a surface bundle is constant, because all fibers are conformally equivalent by construction. If there would be a class  $c \in H^{2n}(\mathfrak{M}_g; \mathbb{Z})$  with  $\mu^*(c) = \kappa_n$ , then we would have a contradiction.

Thus we see that the integral cohomology of the moduli space is a quite irregular object. It is usually not studied, because it does not seem to be accessible.

### 3 Spin structures on manifold bundles

#### 3.1 Spin structures on vector bundles

**Definition 3.1.1.** Let  $1 \leq d \in \mathbb{N}$ . The group Spin(d) is defined to be the unique connected twofold covering group of SO(d). For d = 0, we say that  $\text{Spin}(0) = \mathbb{Z}/2$ .

A more explicit definition can be given in terms of Clifford algebras ([31]). Via the covering map  $\operatorname{Spin}(d) \to \operatorname{SO}(d), \operatorname{Spin}(d)$  acts on  $\mathbb{R}^d$ . The group  $\operatorname{GL}_d^+(\mathbb{R})$  also has a unique connected two-fold covering group  $\operatorname{GL}_d^+(\mathbb{R})$ . It is well-known that in the commutative diagram



the horizontal maps are inclusions and homotopy equivalences.

**Definition 3.1.2.** Let  $E \to X$  be an oriented *d*-dimensional real vector bundle. A Spin structure  $\sigma$  on E is a pair  $\sigma = (P, \alpha)$ , where P is a  $\operatorname{GL}_d^+(\mathbb{R})$ -principal bundle on X and  $\alpha$  is an isomorphism  $P \times_{\operatorname{GL}_d^+(\mathbb{R})} \mathbb{R}^d \cong E$  of oriented vector bundles on X. An isomorphism of two spin structures  $\sigma_0 = (P_0, \alpha_0)$  and  $\sigma_1 = (P_1, \alpha_1)$  is an isomorphism  $\beta : P_0 \to P_1$  of  $\operatorname{GL}_d^+(\mathbb{R})$ -principal bundles over  $\operatorname{id}_X$ , such that  $\alpha_1 \circ (\beta \times_{\operatorname{GL}_d^+(\mathbb{R})} \operatorname{id}_{\mathbb{R}^d}) = \alpha_0$ . We also say that  $\sigma_0$  and  $\sigma_1$  are equivalent.

If  $f: Y \to X$  is a continuous map and  $(P, \alpha)$  a spin structure on E as above, then  $(f^*P, f^*\alpha)$  is a spin structure on  $f^*E$ .

The notion of equivalence can be stated in a slightly different way.

**Lemma 3.1.3.** Two spin structures  $(P_0, \alpha_0)$  and  $(P_1, \alpha_1)$  are equivalent, written  $(P_0, \alpha_0) \cong (P_1, \alpha_1)$  if and only if they are concordant, i.e. there exists a spin structure  $(P, \alpha)$  on  $E \times [0, 1] \to X \times [0, 1]$ , such that  $j_i^*(P, \alpha) = (P_i, \alpha_i)$  for i = 0, 1, where  $j_i : X \to X \times [0, 1]$  is the inclusion  $x \mapsto (x, i)$ .

**Proof:** If the two spin structures are equivalent, then we can use the isomorphism  $\beta$ :  $P_0 \rightarrow P_1$  to glue the bundles  $P_0 \times [0, \frac{1}{2}]$  and  $P_1 \times [\frac{1}{2}, 1]$  together. The result is a concordance between the two spin structures.

Conversely, if a concordance is given, then an isomorphism is constructed using the covering homotopy theorem.  $\hfill \Box$ 

The usual definition of a spin structure assumes the existence of a Riemannian metric on the vector bundle E. Then a spin structure is a Spin(d)-principal bundle with analogous properties as in our definition. Of course, a vector bundle has a spin structure in our sense if and only if, after choosing a Riemannian metric, the resulting SO(d)-vector bundle has a spin structure in the usual sense. For most topological problems, one can always assume that a vector bundle comes with a metric, because the space of scalar products on  $\mathbb{R}^d$  is contractible. In our applications, this assumption would be too restrictive, see 3.2 and 3.3. In differential geometry, there is a more serious reason why one defines spin structures only for Riemannian vector bundles. It is a fact from basic Lie group theory that any homomorphism  $\widetilde{\operatorname{GL}}_d^+(\mathbb{R}) \to \operatorname{GL}_n(\mathbb{C})$  factors through  $\operatorname{GL}_d(\mathbb{R})$ . In contrast, there are important representations of  $\operatorname{Spin}(d)$  which do not factor through  $\operatorname{SO}(d)$  and they are used to construct the spinor bundles. It follows that the spinor bundles cannot be defined without specifying a metric - this is the main psychological difficulty in spinor geometry.

There is another description of spin structures, which is sometimes convenient. If  $Q \to X$  is the bundle of oriented frames in E, then we can also say that a spin structure is a  $\widetilde{\operatorname{GL}}_d^+(\mathbb{R})$ -principal bundle, together with a  $\widetilde{\operatorname{GL}}_d^+(\mathbb{R})$ -equivariant map  $P \to Q$  over X. Yet another way of saying this is that P is a twofold covering of Q, whose restriction to any fiber of Q is nontrivial.

The next theorem is a well-known standard result ([31], p.78-85). Its proof is an easy application of obstruction theory.

**Theorem 3.1.4.** An oriented vector bundle E has a spin structure if and only if  $w_2(E) = 0$ . If a vector bundle has a spin structure, then the set of equivalence classes of spin structures is in bijection with  $H^1(X; \mathbb{Z}/2)$ . More precisely, it is a  $H^1(X; \mathbb{Z}/2)$ -torsor (i.e. a principal homogeneous space).

Furthermore, if  $E_2 = E_0 \oplus E_1$  as oriented vector bundles, then the choice of spin structures on any of the three bundles determines a spin structure on the third.

Because  $H^1(X, \mathbb{F}_2)$  is in bijection with the set of equivalence classes of real line bundles, there is an implicit simply-transitive action of the set of real line bundles on the set of spin structures. It is worth to make this explicit. I do this in two ways, one algebro-topological and one geometrical. Let  $E \to X$  be an oriented vector bundle and let  $Q \to X$  be the associated frame bundle. For simplicity of notation, we choose a Riemannian metric and talk about SO(d)- and Spin(d)-principal bundles.

Recall that  $H^1(SO(d); \mathbb{F}_2) \cong \mathbb{F}_2$  (in the sequel, all cohomology groups are with  $\mathbb{F}_2$ -coefficients) and that  $H^1(B \operatorname{SO}(d)) = 0$ ;  $H^2(B \operatorname{SO}(d)) = \mathbb{F}_2 \langle w_2 \rangle$ . Consider the Leray-Serre spectral sequence for  $\mathbb{F}_2$ -cohomology of the universal bundle  $\operatorname{SO}(d) \to E \operatorname{SO}(d) \to B \operatorname{SO}(d)$ . The differential  $d_2 : H^1(\operatorname{SO}(d)) = E_2^{0,1} \to E_2^{2,0} = H^2(B \operatorname{SO}(d))$  is an isomorphism and sends the nontrivial element to the universal Stiefel-Whitney class. By naturality of the spectral sequence it follows that for an arbitrary  $\operatorname{SO}(d)$ -bundle  $Q \to X$ , X connected, the differential

$$d_2: H^1(SO(d)) = E_2^{0,1} \to E_2^{0,1} = H^2(X)$$

sends the nontrivial element in  $H^1(SO(d))$  to  $w_2(Q)$ . From the Leray-Serre spectral sequence, one deduces the Serre exact sequence

$$0 \to H^1(X) \to H^1(Q) \to H^1(\mathrm{SO}(d)) \to H^2(X),$$

where the last map is  $d_2$  and  $d_2 = 0$  if Q is spin. From the description of spin structures as coverings of Q, we see that the set of equivalence classes of spin structures can be identified with the nontrivial coset in  $H^1(Q)$ . The  $H^1(X)$ -action is via addition.

Now I turn to the geometrical description. If  $\sigma_i = (P_i, \alpha_i)$ , i = 0, 1 are two spin structures on E, then we can construct a real line bundle (or rather a  $\mathbb{Z}/2$ -principal bundle)  $L = L_{P_1,P_0^{-1}}$  on X as follows. Let  $x \in X$ . Then the fiber  $L_x$  is the set of all  $\operatorname{GL}_d^+(\mathbb{R})$ -equivariant maps  $a : (P_0)_x \to (P_1)_x$  which give the identity on  $E_x$  in the sense that the induced map

$$(\alpha_1) \circ (a \times_{\widetilde{\operatorname{GL}}_d^+(\mathbb{R})} \mathbb{R}^d) \circ (\alpha_0)^{-1} : E_x \to (P_0)_x \times_{\widetilde{\operatorname{GL}}_d^+(\mathbb{R})} \mathbb{R}^d \to (P_1)_x \times_{\widetilde{\operatorname{GL}}_d^+(\mathbb{R})} \mathbb{R}^d \to E_x$$

is the identity. It is easy to check that L is a  $\mathbb{Z}/2$ -principal bundle; the notation is self-explanatory.

Conversely, let  $\sigma = (P, \alpha)$  be a spin structure and let  $L \to X$  be a  $\mathbb{Z}/2$ -principal bundle. To define the spin structure  $L\sigma$ , we consider the spin structure as a twofold covering of Q. This determines a real line bundle on Q, which is nontrivial when restricted to any fiber. If  $L \to X$  is a line bundle and  $q : Q \to X$  is the bundle projection, then we can tensorize the spin structure with the line bundle  $q^*L$ . One can check that this defines an action of the set of line bundles on the set of equivalence classes of spin structures and that  $L_{P_1P_0^{-1}}P_0 = P_1$ .

For complex line bundles, there is yet another description of spin structures. If L is a complex line bundle, then a spin structure can be viewed as another complex line bundle S, together with a complex isomorphism  $S \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} S \to L$ . This is easy to see; one uses that  $\text{Spin}(2) \cong \text{SO}(2)$  and that the covering map is the squaring map.

#### **3.2** Spin structures on manifolds

Now we let M be a smooth oriented d-dimensional manifold. If not stated otherwise, all diffeomorphisms are assumed to be orientation-preserving. We say that a *spin structure* on M is a spin structure on the tangent bundle TM of M. A *spin manifold* is an oriented manifold, equipped with a spin structure.

Usually, one defines a spin structure on a manifold to be spin structure of the *cotangent* bundle. This is very convenient in differential and algebraic geometry. Of course, spin structures on the tangent and on the cotangent bundle are closely related. If  $(P, \alpha)$  is a spin structure for the tangent bundle, then  $(P, (\alpha^{-1})')$  is a spin structure for the cotangent bundle, where  $(\alpha^{-1})'$  is the dual of the inverse of  $\alpha$ .

Orientation-preserving diffeomorphism or, more generally, orientation-preserving local diffeomorphisms can be used to pull-back spin structures on manifolds. Let  $f: N \to M$  be an orientation-preserving local diffeomorphism. Since f is regular, its differential defines an orientation-preserving isomorphism  $df: TN \to f^*TM$  of bundles on N. If  $\sigma := (P, \alpha)$ is a spin structure on M, then we define  $f^*\sigma := (f^*P, (df)^{-1} \circ f^*\alpha)$ . It is a spin structure on N. If  $f_0$  and  $f_1$  are regularly homotopic, i.e. they are homotopic through local diffeomorphisms, then the spin structures  $f_0^*\sigma$  and  $f_1^*\sigma$  are equivalent. This follows immediately from Lemma 3.1.3 and from the definitions.

Thus we see that the group  $\Gamma(M) := \pi_0(\text{Diff}(M))$  of isotopy classes of diffeomorphisms acts from the right on the set of equivalence classes of spin structures. Although the set of equivalence classes of spin structures is in bijection with  $H^1(M; \mathbb{F}_2)$ , there is no  $\Gamma(M)$ equivariant identification in general, compare the remarks after 3.1.4.

We call two spin structures  $\sigma_1$  and  $\sigma_2$  conjugate if there exists a diffeomorphism f such that  $\sigma_1 \cong f^* \sigma_2$ .

If  $\sigma$  is a spin-structure on M, then we denote

$$\operatorname{Diff}(M,\sigma) := \{ f \in \operatorname{Diff}(M) | f^* \sigma \cong \sigma \}.$$
(3.2.1)

Here the symbol  $\cong$  denotes equivalence of spin structures (and not conjugacy). More generally, if  $(M, \sigma)$  and  $(N, \tau)$  are spin manifolds, then  $\text{Diff}((M, \sigma), (N, \tau))$  denotes the set of all (orientation-preserving) diffeomorphisms  $f : M \to N$  such that  $f^*\tau \cong \sigma$ . The preceding discussion, together with the fact that regular homotopy is an open equivalence relation on Diff(M) shows

**Lemma 3.2.2.**  $\text{Diff}(M, \sigma) \subset \text{Diff}(M)$  is an open subgroup.

At the first glance, it might seem that the group  $\text{Diff}(M, \sigma)$  is the correct automorphism group of the spin structure  $\sigma$ . This is not the case, as I will explain now with an easy example.

Consider the 2-sphere with the standard metric. As an oriented surface,  $\mathbb{S}^2$  is a spin manifold. The spin structure is unique up to equivalence, because  $H^1(\mathbb{S}^2, \mathbb{F}_2) = 0$ . Thus, we certainly have  $\text{Diff}(\mathbb{S}^2, \sigma) = \text{Diff}(\mathbb{S}^2)$ . A concrete description of the spin structure is as follows. Consider the Hopf fibration  $\mathbb{S}^3 \to \mathbb{S}^2$  which is a SO(2) = Spin(2)-principal bundle. Then there is an isomorphism  $\mathbb{S}^3 \times_{\text{SO}(2)} \mathbb{R}^2 \cong T\mathbb{S}^2$ , where SO(2) acts on  $\mathbb{R}^2 = \mathbb{C}$  by the square of the standard representation. Thus the Hopf fibration is a spin structure for  $\mathbb{S}^2$ . But the group  $\text{SO}(3) \subset \text{Diff}(\mathbb{S}^2)$  does not act on the total space of this spin structure.

Thus  $\text{Diff}(M, \sigma)$  is not the correct thing to consider, especially if we attempt to study *families* of spin manifolds. This requires that we do not merely consider the discrete *set* of all equivalence classes of spin structures, but a *space* of all spin structures on M, which has a nontrivial topology. This will be done in the next section.

#### **3.3** Spaces of Spin structures

**Definition 3.3.1.** Let M be an oriented manifold. Then the category SPIN(M) is defined as follows. Its objects are all spin structures on M. A morphism between two spin structures  $\sigma_0$  and  $\sigma_1$  is an isomorphism in the sense of Definition 3.1.2.

Because we will consider the classifying space of this category, one should take a small skeleton of this category instead. Such a small skeleton certainly exists. The classifying

spaces of any two skeleta of a category are homotopy equivalent through an equivalence which is canonical up to homotopy. The question whether the space of all these canonical homotopy equivalences is contractible is irrelevant in this work. As usual, a (topological) group is identified with a (topological) groupoid with one object.

**Proposition 3.3.2.** If M is connected, the classifying space BSPJN(M) of the category SPJN(M) is homotopy equivalent to  $H^1(F; \mathbb{F}_2) \times \mathbb{RP}^{\infty}$ .

**Proof:** We have seen that the set of equivalence classes of spin structures on M is in bijection with  $H^1(M; \mathbb{F}_2)$ . We choose one spin structure in each equivalence class. This gives a set R of representatives for the equivalence classes of spin structures. It was remarked above that the automorphism group of a spin structure is isomorphic to  $\mathbb{Z}/2$ . An application of Lemma A.0.1 from the appendix A finishes the proof.

There is another category of spin structures which also involves the action of diffeomorphisms on spin structures. The definition needs some preparation.

Let M and N be smooth oriented d-manifolds, let  $\sigma = (P, \alpha)$  be a spin structure on TM and  $\tau = (Q, \beta)$  be a spin structure on N. If  $\hat{f} : P \to Q$  is a map of  $\widetilde{\operatorname{GL}}_d^+(\mathbb{R})$ -principal bundles over a base map  $f : M \to N$ , then  $\hat{f}$  induces a vector bundle map  $\hat{f}' : P \times_{\widetilde{\operatorname{GL}}_d^+(\mathbb{R})} \mathbb{R}^d \to Q \times_{\widetilde{\operatorname{GL}}_d^+(\mathbb{R})} \mathbb{R}^d$  over f, which can be compared to the differential of f. The vector bundle map  $\hat{f}'$  has a chance to agree with the differential only if f is a local diffeomorphism.

**Definition 3.3.3.** A local spin diffeomorphism from  $(M, \sigma) \to (N, \tau)$  is a pair  $(f, \hat{f})$ , where f is an orientation-preserving local diffeomorphism (alias codimension zero immersion) and  $\hat{f}: P \to Q$  is an isomorphism of  $\widetilde{\operatorname{GL}_d^+}(\mathbb{R})$ -principal bundles over f, such that the diagram

of vector bundle maps commutes. Local spin diffeomorphisms can be composed in the obvious way:  $(g, \hat{g}) \circ (f, \hat{f}) := (g \circ f, \hat{g} \circ \hat{f}).$ 

A local spin diffeomorphism  $(f, \hat{f})$  is called a *spin diffeomorphism* if the underlying map f is a diffeomorphism.

We can say shortly that a spin diffeomorphism is a diffeomorphism f which preserves the spin structure  $\sigma$ , together with a choice of an isomorphism of spin-structures  $\sigma \cong f^*\sigma$ . It is easy to see that the set of spin diffeomorphisms of a spin structure  $\sigma$  on M forms a group.

**Definition 3.3.4.** The group of spin diffeomorphism of  $(M, \sigma)$  is denoted by  $\text{Sdiff}(M, \sigma)$ . More generally, let M be an oriented manifold. Then Sdiff(M) is the following groupoid:

- The objects are the spin structures  $\sigma$  on M.
- The morphisms  $\sigma_0 \to \sigma_1$  are the spin diffeomorphisms  $(M, \sigma_0) \to (M, \sigma_1)$ .

The morphism sets between different spin structures are denoted by  $Sdiff((M, \sigma_0), (M, \sigma_1))$ .

If M does not admit a spin structure, then Sdiff(M) is the empty groupoid, but we will not consider this case. Note that the group  $\text{Sdiff}(M, \sigma)$  is the automorphism group of  $\sigma \in \mathfrak{Ob}(\text{Sdiff}(M))$ . There is an obvious forgetful map

$$\psi : \text{Sdiff}(M, \sigma) \to \text{Diff}(M, \sigma); \psi : (F, \hat{f}) \mapsto f$$
(3.3.5)

which is surjective. I will define a topology on the morphism sets of Sdiff(M) and thus on  $\text{Sdiff}(M, \sigma)$  below.

By definition, the group  $\text{Sdiff}(M, \sigma)$  acts on the principal bundle P; and the action covers the action of the diffeomorphism group. More precisely, we have:

**Lemma 3.3.6.** If M is a connected manifold, then the kernel of  $\psi$  : Sdiff $(M, \sigma) \rightarrow$  Diff $(M, \sigma)$  has two elements.

**Proof:** If  $(f, \hat{f}) \in \ker \psi$ , then  $f = \operatorname{id}$ . Let  $(\operatorname{id}_M, \hat{f})$  be a spin diffeomorphism, and let c be the nontrivial element in the kernel of  $\operatorname{GL}_d^+(\mathbb{R}) \to \operatorname{GL}_d^+(\mathbb{R})$ . Then  $\hat{f}$  is an automorphism of P over  $\operatorname{id}_M$ , and the condition that  $(\operatorname{id}_M \hat{f})$  is a spin diffeomorphism means that either  $\hat{f}(p) = p$  or  $\hat{f}(p) = p \cdot c$  for all  $p \in P$  (M is connected). In the first case  $\hat{f} = \operatorname{id}_P$ , in the second case,  $\hat{f}$  is right-multiplication with c.

Now I will explain the topology on  $\text{Sdiff}(M, \sigma)$ . Any space of the type  $C^{\infty}(X; Y)$  of smooth mappings between smooth manifolds X and Y is endowed with the weak Whitney-topology ([25], p. 34 ff.). This is the topology of uniform convergence of all derivatives on all compact subsets of X.

If  $\sigma = (P, \alpha)$  and  $\tau = (Q, \beta)$  are spin structures on M, N, respectively, then there is an injection  $\text{Sdiff}((M, \sigma), (N, \tau)) \subset C^{\infty}(P; Q)$ . We let  $\text{Sdiff}((M, \sigma), (N, \tau)$  carry the subspace topology. With this definition, the composition and inversion maps in the groupoid Sdiff(M) become continuous and the forgetful maps

$$\text{Sdiff}((M,\sigma),(N,\tau)) \to \text{Diff}((M,\sigma),(N,\tau))$$

become covering maps. There is a forgetful functor of topological groupoids

$$\Psi: \mathrm{Sdiff}(M) \to \mathrm{Diff}(M). \tag{3.3.7}$$

**Theorem 3.3.8.** The homotopy fiber of  $B\Psi$  : B Sdiff $(M) \to B$  Diff(M) is homotopy equivalent to BSPJN $(M) \simeq H^1(M; \mathbb{F}_2) \times \mathbb{RP}^{\infty}$ .

**Proof:** We apply Proposition A.0.2 from the appendix A to the groupoid homomorphism  $\Psi$ : Sdiff $(M) \to \text{Diff}(M)$ . Note that SPJN(M) is the kernel (in the sense of groupoids, see appendix A) of  $\Psi$  by definition. Furthermore,  $\Phi$  is surjective (in the sense of groupoids): If  $f \in \text{Diff}(M)$  and  $\sigma \in \mathfrak{Ob}(\text{Sdiff}(M))$ , then there is a spin diffeomorphism  $h : \sigma \to (f^{-1})^* \sigma$  with  $\Psi(h) = f$ . The map on morphism spaces is a Serre fibration, because it is even a covering. Apply Proposition A.0.2.

Fix a spin structure  $\sigma$  on M. We can compare the two fibrations

Their difference is not as much as it seems at the first glance. The spin structure  $\sigma$  can be viewed as a point in the zero-skeleton of both classifying spaces, BSPIN(M) and BSdiff(M). If  $\sigma$  is taken as a base-point, then all maps in the diagram 3.3.9 are pointed. We write for short  $\Gamma(M) := \pi_0(\text{Diff}(M))$  and  $\Gamma(M, \sigma) := \pi_0(\text{Diff}(M, \sigma))$ . Note that  $\Gamma(M, \sigma)$  is a subgroup of  $\Gamma(M)$  because of 3.2.2.

Also because of 3.2.2,  $\pi_r(B \operatorname{Diff}(M, \sigma)) \to \pi_r(B \operatorname{Diff}(M))$  is an isomorphism if  $r \ge 2$ . Thus, for  $r \ge 3$ , the diagram 3.3.9 gives rise to a commutative square of isomorphisms (the base-point is omitted from the notation)

It remains to analyze the low-dimensional terms. They are



#### 3.4 Spin structures on fiber bundles

Next, we study the question: What does the classifying space of the groupoid Sdiff(M) classify?

We consider smooth M-bundles  $(E, B, \pi)$ , where the oriented manifold M admits a spin structure. To a smooth M-bundle, there is an associated Diff(M)-principal bundle  $Q \to B$ and a natural isomorphism  $Q \times_{\text{Diff}(M)} M \to E$  of fiber bundles. The base space B is not assumed to be a manifold, but a "reasonable" space. With this term, I mean that B is paracompact (such that G-principal bundles on it are classified by maps into BG), locally arcwise connected and locally relatively simple connected (such that there is a well-behaved theory of covering spaces, [12], p.155).

**Definition 3.4.1.** A spin structure on an oriented smooth *M*-bundle  $\pi : E \to B$  is a spin structure on the vertical tangent bundle  $T_vE$ . A smooth *M*-spin bundle is a smooth *M*-bundle endowed with a spin structure.

Note that any fiber of a smooth M-spin bundle becomes a spin manifold.

**Definition 3.4.2.** Let M be a manifold with  $w_2(TM) = 0$  and let  $\sigma$  be a spin structure on M. For a topological space B, let  $\operatorname{Bun}_{M,\operatorname{Spin}}[B]$  be the set of all concordance classes of smooth M-bundles with spin structure. Let  $\operatorname{Bun}_{M,\sigma}[B]$  be the set of all concordance classes of smooth M-bundles with spin structure such that the restriction of the spin structure to any fiber is conjugate to  $\sigma$ .

**Theorem 3.4.3.** For any reasonable space B, there are bijections, natural in B:

- 1.  $[B; B \operatorname{Sdiff}(M, \sigma)] \cong \operatorname{Bun}_{M, \sigma}[B]$  and
- 2.  $[B; B \operatorname{Sdiff}(M)] \cong \operatorname{Bun}_{M, \operatorname{Spin}}[B].$

**Proof:** Let us prove the first claim. Because  $\operatorname{Sdiff}(M, \sigma)$  is a group, we only need to relate  $\operatorname{Sdiff}(M, \sigma)$ -principal bundles on B with  $\operatorname{Bun}_{M,\sigma}[B]$ . If  $\sigma = (P, \alpha)$ , then  $\operatorname{Sdiff}(M, \sigma)$  acts on P, as well as on  $\operatorname{GL}^+(M)$  and the map  $P \to \operatorname{GL}^+(M)$  is equivariant. Let  $Q \to B$  be a  $\operatorname{Sdiff}(M, \sigma)$ -principal bundle. Then

$$E := Q \times_{\mathrm{Sdiff}(M,\sigma)} M \to B$$

is a smooth M-bundle and

$$Q \times_{\mathrm{Sdiff}(M,\sigma)} P$$
,

together with the isomorphism

$$Q \times_{\mathrm{Sdiff}(M,\sigma)} P \times_{\widetilde{\mathrm{GL}^+_d(\mathbb{R})}} \mathbb{R}^d \to Q \times_{\mathrm{Sdiff}(M,\sigma)} TM = T_v E$$

is a spin structure on E. Conversely, if  $E \to B$  is a smooth M-bundle with spin structure such that for all  $b \in B$ ,  $E_b$  is spin diffeomorphic to  $(M, \sigma)$ , then we define a Sdiff $(M, \sigma)$ principal bundle  $Q \to B$  as follows. The fiber  $Q_b$  over  $b \in B$  consists of all spin diffeomorphisms  $(M, \sigma) \to E_b$ . Both constructions are mutually inverse. This shows the first claim. For the proof of the second claim, we assume without loss of generality that B is connected. We choose a system of representatives R for the set of conjugacy classes of spin structures on M and *define* a functorial map  $[B; B \operatorname{Sdiff}(M)] \to \operatorname{Bun}_{M,\operatorname{Spin}}[B]$  by the commutativity of the diagram

The upper horizontal arrow is bijective because of Lemma A.0.1. The right-hand side vertical arrow is provided by the first claim and bijective by part 1 of this proof. The lower horizontal arrow is bijective because R is a system of representatives for the set of conjugacy classes of spin structures.

This shows the existence of the functorial bijection. Using the fact that the map  $BG \to BG$  induced by an inner automorphism of the topological group G is homotopic to the identity, one can show that the map  $[B; B \operatorname{Sdiff}(M)] \to \operatorname{Bun}_{M,\operatorname{Spin}}[B]$  defined above does not depend on the choice of the system of representatives R.

#### 3.5 When does a smooth fiber bundle have a spin structure?

Now, let us consider a smooth M-bundle  $\pi : E \to B$  on a reasonable space. We try to find necessary and sufficient conditions for the existence of a spin structure on  $E \to B$ . First of all, M needs to satisfy  $w_2(TM) = 0$ , and we assume that this is the case. One is tempted to apply obstruction theory to the fibration

$$BSPIN(M) \to B Sdiff(M) \to B Diff(M)$$

from the last section. Unfortunately, this does not work, because the situation is highly non-abelian. There is no group structure on  $\pi_0(BSPJN(M))$  which has a relation to spin structures (even if BSPJN(M) is abstractly homotopy-equivalent to an abelian topological group).

The situation is more tractable if we consider the fibration sequence

$$\mathbb{RP}^{\infty} \to B \operatorname{Sdiff}(M, \sigma) \to B \operatorname{Diff}(M, \sigma).$$
(3.5.1)

To start the discussion, we assume (without loss of generality) that B is path-connected and that we have a base point  $b_0 \in B$ . Further, we fix an orientation-preserving diffeomorphism  $\phi : M \to \pi^{-1}(b_0)$ . Such a triple  $(E, \pi, \phi)$  should be called a *pointed smooth M*-bundle.

Concordance classes of pointed *M*-bundles are in bijection with pointed homotopy classes of pointed maps  $(B, b_0) \rightarrow (B \operatorname{Diff}(M), *)$ .

On fundamental groups, the classifying map of a pointed M-bundle induces a homomorphism

$$\rho_{(E,\pi,\phi)}: \pi_1(B,b_0) \to \pi_0 \operatorname{Diff}(M),$$

the monodromy of the manifold bundle. There is the following explicit description of the monodromy homomorphism. Let  $\gamma : \mathbb{S}^1 \to B$  be a pointed loop. Then  $\gamma^* E =: E'$  is a bundle of manifolds on  $\mathbb{S}^1 = [0,1]/(0 \sim 1)$  and the fiber at the base point  $0 \in \mathbb{S}^1$  is canonically diffeomorphic to M. Let  $q : [0,1] \to \mathbb{S}^1$  be the identification map. Then choose a trivialization  $a : q^* E' \cong [0,1] \times M$ , extending the identity over 0. At the point 1, a defines a diffeomorphism  $f : M \to M$ . Its isotopy class does not depend on the choice of  $\gamma$  within its homotopy class and on the choice of q. The isotopy class of f is  $\rho([\gamma])$ . Note that the monodromy does not lift to a homomorphism  $\pi_1(B) \to \text{Diff}(M)$  in general; this only happens for flat fiber bundles.
**Lemma 3.5.2.** If there is a spin structure on E which extends the spin structure  $\phi^*\sigma$  on  $\pi^{-1}(b_0)$ , then  $\rho$  takes values in the subgroup  $\pi_0(\text{Diff}(M, \sigma))$ .

**Proof:** Restrict the bundle E and the spin structure on E to a circle representing  $a \in \pi_1(B, b_0)$ . Then the spin structures  $\sigma$  and  $\rho(a)^*\sigma$  are concordant. By Lemma 3.1.3, they are equivalent.

Consider the fibration sequence 3.5.1. It is necessarily a principal fibration in the sense of homotopy theory: the action of  $\pi_1(B \operatorname{Diff}(M, \sigma))$  on the homotopy type of  $\mathbb{RP}^{\infty}$  is trivial. Thus the next definition is meaningful.

**Definition 3.5.3.** Let  $c \in H^2(B \operatorname{Diff}(M, \sigma); \mathbb{F}_2)$  be the primary obstruction class to the existence of a section of the fibration 3.5.1.

The class c also can be described as the cohomology class of the (topological) group extension  $\mathbb{Z}/2 \to \text{Sdiff}(M, \sigma) \to \text{Diff}(M, \sigma)$ .

Now we can reformulate the question of the existence of a spin structure as a lifting problem.

**Proposition 3.5.4.** Let  $\pi : E \to B$  be a smooth *M*-bundle, let  $\phi : \pi^{-1}(b_0) \to M$  be a fixed diffeomorphism and let  $\lambda : B \to B \operatorname{Diff}(M)$  be a classifying map. Assume that there exists a spin structure  $\sigma$  on *M* such that the monodromy homomorphism takes values in the subgroup  $\pi_0(\operatorname{Diff}(M, \sigma))$ . Then there exists a spin structure on *E* which extends  $\phi^*\sigma$  if and only if there exists a lift



Homotopy classes of lifts (as lifts) are in 1-1 correspondence with equivalence classes of spin structures.

The proof is clear.

**Corollary 3.5.5.** With the notation as above, the following statement holds. There exists a spin structure on the fiber bundle E extending  $\phi^*\sigma$  if and only if the monodromy homomorphism takes values in  $\pi_0(\text{Diff}(M, \sigma) \text{ and } \lambda^* c = 0 \in H^2(B; \mathbb{F}_2).$ 

**Proof:** This follows from Theorem 3.5.4 and Lemma 3.3.6 by an easy application of obstruction theory.  $\Box$ 

In the section 5.1, we will show that the cohomology class c is nonzero if M is an oriented surface and  $\sigma$  an arbitrary spin structure on M.

# 4 Spin structures on surface bundles

#### 4.1 Spin structures on surfaces

In this section, we recollect the facts about spin structures on oriented closed surfaces. They are mostly taken from the articles by Atiyah ([5]) and Johnson ([28]). An oriented closed surface M of genus g has even Euler number 2 - 2g. Thus, the second Stiefel-Whitney class of the tangent bundle is trivial, and the tangent bundle has a spin structure. Thus an oriented surface is spin. The number of inequivalent spin structures on a closed surface of genus g is  $2^{2g} = \#H^1(M; \mathbb{F}_2)$ .

Spin structures on surfaces have different descriptions. If M has a Riemannian metric, hence a complex structure with a hermitian metric, then TM is a hermitian line bundle in a canonical way. It was said in section 3.1 that a spin structure on a hermitian line bundle  $L \to X$  is nothing else than another hermitian line bundle  $S \to X$ , together with an isomorphism  $S \otimes_{\mathbb{C}} S \to L$ .

Now, if we choose a complex structure on M, then TM is even a holomorphic line bundle. Then a spin structure is also a holomorphic line bundle, in a natural way: call a local section s of S holomorphic if its square  $s \otimes s$  is a holomorphic section of TM. By the existence of holomorphic square-roots, local holomorphic sections of S without zeroes always exist. Thus S can be considered as a holomorphic line bundle, and the reference isomorphism  $S \otimes S \to TM$  is holomorphic. The same discussion applies also to the cotangent bundle, and for the purposes of complex analysis it is more common to consider the holomorphic cotangent bundle  $\Lambda_M$  of M as the basic object.

Furthermore, if M is compact, then a holomorphic isomorphisms between two isomorphic holomorphic line bundles is unique up to multiplication with a constant in  $\mathbb{C}^{\times}$ . Thus the space of possible reference isomorphisms is connected. It follows that, as long as we consider spin structures on a single surface, we can forget about the reference isomorphism. Hence we can say:

**Proposition 4.1.1.** A spin structure on a compact Riemann surface M is nothing else than a square-root S of the element  $\Lambda_M \in \text{Pic}(M)$  (the holomorphic Picard group of the Riemann surface M, see [20], p. 133) representing the canonical line bundle (alias cotangent bundle).

However, if we attempt to study families of Riemann surfaces, the nontriviality of the topology of the space of these reference maps becomes important. But we already set up the machine to handle this situation in the last sections.

There is an important topological invariant of spin structures on surfaces, its *parity*, which we will call *Atiyah-invariant*, because it was studied by Atiyah in [5]. Let M be a Riemann surface and let S be a spin structure in the sense above, i.e. a square root of the canonical line bundle  $\Lambda_M$  of M. Then we have the Cauchy-Riemann operator  $\overline{\partial}_S : C^{\infty}(M; S) \to C^{\infty}(M; S \otimes \overline{\Lambda_M})$ . By the Riemann-Roch-theorem, its Fredholm index is zero.

**Definition 4.1.2.** The *Atiyah-invariant* of the spin structure S is

 $At(M; S) := \dim \ker \overline{\partial}_S \pmod{2} \in \mathbb{Z}/2.$ 

A spin structure is called *even* (*odd*) if its Atiyah-invariant is even (odd).

It is not at all obvious that At(M; S) is a topological invariant, i.e. invariant under deformations of the spin structure. However, Atiyah proved an even stronger assertion:

**Proposition 4.1.3.** ([5]) At(M; S) is invariant under spin-bordism.

I will sketch the proof. First, one needs to identify the quantity dim ker  $\partial_S \pmod{2}$  as a mod 2 index of the Dirac operator associated to the spin structure (see [31]). This index lies in the group  $KO^{-\dim_{\mathbb{R}}M} = KO^{-2}(*) \cong \mathbb{Z}/2$ . The Atiyah-Singer index theorem for families of real elliptic operators ([7]) expresses this index as a KO-characteristic number of the spin manifold M (Recall that a spin vector bundle is KO-oriented). As such a characteristic number, it is an invariant under spin bordism.

**Example 4.1.4.** Let us consider the spin structures on a holomorphic torus. The holomorphic cotangent bundle of a torus is the trivial holomorphic line bundle. Thus the trivial holomorphic line bundle can also be considered as a spin structure  $S_0$ . It has Atiyah-invariant 1.

There are three other spin structures. All of them have Atiyah-invariant zero, because a holomorphic line bundle of degree zero cannot have nonzero holomorphic sections unless it is trivial.

There is another description of the Atiyah-invariant which does not involve the choice of a complex structure. Also, the treatment of the properties does not need index theory, but only elementary homotopy constructions. We start with the following observation:

**Proposition 4.1.5.** The spin bordism group  $\Omega_1^{\text{Spin}}$  of 1-manifolds has two elements. The nontrivial element is represented by the circle, together with the trivial O(1)-bundle on it, which is a spin structure.

For bordism-theoretical constructions, it is much more convenient to consider a spin structure of a manifold to be a spin-structure on its stable *normal* bundle. Both concepts are equivalent. A normal spin structure on a manifold M can be restricted to any submanifold  $N \subset M$ , as long as the normal bundle of N in M is trivialized (or, at least, endowed with a spin structure).

Now let M be a surface with a spin structure  $\sigma$ . For any embedded oriented 1-dimensional submanifold  $N \subset M$ , the normal bundle has a preferred homotopy class of trivializations and so we can restrict the spin structure of M to N. The bordism class of this spin structure does not depend on the orientation of N. We define a map

$$Q = Q^{\sigma} : H_1(M; \mathbb{F}_2) \to \mathbb{F}_2$$

by the following procedure. Let  $x \in H_1(M; \mathbb{F}_2)$ . Choose a 1-dimensional submanifold  $N \subset M$  representing x and an orientation of N. Then set

 $Q(x) := \begin{cases} 0 & \text{if the spin manifold } N \text{ is nullbordant,} \\ 1 & \text{otherwise.} \end{cases}$ 

The main theorem in the article [28] by Johnson is

**Theorem 4.1.6.** ([28])

- 1. The map Q is well-defined, i.e. it does not depend on the choices involved.
- 2. Q is a quadratic form, i.e.  $Q(a+b) = Q(a) + Q(b) + a \cdot b$ , where  $(a,b) \mapsto a \cdot b$  denotes the intersection form on the homology group.

The next property is obvious from the definitions. If f is a diffeomorphism, then it acts on the spin structures as well as on the first cohomology group.

**Proposition 4.1.7.** If  $f \in \text{Diff}(M)$  and  $\sigma$  is a spin structure on M, then  $f^*Q^{\sigma} = Q^{f^*\sigma}$ .

For quadratic forms on a symplectic  $\mathbb{F}_2$ -vector space, the Arf-invariant is defined. A symplectic form on an  $\mathbb{F}_2$ -vector space V is a nondegenerate symmetric bilinear form  $(x, y) \mapsto x \cdot y \in \mathbb{F}_2$  such that  $x \cdot x = 0$  for all  $x \in V$ . The vector space V, together with the symplectic form, is called a symplectic vector space. A symplectic basis of V is a basis  $(a_1, \ldots a_g, b_1, \ldots b_g)$  such that  $a_i \cdot a_j = b_i \cdot b_j = 0$  for all i, j and  $a_i \cdot b_j = \delta_{ij}$ . Any symplectic vector space V has a symplectic basis and it has even dimension.

**Definition 4.1.8.** Let V be a symplectic  $\mathbb{F}_2$ -vector space and  $q: V \to \mathbb{F}_2$  be a quadratic form (i.e.  $q(a+b) = q(a) + q(b) + a \cdot b$ ). Let  $a_1, \ldots, a_g, b_1, \ldots, b_g$  be a symplectic basis for V. Then the Arf-invariant is defined to be  $\operatorname{Arf}(q) := \sum_{i=1}^g q(a_i)q(b_i) \in \mathbb{F}_2$ . In multiplicative notation, we set  $\operatorname{arf}(q) := (-1)^{\operatorname{Arf}(q)} \in \{\pm 1\}$ .

**Proposition 4.1.9.** If  $V = V_1 \oplus V_2$  is an orthogonal decomposition of a symplectic vector space and if symplectic bases of both subspaces are chosen, then  $\operatorname{Arf}(q|_{V_1}) + \operatorname{Arf}(q|_{V_2}) = \operatorname{Arf}(q)$ .

The proof is trivial.

Corollary 4.1.10. 1.  $\operatorname{arf}(q) = 2^{\dim V/2} \sum_{x \in V} (-1)^{q(x)}$ .

2.  $\operatorname{Arf}(q)$  does not depend on the basis used to define it.

**Proof:** The second statement is an immediate consequence of the first one, because it does not involve the basis.

The first formula is proven by induction on the dimension of V, using Proposition 4.1.9 and an explicit consideration for dim V = 2.

**Examples 4.1.11.** It is worth to give the examples of quadratic forms on a 2-dimensional vector space. Let x, y be a symplectic basis. Then a form  $Q_0$  with  $\operatorname{Arf}(Q_0) = 0$  is given by

$$Q_0(x) = Q_0(y) = Q(0) = 0; Q_0(x+y) = 1,$$

while another form  $Q_1$  with  $\operatorname{Arf}(Q_1) = 1$  is given by

$$Q_1(x) = Q_1(y) = Q_1(x+y) = 1; Q_1(0) = 0.$$

There are two other forms on a two-dimensional space with Arf-invariant 0, which are both isomorphic to  $Q_0$ .

One can check that the quadratic form  $Q_0$  is the quadratic form of the spin structure  $S_0$  from 4.1.4. The other three quadratic forms belong to the three even spin structures on the torus.

**Corollary 4.1.12.** The Arf-invariant does not change under symplectic isomorphisms. In particular, if  $\sigma$  is a spin structure and  $f \in \text{Diff}(M)$ , then  $\text{Arf}(Q^{f^*\sigma}) = \text{Arf}(Q^{\sigma})$ .

**Corollary 4.1.13.** Let n > 0. The numbers of zeroes of a quadratic form q on a 2ndimensional symplectic vector space equals  $2^{n-1}(2^n - 1)$  if  $\operatorname{arf}(q) = 1$  and  $2^{n-1}(2^n + 1)$  if  $\operatorname{arf}(q) = -1$ . In particular, any quadratic form has a nontrivial zero  $(x \neq 0)$  except in the case that n = 1 and  $\operatorname{arf}(q) = -1$ .

**Proof:** Immediate from the first statement of Corollary 4.1.10.

**Proposition 4.1.14.** Let  $(V_0, q_0)$  and  $(V_1, q_1)$  be symplectic vector spaces with quadratic forms. Then  $(V_0, q_0) \cong (V_1, q_1)$  if and only if the dimensions and the Arf-invariants agree.

The proof is also very easy. First, the proof for dim V = 2 is clear by inspection. For higher dimensions, decompose V into the direct sum of 2-dimensional spaces. The proposition then follows from the fact that  $(\mathbb{F}_2^2, Q_1) \oplus (\mathbb{F}_2^2, Q_1) \cong (\mathbb{F}_2^2, Q_0) \oplus (\mathbb{F}_2^2, Q_0)$ , which can be checked directly, and from Proposition 4.1.9.

**Proposition 4.1.15.** Let V be a symplectic vector space of dimension 2g and V' its dual space. Denote by  $n_g^-$  the number of quadratic forms on V with Arf-invariant -1 and by  $n_g^+$  the number of quadratic forms with Arf-invariant +1. Then  $n_g^- = 2^{g-1}(2^g - 1)$  and  $n_g^+ = 2^{g-1}(2^g + 1)$ .

**Proof:** Since the difference of two quadratic forms is a linear form, the set of all quadratic forms is a V'-torsor, hence  $n_g^+ + n_g^- = 2^{2g}$ . The statement is true for g = 1 by inspection. Proceed by induction, using the addition formula 4.1.9.

The algebraic theory of the Arf-invariant can be applied to surfaces. Another result from Johnson's paper [28] is

**Proposition 4.1.16.** The assignment of the quadratic form  $Q^{\sigma}$  to a spin structure  $\sigma$  on a surface is a bijection.

**Proof:** Because the number of spin structures and the number of quadratic forms are both equal to  $2^{2g}$ , it is sufficient to show that any quadratic form is the quadratic form of a spin structure. First, we show this on the torus. There are two different spin structures on  $\mathbb{S}^1$ . Taking cartesian products yields four spin structures on  $\mathbb{S}^1 \times \mathbb{S}^1$ . It is straightforward to check that these four spin structures realize the four different quadratic forms.

If  $g \ge 2$ , then we decompose the surface M as the connected sum of g tori. This gives a direct sum decomposition of  $H^1(M; \mathbb{F}_2)$  into 2-dimensional summands. Each summand has a quadratic form, which can be realized by a spin structure. They can be glued together to give the desired spin structure.

**Corollary 4.1.17.** Two spin structures  $\sigma_0, \sigma_1$  on a surface M are conjugate under the action of the mapping class group if and only if  $\operatorname{Arf}(Q^{\sigma_0}) = \operatorname{Arf}(Q^{\sigma_0})$ .

**Proof:** The "only if" direction is trivial after all we have said above.

For the "if" direction, note that by 4.1.14, there exists a symplectic isomorphism  $\phi$  of  $H_1(M; \mathbb{F}_2)$  with  $\phi^* Q^{\sigma_1} = Q^{\sigma_0}$ . We use the fact that  $\Gamma_g \to \operatorname{SP}_{2g}(\mathbb{Z})$  is surjective. This can be seen by studying an explicit system of generators of  $\operatorname{SP}_{2g}(\mathbb{Z})$ , which turn out to realizable by mapping classes. Thus  $\Gamma_g \to \operatorname{SP}_{2g}(\mathbb{F}_2)$  is also surjective.

Hence there exists an  $f \in \text{Diff}(M)$  whose action on cohomology is  $\phi$ . It follows that  $Q^{\sigma_0} = f^*Q^{\sigma_1} = Q^{f^*\sigma_1}$ . By Proposition 4.1.16, it follows that  $\sigma_0 = f^*\sigma_1$ , as desired.  $\Box$ 

**Proposition 4.1.18.** Let M be a Riemann surface and let  $\sigma$  be a spin-structure. Then  $At(M, \sigma) = Arf(Q^{\sigma})$ .

**Proof:** First one proves that  $\operatorname{Arf}(Q^{\sigma})$  is spin-bordism invariant. The method is the following. If  $(M_0, \sigma_0)$  and  $(M_1, \sigma_1)$  are spin-bordant, then  $M_1$  is obtained from  $M_0$  by a sequence of surgeries which respect the spin structures. Using the algebraic properties of the Arf-invariant, it follows that the Arf-invariant is preserved under all spin-surgeries.

Next, one proves that a spin surface with Arf-invariant zero is null-bordant. Using 4.1.13, one sees that one can decrease the genus by one with a spin-surgery, except in the case that  $(g, \operatorname{Arf}) = (1, -1)$  and in the case  $(g, \operatorname{Arf}) = (0, 1)$ . The latter is nullbordant, while the other one is not. So, any spin surface with odd Arf-invariant is bordant to the torus with the odd spin structure.

Thus, the Atiyah-invariant as well as the Arf-invariant define homomorphisms  $\Omega_2^{\text{Spin}} \to \mathbb{Z}/2$ . The Arf-invariant is an isomorphism as we have seen before. The proposition follows, because the Atiyah-invariant is nontrivial by the discussion in 4.1.4.

**Corollary 4.1.19.** The second spin bordism group  $\Omega_2^{\text{Spin}}$  has precisely 2 elements.  $\Box$ **Proposition 4.1.20.** Any surface bundle on  $\mathbb{S}^1$  admits a spin structure. In view of Lemma 3.5.2, this proposition has an immediate corollary.

Corollary 4.1.21. Any diffeomorphism of M fixes at least one spin structure.

The corollary was proven by Atiyah ([5]) with algebraic methods. We present an easy topological proof.

**Proof of Proposition 4.1.20:** Let  $p: M \to \mathbb{S}^1$  be an oriented surface bundle. The total space M is a smooth oriented 3-manifold. A well-known theorem (due to Stiefel) says that M is parallelizable. Now we see that  $TM \cong M \times \mathbb{R}^3 \cong T_v M \oplus p^*T\mathbb{S}^1 \cong T_v M \oplus (M \times \mathbb{R})$ . Thus the Stiefel-Whitney classes of  $T_v M$  are trivial. In particular, the surface bundle p is spin.

## 4.2 The spin mapping class group

We now consider the general theory of smooth spin M-bundles in the case of (connected, closed, oriented) surfaces of genus  $g \ge 2$ . The smaller genera will be treated below in the sections 5.2 and 5.3. Recall the diagram 3.3.9 of homotopy fiber sequences

**Proposition 4.2.2.** Let M be an oriented surface of genus  $g \ge 2$ .

- 1.  $B \operatorname{Sdiff}(M)$  has two connected components  $B \operatorname{Sdiff}(M)^+$  and  $B \operatorname{Sdiff}(M)^-$  belonging to the different values of the Atiyah-invariant.
- 2. Both components are aspherical if  $g \geq 2$ .
- 3. The fundamental group  $\pi_1(B \operatorname{Sdiff}(M)^{\pm})$  is a central  $\mathbb{Z}/2$ -extension of  $\Gamma(M, \sigma)$ , where  $\sigma$  is a spin structure with Atiyah-invariant  $\pm$ .

**Proof:** The diagram 3.3.10 becomes



because  $\text{Diff}_0(M)$  is contractible. All other homotopy groups are zero. By Corollary 4.1.17,  $\pi_0(BS\mathcal{PJN}(M))/\Gamma(M)$  has exactly two elements, which are distinguished by their Atiyah-invariants. This is enough to show the proposition.

**Definition 4.2.4.** Let  $g \ge 0$  and let  $\epsilon \in \mathbb{Z}/2$ . Let M be a surface of genus g and let  $\sigma$  be a spin structure on M of Atiyah-invariant  $\epsilon$ . Set  $\Gamma_g^{\epsilon} := \Gamma(M, \epsilon)$ . The spin mapping class groups  $\hat{\Gamma}_g^{\epsilon}$  is the fundamental group of B Sdiff $(M)^{\epsilon}$ .

**Remark 4.2.5.** These groups were defined in other terms by Gregor Masbaum in [34]. The definition given is more conceptual.

The extension  $\mathbb{Z}/2 \to \hat{\Gamma}_g^{\epsilon} \to \Gamma_g^{\epsilon}$  is always nontrivial. This is Theorem 5.1.7 in the next section.

## 5 Some examples

# 5.1 Finite group actions and the nontriviality of the obstruction class

Let G be a finite group and let M be a closed oriented surface of genus g. We will study actions of G on M by orientation-preserving diffeomorphisms. Such an action induces a surface bundle

$$E(G; M) := EG \times_G M \to BG.$$

We deal with the question under which condition the surface bundle E(G; M) admits a spin structure. The answer is:

**Theorem 5.1.1.** Let G be a finite group which acts faithfully on a closed surface M. Then the induced surface bundle E(G; M) is spin if and only if all 2-Sylow-subgroups act freely on M.

Since all 2-Sylow-subgroups of a finite group are conjugate, it suffices to check the criterion for one of them.

Before I prove Theorem 5.1.1, I will give a few preparatory remarks. First of all, if G acts on M by diffeomorphisms and if we choose a Riemannian metric h on M, then we can average h over G:

$$h^G := \frac{1}{\sharp G} \sum_{g \in G} g^* h.$$

The new metric  $h^G$  is *G*-invariant. A metric defines an almost-complex structure on *M*, which is the same as a complex structure. So we can assume without loss of generality that *M* is a Riemann surface and *G* a group of biholomorphic automorphisms.

Another important fact is that for any  $x \in M$ , the isotropy subgroup  $G_x$ , is *cyclic*. This can be seen as follows. Choose an invariant Riemann metric. It is a well-known fact that if an isometry of a connected Riemannian manifold fixes a point and if the differential at this point is the identity, then the isometry must be the identity. Thus the fixed-point representation  $G_x \to SO(2)$  at x is faithful and  $G_x$  is cyclic.

Now we can prove Theorem 5.1.1. It is a combination of Proposition 5.1.2 and Proposition 5.1.4 below.

**Proposition 5.1.2.** Let G be a finite group acting on a closed oriented surface M. Let  $H \subset G$  be a 2-Sylow-subgroup and  $j : H \to G$  the inclusion map. Then E(G; M) is spin if and only if  $E(H; M) = (Bj)^* E(G; M)$  is spin.

**Proof:** It is clear that E(H; M) is spin if E(G; M) is. To prove the converse, observe that if we choose BH := EG/H, then  $Bj : BH \to BG$  is a covering of odd finite degree. Furthermore, we have a covering of total spaces  $p : E(H; M) \to E(G; M)$  of the same degree over Bj, which is nothing else than  $(EG \times M)/H \to (EG \times M)/G$ . Note that  $p^*T_vE(G; M) \cong T_vE(H; M)$ . Thus our proposition follows immediately from **Claim.** Let  $p: X \to Y$  be a covering map of finite odd degree and let  $E \to Y$  be an oriented vector bundle such that  $p^*E$  is spin. Then E is spin.

To prove the claim, we use the transfer  $p_! : H^2(X, \mathbb{F}_2) \to H^2(Y, \mathbb{F}_2)$ . Then  $p_! p^*$  is the multiplication with the degree, hence the identity on  $H^2(Y; \mathbb{F}_2)$ . Thus  $p^*$  is injective, which shows that E is spin.

**Corollary 5.1.3.** Let G be a finite group of odd order acting on a surface M. Then E(G; M) is spin.

**Proposition 5.1.4.** Let G be a 2-group acting faithfully on a Riemann surface M. Then E(G; M) is spin if and only if the G-action on M is free.

For the proof of Proposition 5.1.4, I will need two lemmata. If  $\rho : G \to \mathbb{C}^{\times}$  is a representation, let  $\mathbb{C}_{\rho}$  denotes the complex numbers with the given *G*-representation.

**Lemma 5.1.5.** Let G be a finite group. Then the map  $\operatorname{Hom}(G, \mathbb{C}^{\times}) \to H^2(G, \mathbb{Z}), \rho \mapsto c_1(EG \times_G \mathbb{C}_{\rho})$  is an isomorphism.

**Proof:** Since G is finite,  $H^s(BG, \mathbb{C}) = 0$  if s > 0 and the coefficient sequence  $\mathbb{Z} \to \mathbb{C} \to \mathbb{C}^{\times}$  yields an isomorphism  $H^1(BG, \mathbb{C}^{\times}) \to H^2(BG, \mathbb{Z})$ . Further, there is an isomorphism  $Hom(G, \mathbb{C}^{\times}) \cong H^1(BG, \mathbb{C}^{\times})$ . It is easy to see that the composition of both isomorphisms is the Chern class homomorphism as above.

**Lemma 5.1.6.** Let  $\rho : C \to \mathbb{C}^{\times}$  be a faithful representation of a (necessarily cyclic) group C of order  $2^k > 1$ . Then the second Stiefel-Whitney class of  $\rho$  is nonzero.

**Proof:** We must show that  $EC \times_C \mathbb{C}_{\rho}$  is not a spin vector bundle.

Due to Lemma 5.1.5, it suffices to show that the representation  $\rho$  does not have a square root. This is immediate: C contains a nontrivial element h of order 2. If  $\rho$  had a square root  $\sigma$ , then  $\rho(h) = (\sigma(h))^2 = 1$  and  $\rho$  is not faithful.

**Proof of Proposition 5.1.4:** Let G act freely on M. Then there exists an unbranched covering map  $f : E(G; M) \to BG \times M/G$  over BG. In addition,  $f^*(BG \times T(M/G)) \cong T_v E(G; M)$ . Because M/G is a spin manifold, E(G; M) is spin.

Conversely, if the action is not free, then there is an action of a nontrivial cyclic subgroup  $C \subset G$  which is not free. We prove that E(C; M) is not spin if C is a cyclic subgroup of order  $2^k$  for some  $k \in \mathbb{N}$  which does not act freely. By passing to a smaller nontrivial subgroup, we can assume that a generator of C has a fixed point  $x \in M$ .

The fixed point x yields a section  $s: BC \to E(C; M)$  of the surface bundle. The pullback  $s^*T_vE(C; M)$  is isomorphic to the complex line bundle  $EC \times_C \mathbb{C}_{\rho}$ , where  $\rho$  the fixed point representation at x. The fixed point representation must be faithful. By Lemma 5.1.6,

 $s^*T_vE(C; M)$  is not a spin vector bundle and E(C; M) cannot be spin.

As an application of Theorem 5.1.1, we can prove that the obstruction cohomology class  $c \in H^2(B \operatorname{Diff}(M; \sigma); \mathbb{F}_2)$  from 3.5.5 is nonzero if M is an oriented closed surface and  $\sigma$  a spin structure on M. Equivalently, the central extensions

$$\mathbb{Z}/2 \to \mathrm{Sdiff}(M) \to \mathrm{Diff}(M)$$

and (if  $g \ge 1$ )

 $\mathbb{Z}/2 \to \hat{\Gamma}_g^{\epsilon} \to \Gamma_g^{\epsilon}$ 

are nontrivial.

**Theorem 5.1.7.** If M is a closed oriented surface and  $\sigma$  is a spin structure on M, then the obstruction class  $c \in H^2(B \operatorname{Diff}(M, \sigma); \mathbb{F}_2)$  is nontrivial.

**Proof:** We need to show that there exist surface bundles whose monodromy fixes  $\sigma$ , but which do not admit any spin structure. We have seen that any automorphism of a Riemann surface fixes a spin structure (4.1.21). So any cyclic group action fixes a spin structure. However, we need a sharper statement. Let  $f \in \text{Diff}(M)$  an element which acts trivially on  $H_1(M; \mathbb{F}_2)$  and let  $\sigma$  be a spin structure. The formula 4.1.7 shows that  $Q^{\sigma} = Q^{f^*\sigma}$ . By 4.1.16, it follows that  $\sigma = f^*\sigma$ . Thus f fixes any spin structure.

On any surface M, there exist hyperelliptic involutions. These are involutions,  $f \circ f = id$  on M, which are characterized by the following equivalent properties:

- 1. f has 2g + 2 fixed points.
- 2. f acts as -id on  $H_1(M;\mathbb{Z})$ .
- 3. The quotient  $M/\{\text{id}, f\}$  is homeomorphic to  $\mathbb{CP}^1$ .

Let f be such an involution, determining an action  $\mathbb{Z}/2 \curvearrowright M$ . Let  $\sigma$  be an arbitrary spin structure on M. Then f acts trivially on  $H_1(M; \mathbb{F}_2)$  by 2, thus it fixes  $\sigma$ . Thus the monodromy of the bundle  $E(\mathbb{Z}/2; M)$  fixes  $\sigma$ . Nevertheless, f has fixed points and so, by Theorem 5.1.1,  $E(\mathbb{Z}/2; M)$  does not have a spin structure.

## 5.2 Sphere bundles

Recall Smales theorem (Theorem 2.1.2) which says that the inclusion  $SO(3) \to Diff(\mathbb{S}^2)$  is a homotopy equivalence. In more geometric terms, this means that any bundle of surfaces of genus g = 0 is isomorphic, as an oriented  $\mathbb{S}^2$ -bundle, to the unit sphere bundle of a 3dimensional Riemannian vector bundle. Alternatively, since SO(3) is a maximal compact subgroup of  $\mathbb{P}SL_2(\mathbb{C})$ , any surface bundle of genus zero can be viewed as a  $\mathbb{CP}^1$ -bundle with structural group  $\mathbb{P}SL_2(\mathbb{C})$ . It is not true, however, that any  $\mathbb{CP}^1$ -bundle is the projective bundle of a 2-dimensional complex vector bundle.

Since  $S^2$  is simply-connected, there is a unique spin structure  $\sigma_0$  on it. This is fixed by any diffeomorphism. The spin diffeomorphism group fits into an exact sequence

$$\mathbb{Z}/2 \to \text{Sdiff}(\mathbb{S}^2, \sigma_0) \to \text{Diff}(\mathbb{S}^2).$$
 (5.2.1)

**Proposition 5.2.2.** In the diagram below, all horizontal maps are homotopy equivalences.

$$\mathbb{Z}/2 = \mathbb{Z}/2 = \mathbb{Z}/2$$

$$\downarrow \qquad \qquad \downarrow \qquad \qquad \downarrow$$

$$SU(2) \longrightarrow SL_2(\mathbb{C}) \longrightarrow Sdiff(\mathbb{S}^2, \sigma_0)$$

$$\downarrow \qquad \qquad \qquad \qquad \downarrow \qquad \qquad \qquad \downarrow$$

$$SO(3) \longrightarrow \mathbb{P}SL_2(\mathbb{C}) \longrightarrow Diff(\mathbb{S}^2).$$

**Proof:** The left half of this diagram does not need explanation, and we only consider the right half. We have already seen that the extension on the right-hand-side is nontrivial (5.1.7). However, there is a more direct and explicit way of seeing this.

Let us regard  $\sigma_0$  as a complex line bundle (a square-root of the cotangent bundle), or better, as a  $\mathbb{C}^{\times}$ -principal bundle. Then its total space is  $\mathbb{C}^2 \setminus \{(0,0)\}$ , and the bundle map to  $\mathbb{CP}^1$  is the defining map (alias the Hopf fibration). The group  $\mathrm{SL}_2(\mathbb{C})$  acts in the usual way on this total space, and this shows that  $\mathrm{SL}_2(\mathbb{C})$  is a subgroup of  $\mathrm{Sdiff}(\mathbb{S}^2, \sigma_0)$ . Certainly, the element -1 acts as the element in the kernel of  $\mathrm{Sdiff}(\mathbb{S}^2, \sigma_0) \to \mathrm{Diff}(\mathbb{S}^2)$ . This provides the diagram; and the proposition now follows from Smales theorem.

**Proposition 5.2.3.** Let  $\pi : E \to B$  be an  $\mathbb{S}^2$ -bundle and let  $V \to B$  be a 3-dimensional vector bundle whose sphere bundle is E. Then the following conditions are equivalent.

- 1. E has a spin structure.
- 2. V is a spin vector bundle.
- 3. There exists a 2-dimensional complex vector bundle  $U \to B$ , such that E is isomorphic to the projective bundle  $\mathbb{P}U \to B$  and such that  $c_1(U) = 0$ .

Because of 1 and 2, the class  $c \in H^2(B \operatorname{Diff}(\mathbb{S}^2), \mathbb{F}_2) \cong H^2(B \operatorname{SO}(3); \mathbb{F}_2) \cong \mathbb{F}_2$  agrees with  $w_2$ .

**Proof:** We have seen before that the existence of a spin structure on a  $\mathbb{CP}^1$ -bundle is equivalent to the existence of a lifting of the structural group from  $\mathbb{P}\operatorname{SL}_2(\mathbb{C})$  to  $\operatorname{SL}_2(\mathbb{C})$ . This shows the equivalence of 1 and 3. Because the maximal compact subgroup of  $\operatorname{SL}_2(\mathbb{C})$  is  $\operatorname{Spin}(3) = \mathbb{S}^3$ , the equivalence of these with 2 also follows immediately.  $\Box$ 

The class of projective bundles of two-dimensional complex vector bundles is slightly larger than the class of spin- $\mathbb{S}^2$ -bundles. There is an obstruction for the lifting of bundles of projective spaces to vector bundles which lies (universally) in  $H^3(B\mathbb{P}\operatorname{SL}_2(\mathbb{C});\mathbb{Z}) \cong \mathbb{Z}/2$ . It can be identified with  $\beta c$ , the image of  $c \in H^2(B\mathbb{P}\operatorname{SL}_2(\mathbb{C});\mathbb{F}_2) = H^2(B\operatorname{Diff}(\mathbb{S}^2);\mathbb{F}_2)$  under the Bockstein homomorphism for the short exact coefficient sequence  $0 \to \mathbb{Z} \to \mathbb{Z} \to \mathbb{F}_2 \to 0$ . Now let  $E \to B$  be an oriented surface bundle of genus zero. Let  $V \to B$  a 3-dimensional oriented real Riemannian vector bundle whose unit sphere bundle is E. We can express the characteristic classes of the surface bundle  $\pi : E \to B$  by the characteristic classes of the vector bundle V.

**Proposition 5.2.4.** 1. The symplectic classes of  $\pi : E \to B$  are trivial.

- 2. The odd MMM-classes vanish,  $\kappa_{2k+1} = 0$ .
- 3. The even MMM-classes are related to the Pontryagin classes of V by the formula:  $\kappa_{2k} = 2p_1(V)^k$ .

**Proof:** The first statement is trivial, since the first homology group of a sphere is zero. We prove the other statements for the universal case, that is:  $V := E(SO(3); \mathbb{R}^3) = ESO(3) \times_{SO(3)} \mathbb{R}^3 \to BSO(3)$  and  $E := E(SO(3); \mathbb{S}^2)$ . The total space of the universal surface bundle on BSO(3) is  $ESO(3) \times_{SO(3)} SO(3) / SO(2) = ESO(3) / SO(2) \simeq \mathbb{CP}^{\infty}$ .

The unit tangent bundle of  $\mathbb{S}^2$  is diffeomorphic to SO(3); it is a free transitive SO(3)-space under the action of the isometries of  $\mathbb{S}^2$ . Hence the total space of the vertical unit tangent bundle of the universal  $\mathbb{S}^2$ -bundle is contractible. The only  $\mathbb{S}^1$ -bundles over  $\mathbb{CP}^\infty$  whose total spaces are contractible are the universal  $\mathbb{S}^1$ -bundle and its dual, and we can identify the vertical tangent bundle of the universal  $\mathbb{S}^2$ -bundle with the universal complex line bundle or its dual. This ambiguity will be resolved at the end of the proof.

If z is the standard generator of  $H^2(\mathbb{CP}^{\infty};\mathbb{Z})$ , namely, the first Chern class of the universal line bundle  $(E(\mathbb{S}^1;\mathbb{C}))$ , then the Euler class e of the vertical tangent bundle is  $\pm z$ .

The projection map  $q : \mathbb{CP}^{\infty} \to B \operatorname{SO}(3)$  is homotopic to the map induced by the inclusion  $\operatorname{SO}(2) \to \operatorname{SO}(3)$  of the standard maximal torus in  $\operatorname{SO}(3)$ . If we take the real standard representation of  $\operatorname{SO}(3)$  on  $\mathbb{R}^3$ , complexify it and restrict it to the maximal torus, we obtain a sum of the trivial representation, the standard representation of  $\mathbb{S}^1$ and its dual. Let  $p_1 \in H^4(B \operatorname{SO}(3); \mathbb{Z})$  be the universal first Pontryagin class. Then  $q^*(p_1(V)) = -c_2(q^*V \otimes \mathbb{C})$  by the definition of the Pontryagin classes. But  $-c_2(q^*V \otimes \mathbb{C}) =$  $-c_2((\gamma_1 \oplus \mathbb{R}) \otimes \mathbb{C}) = -c_2(\gamma_1 \oplus \overline{\gamma_1} \oplus \mathbb{C}) = -c_1(\gamma_1)c_1(\overline{\gamma_1}) = -z(-z) = z^2$ . Thus  $q^*(p_1(V)) = z^2$ . We are ready to compute the MMM-classes:

 $\kappa_{n+2} = q_!((\pm z)^{n+3}) = (\pm)^{n+3}q_!(q^*(p_1(V)z^{n+1}) = (\pm)^{n+1}p_1(V)q_!(z^{n+1}) = p_1(V)\kappa_n.$  From the facts that  $\kappa_0 = +2 = \chi(\mathbb{S}^2)$  and  $\kappa_1 = 0$  (since  $H^2(B \operatorname{SO}(3), \mathbb{Z}) = 0$ ) the claim follows by induction.

If the  $S^2$ -bundle is given as a projective bundle  $\mathbb{P}W$  of a complex 2-dimensional vector bundle W, then we can give an expression of its MMM-classes in terms of the Chern classes of W. By Proposition 5.2.4, it suffices to compute the first Pontryagin class of a certain three-dimensional vector bundle V, depending on W. **Proposition 5.2.5.** Let  $W \to B$  be a two-dimensional complex vector bundle. Then the MMM-classes of the projective bundle  $\mathbb{P}W$  (it is a surface bundle of genus 0) are given by the formulae  $\kappa_{2k+1} = 0$  and  $\kappa_{2k} = 2(c_1(W)^2 - 4c_2(W))^k$ .

**Proof:** We can assume that the structural group of W is reduced to U(2). Let Q be a principal U(2)-bundle for W. Then, as an  $\mathbb{S}^2$ -bundle,  $\mathbb{P}W$  is the same as  $\mathbb{S}V$ , where the 3-dimensional vector bundle V is obtained by  $V := Q \times_{U(2)} \mathbb{R}^3$ . Here U(2) acts on  $\mathbb{R}^3$  via the map  $U(2) \to \mathbb{P}U(2) \cong \mathrm{SO}(3)$  or, more geometrically by linearly extending the action on  $\mathbb{S}^2$  by Möbius transformations. For the calculation of  $p_1$ , we only need the complexification of V, which is  $Q \times_{U(2)} \mathbb{C}^3_{\rho}$ , where  $\rho : U(2) \to \mathrm{GL}_3(\mathbb{C})$  is the complexification of the representation above.

A character calculation, carried out on the standard maximal torus of U(2), shows that  $\rho$  is equivalent to  $\operatorname{Sym}^2(D) \otimes (\det(D))^{-1}$ , where D is the defining representation of U(2). In other words, we see that  $V_{\mathbb{C}} = \operatorname{Sym}^2(W) \otimes (\det(W))^{-1}$ , whence  $p_1(V) = -c_2(V_{\mathbb{C}}) = -c_2(\operatorname{Sym}^2(W) \otimes \det(W)^{-1})$ .

By the splitting principle, we can assume that W is a sum of line bundles,  $W = E_0 \oplus E_1$ . Then

$$\operatorname{Sym}^2(W) \otimes \det(W)^{-1} \cong \mathbb{C} \oplus E_0 \otimes E_1^* \oplus E_1 \otimes E_0^*.$$

It follows that  $p_1(V) = -c_2(\mathbb{C} \oplus E_0 \otimes E_1^* \oplus E_1 \otimes E_0^*) = -c_2(E_0 \otimes E_1^* \oplus E_1 \otimes E_0^*) = -c_1(E_0 \otimes E_1^*)c_1(E_1 \otimes E_0^*) = c_1(E_0 \otimes E_1^*)^2$ . This is the same as  $(c_1(W))^2 - 4c_2(W)$ .

We have seen that  $\text{Sdiff}(\mathbb{S}^2, \sigma_0) \simeq SU(2) = \mathbb{S}^3$ . But the classifying space  $B\mathbb{S}^3$  is the same as the infinite quaternionic projective space  $\mathbb{HP}^{\infty}$ , whose integral cohomology is

$$H^*(\mathbb{HP}^{\infty};\mathbb{Z})\cong\mathbb{Z}[u];\deg(u)=4$$

The generator u can be chosen to be the second Chern class of the universal 2-dimensional vector bundle  $V := ESU(2) \times_{SU(2)} \mathbb{C}^2 \to BSU(2)$ .

**Proposition 5.2.6.** With the choice of u specified above, the MMM-classes of the universal spin- $\mathbb{S}^2$ -bundle on  $\mathbb{HP}^\infty$  are  $\kappa_{2n-1} = 0$  and  $\kappa_{2n} = (-1)^n 2^{2n+1} u^n$ .

**Proof:** This is immediate from Proposition 5.2.5, because the universal  $S^2$ -bundle on  $\mathbb{HP}^{\infty}$  is the projective bundle of the complex vector bundle V.

There is a more direct and easier way to see this, at least up to sign: Use the fact that the total space of  $\mathbb{P}V$  is homotopy equivalent to  $\mathbb{CP}^{\infty}$  and use the Gysin-sequence of the oriented sphere bundle  $\mathbb{S}^2 \to \mathbb{CP}^{\infty} \to \mathbb{HP}^{\infty}$ .

Now let us calculate the analytic MMM-classes (see 6.9.6) of sphere bundles.

**Proposition 5.2.7.** Let *E* be the unit sphere bundle in a 3-dimensional oriented real vector bundle *V*. Then for  $n \ge 1$ , the analytic MMM-classes are given by  $\lambda_n(E) = s_n(V \otimes_{\mathbb{R}} \mathbb{C})$ .

Proof. The only nontrivial summand in the index bundle defining the analytic classes is the vector bundle of holomorphic tangent vector fields to the fibers of E. Recall that  $H^0(\mathbb{CP}^1, \mathcal{O}_{T\mathbb{CP}^1}) = H^0(\mathbb{CP}^1, \mathcal{O}(2)) \cong \operatorname{Sym}^2(\mathbb{C}^2)$ , the vector space of homogeneous polynomials of degree 2 in 2 variables. The  $\mathbb{P}\operatorname{SL}_2(\mathbb{C})$ -action is given by substituting the variables. The restriction of this representation to the maximal compact subgroup  $\operatorname{SO}(3) \subset \mathbb{P}\operatorname{SL}_2(\mathbb{C})$ is the complexification of the defining representation of  $\operatorname{SO}(3)$ . If Q is a  $\mathbb{P}\operatorname{SL}_2(\mathbb{C})$ -principal bundle for E, it follows that  $\lambda_n(E) = s_n(Q \times_{\mathbb{P}\operatorname{SL}_2(\mathbb{C})} \operatorname{Sym}^2(\mathbb{C}^2)) = s_n(V \otimes_{\mathbb{R}} \mathbb{C})$ .

Because  $H^2(B \operatorname{SO}(3), \mathbb{Z}) = 0$ , we have  $\lambda_1 = 0$ . Note that the class  $c_3(V \otimes \mathbb{C})$  is 2-torsion, but does not vanish. We can compute  $\lambda_2 = -2c_2 = \kappa_2$ . For the determination of the values of the higher  $\lambda_n$ , we use the Newton formula ([36], p.195). In our case it states that  $\lambda_n + c_2\lambda_{n-2} - c_3\lambda_{n-3} = 0$ . Inductively, one can see that  $\lambda_n = \kappa_n$  for n = 0, 1, 2, 4 and that the difference is annihilated by 2. However, the difference vanishes only if  $c_3(V \otimes \mathbb{C}) = 0$ . The argument in the proof of Proposition 5.2.5 shows that this is the case for example if the surface bundle is the projective bundle of a 2-dimensional complex vector bundle.

## 5.3 Torus bundles

For torus bundles, things behave completely different. Let  $T = \mathbb{C}/(\mathbb{Z} \oplus i\mathbb{Z})$  be the standard torus. The starting point for our considerations is the short exact sequence of topological groups

$$\operatorname{Diff}_0(T) \to \operatorname{Diff}(T) \to \operatorname{SL}_2(\mathbb{Z}),$$

where  $\operatorname{Diff}_0(T)$  is the group of diffeomorphisms homotopic to the identity and the homomorphism  $\operatorname{Diff}(T) \to \operatorname{SL}_2(\mathbb{Z})$  is induced by the action on the first homology group of T. There is a splitting  $\operatorname{SL}_2(\mathbb{Z}) \to \operatorname{Diff}(T)$  given by the linear action of  $\operatorname{SL}_2(\mathbb{Z})$  on  $\mathbb{C}^2$ . Thus there is semidirect product decomposition  $\operatorname{Diff}(T) \cong \operatorname{Diff}_0(T) \rtimes \operatorname{SL}_2(\mathbb{Z})$ , where  $\operatorname{SL}_2(\mathbb{Z})$  acts on  $\operatorname{Diff}_0(T)$  by conjugation. Since T is a connected Lie group, there is a homomorphism  $j: T \to \operatorname{Diff}_0(T)$ , which is a homotopy equivalence by the work of Earle and Eells (2.1.2). Moreover, j is  $\operatorname{SL}_2(\mathbb{Z})$ -equivariant. Hence, the short exact sequence above is homotopically equivalent to the right-split exact sequence

$$T \to T \rtimes \mathrm{SL}_2(\mathbb{Z}) \to \mathrm{SL}_2(\mathbb{Z}).$$

It follows that the homotopy groups of  $B \operatorname{Diff}(T)$  are given by

$$\pi_r(B\operatorname{Diff}(T)) \cong \begin{cases} \operatorname{SL}_2(\mathbb{Z}), & r = 1, \\ \mathbb{Z}^2, & r = 2, \\ 0, & \text{otherwise.} \end{cases}$$
(5.3.1)

Although  $\text{Diff}(T) \simeq \text{SL}_2(\mathbb{Z}) \times T$ , the classifying space is *not* a product. Instead we have:

**Proposition 5.3.2.** The action of  $\pi_1(B \operatorname{Diff}(T)) = \operatorname{SL}_2(\mathbb{Z})$  on the second homotopy group  $\mathbb{Z}^2$  is given by the natural action of  $\operatorname{SL}_2(\mathbb{Z})$ .

More precisely,  $B \operatorname{Diff}(T) \simeq E \operatorname{SL}_2(\mathbb{Z}) \times_{\operatorname{SL}_2(\mathbb{Z})} BT$  and the total space of the universal surface bundle is equivalent to  $E \operatorname{SL}_2(\mathbb{Z}) \times_{\operatorname{SL}_2(\mathbb{Z})} ET$ .

**Proof:** It follows from the general construction of classifying spaces for topological groups G, that EG is not only a right G-space, but also a left Aut(G)-space, both actions commute and  $EG \rightarrow BG$  is Aut(G)-equivariant. See [49] or any other source on the simplicial construction of EG and BG for details.

Because  $SL_2(\mathbb{Z}) = Aut(T)$ , there is a torus bundle

$$E \operatorname{SL}_2(\mathbb{Z}) \times_{\operatorname{SL}_2(\mathbb{Z})} ET \to E \operatorname{SL}_2(\mathbb{Z}) \times_{\operatorname{SL}_2(\mathbb{Z})} BT.$$

I claim that this is a universal one, or, equivalently, that its classifying map

$$E \operatorname{SL}_2(\mathbb{Z}) \times_{\operatorname{SL}_2(\mathbb{Z})} BT \to B \operatorname{Diff}(T)$$

is a homotopy equivalence. This is clear, since if  $\Gamma$  is a discrete group acting on another group A, then the classifying space of the semidirect product  $G = A \rtimes \Gamma$  is given by  $E\Gamma \times_{\Gamma} BA$ .

**Lemma 5.3.3.** If  $\pi : E \to B$  is a bundle of complex tori, then  $\pi^*V_1(E) \cong \Lambda_v(E)$  (the notations are explained in section 2.4).

**Proof:**  $\pi^*V_1(E)$  is the complex vector bundle on E whose fiber at a point  $e \in E$  consists of all holomorphic 1-forms  $\omega$  on the Riemann surface  $E_{\pi(e)}$ . Since the vector space of holomorphic 1-forms on a torus is 1-dimensional and since a holomorphic 1-form on a torus does not have a zero, the evaluation map  $\pi^*V_1(E) \to \Lambda_v E$ ;  $(\omega, e) \mapsto \omega(e)$  is an isomorphism.  $\Box$ 

**Corollary 5.3.4.** For torus bundles, all topological MMM-classes  $\kappa_n$  vanish (in integral cohomology).

**Proof:** Lemma 5.3.3 implies that  $c_1(T_v E) = \pi^* c_1(V_1)$ . Thus  $\kappa_n(\pi) = \pi_!((c_1(T_v E))^{n+1}) = \pi_!(\pi^*(c_1(V_1))^n c_1(T_v E) = (c_1(V_1))^n \pi_!(c_1(T_v E)).$ But  $\pi_!(c_1(T_v E)) = \kappa_0 = 0$  (which is the Euler number of the fibers).

For the computation of the symplectic classes and of the analytic MMM-classes, we need a description of the Hodge bundles of the universal torus bundle.

For tori, one has dim  $V_n = 1$  for all n, and the the natural homomorphisms

$$V_k \otimes V_l \to V_{k+l} \tag{5.3.5}$$

are isomorphisms of 1-dimensional vector bundles. Thus it is sufficient to work out the case of the bundle  $V_1$ .

Let  $\phi : B \operatorname{Diff}(T) \to BU(1)$  be the classifying map for the first Hodge bundle. Because it is induced by the action of  $\operatorname{Diff}(T)$  on  $H^1(T;\mathbb{Z})$ , we conclude that  $\phi$  factors through the map  $B \operatorname{SL}_2(\mathbb{Z}) \to B \operatorname{SL}_2(\mathbb{R}) \simeq BU(1)$ . Thus it suffices to consider torus bundles with a section, i.e. with structural group  $\operatorname{SL}_2(\mathbb{Z})$ . The cohomology of  $\operatorname{SL}_2(\mathbb{Z})$  is well-known. In the fanciest language, the result is **Proposition 5.3.6.** The abelianization of  $SL_2(\mathbb{Z})$  is a map  $SL_2(\mathbb{Z}) \to \mathbb{Z}/12$ . The induced map  $B SL_2(\mathbb{Z}) \to B(\mathbb{Z}/12)$  is a HZ-localization in the sense of homotopy theory (see [11]). The compositions  $SL_2(\mathbb{Z}) \to \mathbb{Z}/12 \to SL_2(\mathbb{R})$  (take the standard representation of  $\mathbb{Z}/12$  on  $\mathbb{R}^2$ ) and  $SL_2(\mathbb{Z}) \to Sl_2(\mathbb{R})$  give homotopic maps on the level of classifying spaces.

The proof relies on the well-known fact that  $SL_2(\mathbb{Z})$  is isomorphic to the amalgamated product  $\mathbb{Z}/4 *_{\mathbb{Z}/2} \mathbb{Z}/6$  and the Mayer-Vietoris sequence for group cohomology.

As a consequence,  $H^*(B \operatorname{SL}_2(\mathbb{Z}); \mathbb{Z}) \cong H^*(B\mathbb{Z}/12; \mathbb{Z}) \cong \mathbb{Z}[u]/(12u)$ ,  $\operatorname{deg}(u) = 2$ . The generator u can be chosen as the Euler class of the representation  $\operatorname{SL}_2(\mathbb{Z}) \to \operatorname{GL}_2^+(\mathbb{R})$ .

Let us compute the first symplectic class  $\gamma_1 \in H^2(B \operatorname{SL}_2(\mathbb{Z}); \mathbb{Z})$ . The bundle of first cohomology groups  $E \operatorname{SL}_2(\mathbb{Z}) \times_{\operatorname{SL}_2(\mathbb{Z})} H^1(T, \mathbb{R}) = E \operatorname{SL}_2(\mathbb{Z}) \times_{\operatorname{SL}_2(\mathbb{Z})} \mathbb{R}^2$  has Euler class u, by definition. The choice a complex structure on the fibers of the universal torus bundle gives rise to a complex structure on this real oriented vector bundle. With this complex structure, the resulting complex line bundle is isomorphic to the first Hodge bundle. Thus

**Corollary 5.3.7.** We have the equality  $\gamma_1 = u \in H^2(B \operatorname{SL}_2(\mathbb{Z}), \mathbb{Z})$ .

Now we are able to compute the analytic MMM-classes (see 6.9.6) of torus bundles. The result is

**Proposition 5.3.8.** For a torus bundle, we have  $\lambda_n = (-1)^n (1-2^n) u^n$ .

This is a trivial consequence of the definitions, of 5.3.5, 5.3.6 and 5.3.7.

Next, we turn to the question of the existence of a spin structure on a torus bundle. The odd spin structure  $\sigma$  on a torus is fixed by any diffeomorphism, because it is the unique spin structure with Atiyah invariant 1. It can be described as the trivial holomorphic line bundle or as the spin structure which corresponds to the Lie group framing on T under the isomorphism  $\Omega_2^{fr} \cong \Omega_2^{\text{Spin}}$ . This spin structure is called the *odd spin structure*.

**Corollary 5.3.9.** A torus bundle  $\rightarrow B$  has a spin structure if the bundle  $V_1(E)$  is a spin vector bundle. Thus, a torus bundle has a spin structure if the first symplectic class  $\gamma_1$  is divisible by two.

**Proof:** Apply Lemma 5.3.3.

**Proposition 5.3.10.** If a torus bundle has an odd spin structure, then  $\gamma_1$  is divisible by 2.

**Proof:** The space of holomorphic sections of an odd spin structure S on a complex torus T is one-dimensional and the map  $H^0(T, \mathcal{O}_S) \otimes H^0(T, \mathcal{O}_S) \to H^0(T, \Lambda_T)$  is an isomorphism. Therefore the line bundle  $V_1$  on the base of the surface bundle is spin.

**Proposition 5.3.11.** For the odd spin structure  $\sigma$  on T, we can identify the classes c and  $\gamma_1 \pmod{2} \in H^2(B \operatorname{Diff}(T; \sigma); \mathbb{F}_2).$ 

**Proof:** This is not completely obvious from Propositions 5.3.9 and 5.3.10, because one needs to guarantee that the spin structure provided by 5.3.9 is odd. This follows from the computation of  $H^2(B \operatorname{Diff}(T); \mathbb{F}_2) \cong H^2(B \operatorname{SL}_2(\mathbb{Z}); \mathbb{F}_2) \cong \mathbb{Z}/2$ . The universal class  $\gamma_1$  is nonzero (see 5.3.7) and the class c is also nonzero (see 5.1.7).

**Corollary 5.3.12.** A torus bundle has an odd spin structure if and only if  $\gamma_1 = 0 \pmod{2}$ .

The case of *even* spin structures seems to be more difficult.

## 6 The stable homotopy theory of Riemann surfaces

#### 6.1 The Becker-Gottlieb-Transfer

In this section,  $\pi : E \to B$  will always denote a smooth bundle of *d*-dimensional closed manifolds. The fiber is denoted by M; and we denote by Q the associated Diff(M)-principal bundle. Thus  $E = Q \times_{\text{Diff}(M)} M$  and  $T_v E = Q \times_{\text{Diff}(M)} TM$ . In this section, we make no assumptions on the orientability of M; this will enter the picture later. Our first goal is to recapitulate the definition of the Becker-Gottlieb transfer (see [9]). Becker and Gottlieb gave the definition only in the special case of a compact structural group; this restriction is unnecessary. We do not assume that B is a manifold, we merely want to assume that Bis not too large. More prescisely:

Assumption 6.1.1. There exists an exhaustion<sup>3</sup>  $B^{(0)} \subset B^{(1)} \subset \ldots$  of B and there exist continuous maps  $j_n : E^{(n)} := \pi^{-1}(B^{(n)}) \to \mathbb{R}^n$ , such that the following conditions are satisfied.

- For any  $x \in B^{(n)}$ ,  $j_n|_{\pi^{-1}(x)}$  is a smooth embedding and all derivatives of  $j_n$  in fiberdirection are continuous.
- The maps  $j_n$  are compatible, i.e.  $j_{n+1}|_{E^{(n)}} = j_n$ .

Lemma 6.1.2. If B is a countable CW-complex, then 6.1.1 is satisfied.

**Proof:** Consider the space  $\operatorname{Emb}(M, \mathbb{R}^n)$  of smooth embeddings, endowed with the weak Whitney  $C^{\infty}$ -topology. It has a continuous action of the diffeomorphism group  $\operatorname{Diff}(M)$ . By Whitney's embedding theorem,  $\operatorname{Emb}(M, \mathbb{R}^n)$  is *r*-connected if  $2d + 2 + r \leq n$ . Thus there exists a section in this bundle over the space  $B^{(n-2d-2)}$ , which can be chosen to extend a given section over smaller skeleta. On the other hand, a section over  $B^{(n)}$  is nothing else than a map  $j_n$  whose existence is asserted in the lemma.

**Remark 6.1.3.** The space  $\operatorname{Emb}(M; \mathbb{R}^{\infty}) := \operatorname{colim}_{n \to \infty} \operatorname{Emb}(M; \mathbb{R}^n)$  is weakly contractible by Whitney's embedding theorem (i.e.: all homotopy groups are trivial) and it carries a free action of  $\operatorname{Diff}(M)$ .

One can show that the quotient map  $\operatorname{Emb}(M; \mathbb{R}^{\infty}) \to \operatorname{Emb}(M; \mathbb{R}^{\infty}) / \operatorname{Diff}(M)$  is a  $\operatorname{Diff}(M)$ -principal bundle. Thus  $\operatorname{Emb}(M; \mathbb{R}^{\infty})$  is a model for  $E \operatorname{Diff}(M)$ . It follows that the universal smooth M-bundle satisfies Assumption 6.1.1.

With the given exhaustion of B and E, we have models for the suspension spectrum of B and E. Namely, we set

$$(\widetilde{\Sigma^{\infty}B_+})_n := \Sigma^n B_+^{(n)}$$

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>We cannot assume that all  $B^{(i)}$  are nonempty.

and similarly for E. There is a map of spectra  $\Sigma^{\infty}B_+ \to \Sigma^{\infty}B_+$ , which is a homotopy equivalence in the sense of [2]. Consequently, our notation will not distinguish between these two spectra. Next, we define the *Thom spectrum* of the vertical normal bundle. The embedding  $j_n : E^{(n)} \to \mathbb{R}^n$  realizes the vertical tangent bundle  $T_v E^{(n)}$  as a *d*-dimensional subbundle of  $E^{(n)} \times \mathbb{R}^n$ . We now define the *stable vertical normal bundle*  $-T_v E$  of  $\pi$ . It is not an honest vector bundle, but only a stable vector bundle.

**Definition 6.1.4.** Let  $X = (X_0 \subset X_1 \subset X_2 \subset ...)$  be an infinite sequence of topological spaces. Then a *stable real vector bundle* of dimension r on X is a sequence of real vector bundles  $V_n \to X_n$  of dimension n + r, together with a choice of isomorphisms  $V_n \oplus \mathbb{R} \cong V_{n+1}|_{X_n}$ .

**Definition 6.1.5.** Let X be a sequence of spaces as above and let V be a stable vector bundle. Then the *Thom spectrum*  $\mathbb{T}\mathbf{h}(V)$  is the spectrum whose *n*th space is the Thom space  $\mathrm{Th}(V_n)$  of  $V_n$  and whose structural maps are given by the inclusions

$$\Sigma \operatorname{Th}(V_n) \cong \operatorname{Th}(V_n \oplus \mathbb{R}) \cong \operatorname{Th}(V_{n+1}|_{X_{n+1}}) \to \operatorname{Th}(V_{n+1}).$$

We set  $X_n := E^{(n)}$  and

$$(-T_v E)_n := (T_v E^{(n)})^{\perp} \subset E^{(n)} \times \mathbb{R}^n$$

This is an (n-d)-dimensional vector bundle; and due to the compatibility condition in Assumption 6.1.1, there are obvious bundle isomorphisms  $\epsilon_n : (-T_v E)_n \oplus \mathbb{R} \cong (-T_v E)_{n+1}|_{E^{(n)}}$ . Thus the vector bundles  $(-T_v E)_n$  and the isomorphisms define a stable vector bundle  $-T_v E$  of dimension -d.

The inclusion of  $(-T_v E)_n$  into  $E^{(n)} \times \mathbb{R}^n$  as a subbundle yields a map of spectra

inc : 
$$\mathbb{T}\mathbf{h}(-T_v E) \to \Sigma^{\infty} E_+.$$

Now we choose tubular neighborhoods of the submanifold  $j_n(E_x)$  for all  $x \in B$ . This can be done in a continuous way, since the space of all tubular neighborhoods is a contractible space (this follows from [25], Theorem 5.3 on p. 112). The result is an open embedding of  $(-T_v E)_n$  into  $B^{(n)} \times \mathbb{R}^n$ . The Pontryagin-Thom collapse construction now gives a map

$$\Sigma^n B^{(n)}_+ \to \mathbb{T}\mathbf{h}(-T_v E)_n,$$

which yields a map of spectra

$$\operatorname{prt}: \Sigma^{\infty} B_+ \to \mathbb{T}\mathbf{h}(-T_v E),$$

the *pretransfer*.

**Definition 6.1.6.** The *Becker-Gottlieb-transfer* is the map of spectra

$$\operatorname{tr} = \operatorname{tr}_{\pi} := \operatorname{inc} \circ \operatorname{prt} : \Sigma^{\infty} B_{+} \to \Sigma^{\infty} E_{+}$$

It is not difficult to show that different choices of the exhaustion and of the embeddings in Assumption 6.1.1 leads to homotopy equivalent Thom spectra and to homotopic transfers.

#### 6.2 The pushforward

In this section, we let A be a multiplicative cohomology theory alias a ring spectrum. Let  $u \in \tilde{A}^r(\mathbb{S}^r)$  be the *r*th suspension of the class  $1 \in \tilde{A}^0(\mathbb{S}^0)$ . Let  $V \to X$  be a vector bundle of rank r. For  $x \in X$ , we can identify  $V_x$  with  $\mathbb{R}^r$ . This gives a map of Thom spaces  $j_x : \mathbb{S}^r \to \mathrm{Th}(V)$ . An *A*-orientation or an *A*-Thom class of V is a class  $t \in \tilde{A}^r(\mathrm{Th}(V))$ , such that for any point  $x \in X$ ,  $j_x^*t = \pm u$  (see [46], Chapter V, for information about this). An *A*-oriented vector bundle  $V \to X$  has an *A*-theory *Euler class*: Let  $s : X \to \mathrm{Th}(V)$  be the zero section and set

$$\chi_A(E) := s^* t \in A^d(X).$$

The notion of an A-orientation can be generalized to stable vector bundles, but this requires another notion which is important in the present context, the spectrum cohomology. Let  $\mathbf{Z} = (Z_n, z_n)_{n \in \mathbb{N}}$  be a spectrum. Then the structural maps  $z_n : \Sigma Z_n \to Z_{n+1}$  induce maps  $A^{r+n+1}(Z_{n+1}) \to A^{n+d+1}(\Sigma Z_n)$ , which can be composed with the suspension isomorphism  $A^{n+d+1}(\Sigma Z_n) \cong A^{n+d}(Z_n)$  to give maps  $A^{r+n+1}(Z_{n+1}) \to A^{r+n}(Z_n)$ . The spectrum cohomology of  $\mathbf{Z}$  is the inverse limit of this inverse system. For suspension spectra  $\Sigma^{\infty} X_+$ , the spectrum cohomology agrees with the cohomology of the space X, and we will not distiguish between them.

There are maps (see [46], p. 70 ff)

$$\sigma: A^{r}(\mathbf{Z}) \to A^{r}(\Omega^{\infty}\mathbf{Z}).$$
(6.2.1)

If X is a space, **Z** a spectrum and  $\phi : \Sigma^{\infty} X_{+} \to \mathbf{Z}$  a map, then denote by  $\phi^{\flat} : X \to \Omega^{\infty} \mathbf{Z}$  the adjoint of  $\phi$ . It is trivial to check from the definitions that the diagam

is commutative.

We say that an A-orientation of the d-dimensional stable vector bundle V on X is a spectrum cohomology class  $t \in \tilde{A}^d(\mathbb{T}\mathbf{h}(V))$ , which restricts to an A-orientation of the vector bundle  $V_n$  for every  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ .

A stable vector bundle does *not* have an Euler class, because there is no spectrum map  $\Sigma^{\infty}X_{+} \to \mathbb{T}\mathbf{h}(V)$  induced by the zero-section.

A-orientations give rise to Thom isomorphisms  $A^*(\Sigma^{\infty}X_+) \to \tilde{A}^{*+d}(\mathbb{T}\mathbf{h}(V)).$ 

We say that a manifold bundle  $\pi : E \to B$  is A-oriented if its vertical tangent bundle  $T_v E$  is A-oriented. By [46], Proposition 1.10, p. 309, this is equivalent to the existence of an A-orientation of the stable vertical normal bundle of E.

Let  $\pi: E \to B$  be an A-oriented bundle of d-dimensional smooth manifolds. Then the Thom class defines an isomorphism

$$\Phi: A^*(\Sigma^{\infty} E_+) \to A^{*-d}(\mathbb{T}\mathbf{h}(-T_v E)).$$

**Definition 6.2.3.** If the vertical tangent bundle of  $\pi$  is orientable with respect to the cohomology theory A, then the A-theory pushforward (or umkehr map) is

$$\pi_! := \operatorname{prt}^* \circ \Phi : A^*(E) \to A^{*-d}(B).$$

The relation between the pushforward map and the Becker-Gottlieb transfer can be stated as follows:

**Proposition 6.2.4.** ([9]) For all  $x \in A^*(E)$ , one has

$$\operatorname{trf}^*(x) = \pi_!(\chi_A(T_v E)x).$$

The proof in [9] is only formulated for bundles with compact structural groups, but the proof easily generalizes if one uses the definition of the Becker-Gottlieb transfer given in this chapter.

The issue of the multiplicative behavior of the transfer is slightly subtle. In general, the cohomology  $A^*(E)$  does not admit a cup-product, although A is a ring spectrum. However, if there is a diagonal  $E \to E \wedge E$ , then there is a multiplication on  $A^*(E)$ . This happens if E is the suspension spectrum of a space; and then the product in spectrum cohomology agrees with the usual cup-product. If  $f : E \to F$  is a map of spectra with diagonals, then f induces a ring homomorphism if f commutes with the diagonals. This happens, for example, if f is of the form  $f = \Sigma^{\infty}g$  for a map g between spaces. The transfer is not of this form and does not commute with the diagonals. So we cannot expect that  $\operatorname{trf}^*(xy) = \operatorname{trf}^*(x) \operatorname{trf}^*(y)$ . In particular, we cannot expect that  $\operatorname{trf}^*(1) = 1$ .

## 6.3 The universal Becker-Gottlieb transfer

Now we discuss the universal Becker-Gottlieb transfer. Let  $r : \mathbf{F} \to B \operatorname{GL}_d(\mathbb{R})$  be a Serre fibration, for example  $\mathbf{F} = B \operatorname{SO}(d)$  or  $\mathbf{F} = B \operatorname{Spin}(d)$ . Then we define a spectrum  $\mathbb{G}_{-d}^{\mathbf{F}}$  as follows.

Let  $\operatorname{Gr}_d(\mathbb{R}^n)$  be the Grassmann manifold of *d*-dimensional (unoriented) subspaces of  $\mathbb{R}^n$ . Let  $\operatorname{Gr}_d(\mathbb{R}^n) \times \mathbb{R}^n \supset U_{d,n} \to \operatorname{Gr}_d(\mathbb{R}^n)$  be the tautological *d*-dimensional vector bundle, which is classified by a map  $\lambda$  :  $\operatorname{Gr}_d(\mathbb{R}^n) \to B \operatorname{GL}_d(\mathbb{R})$  and let  $U_{n,d}^{\perp}$  be the orthogonal complement of  $U_{d,n}$ , which is (n-d)-dimensional. Define  $B_{n,d}$  to be the pullback in the diagram

It is obvious that there are inclusion maps  $B_{n,d} \to B_{n+1,d}$  and that the vector bundles  $\theta_{n,d}^* U_{d,n}^{\perp} \to B_{n,d}$  form a stable vector bundle  $\theta^* U_d^{\perp}$  of dimension -d. Of course, replacing the general linear groups by the orthogonal groups does not change anything essential.

**Definition 6.3.2.** ([19]) Let **F** be a fibration as above. The spectrum  $\mathbb{G}_{-d}^{\mathbf{F}}$  is the Thom spectrum of the stable vector bundle  $\theta^* U_d^{\perp}$ .

The maps  $\theta_{n,d}^* U_{d,n}^{\perp} \to \theta_{n,d}^* U_{d,n}^{\perp} \oplus \theta_{n,d}^* U_{d,n} = B_{n,d} \times \mathbb{R}^n \to \mathbf{F} \times \mathbb{R}^n$  define a map of spectra

$$\omega: \mathbb{G}_{-d}^{\mathbf{F}} \to \Sigma^{\infty} \mathbf{F}_{+}. \tag{6.3.3}$$

Now we consider a manifold bundle  $\pi : E \to B$  with *d*-dimensional fibers. A *tangential* **F**-structure on *E* is a lift *s* 



of the classifying map of the vertical tangent bundle of E. Examples are ordinary orientations of the vertical tangent bundle and spin structures on the vertical tangent bundle. A tangential **F**-structure defines a map of spectra  $\eta : \mathbb{T}\mathbf{h}(-T_v E) \to \mathbb{G}^{\mathbf{F}}_{-d}$  as follows. The Gauß map  $T_v E : E^{(n)} \to \operatorname{Gr}_d(\mathbb{R}^n)$  defined by the embedding  $\operatorname{Gr}_d(\mathbb{R}^n)$  from Assumption 6.1.1 together with the lift s gives us a map  $E^{(n)} \to B_{n,d}$ , which is covered by a bundle map  $(-T_v E)_n \to \theta_{n,d}^* U_{d,n}^{\perp}$ . This is a map of stable vector bundles. Thomification yields the desired map of spectra.

Moreover, the tangential *F*-structure on *E* defines a spectrum map  $\Sigma^{\infty} E_+ \to \Sigma^{\infty} \mathbf{F}_+$ , also denoted by *s*. The diagram

is obviously commutative. The adjoint of the map  $\alpha^{\sharp} := \eta \circ \operatorname{prt} : \Sigma^{\infty} B_{+} \to \mathbb{G}_{-d}^{\mathbf{F}}$  will be denoted by

$$\alpha = \alpha_{(E,\pi,B)} : B \to \Omega^{\infty} \mathbb{G}_{-d}^{\mathbf{F}}$$

We call this map the Madsen-Tillmann map of the manifold bundle with **F**-structure  $\pi$ . Now we assume that **F**-bundles are  $A^*$ -oriented, in other words, there exists an  $A^*$ -orientation of the universal bundle  $r^*E(\operatorname{GL}_d(\mathbb{R}), \mathbb{R}^d)$  on **F**. If  $\pi : E \to B$  is a d-manifold bundle with a tangential **F**-structure and if  $c \in A^l(\mathbf{F})$  is a characteristic class, then we can define generalized MMM-classes by the formula

$$\pi_!(\chi_A(T_vE) \cdot c(T_vE)) \in A^{l-d}(B).$$

The relation between the generalized MMM-classes and the transfer is now easy to explain.

#### Proposition 6.3.5.

$$\pi_!(\chi_A(T_vE) \cdot c(T_vE)) = \eta^* \circ \operatorname{prt}^* \circ \omega^*(c).$$

This follows from a trivial diagram chase in the diagram 6.3.4 and from Proposition 6.2.4. The case d = 2 and  $\mathbf{F} = SO(2)$  is most important for us. If we set  $A = H\mathbb{Z}$  and  $c = z^n = c_1^n$ , we obtain

$$\kappa_n = (\alpha^{\sharp})^* (\omega^* z^n). \tag{6.3.6}$$

We emphasize again that  $(\alpha^{\sharp})^* \circ \omega^*$  is *not* multiplicative.

## 6.4 Relation to bordism theory

A particularly important case of a fibration  $\mathbf{F} \to B \operatorname{GL}_d(\mathbb{R})$  arises from *stable fibrations* over  $B \operatorname{GL}(\mathbb{R})$ . By this term, we mean a sequence of spaces  $F_d$ , fibrations  $r_d : F_d \to B \operatorname{GL}_d(\mathbb{R})$  and maps  $i_d : F_d \to F_{d+1}$ , making the following diagram strictly commutative

The examples one should have in mind are  $F_d := B \operatorname{SO}(d)$  and  $F_d := B \operatorname{Spin}(d)$ . Although it is inprecise notation, we will write  $\mathbb{G}_{-d}^{\mathbf{F}} := \mathbb{G}_{-d}^{F_d}$ ,  $\mathbb{G}_{-d}^{\operatorname{SO}} := \mathbb{G}_{-d}^{B \operatorname{SO}(d)}$  and  $\mathbb{G}_{-d}^{\operatorname{Spin}} := \mathbb{G}_{-d}^{B \operatorname{Spin}(d)}$ , because there is no danger of confusion. One can define maps of spectra

$$\iota_d: \mathbb{G}_d^{\mathbf{F}} \to \Sigma \mathbb{G}_{-(d+1)}^{\mathbf{F}}$$

by the following construction. Adding the span of the last unit vector  $e_{n+1} \in \mathbb{R}^{n+1}$  gives a map  $\operatorname{Gr}_d(\mathbb{R}^n) \to \operatorname{Gr}_{d+1}(\mathbb{R}^{n+1})$ , which is covered by a bundle map  $U_{d,n}^{\perp} \to U_{d+1,n+1}^{\perp}$ . Using the commutative diagrams 6.4.1 and

$$\begin{array}{cccc}
\operatorname{Gr}_{d}(\mathbb{R}^{n}) & \longrightarrow B \operatorname{GL}_{d}(\mathbb{R}) \\
& & \downarrow \\
\operatorname{Gr}_{d+1}(\mathbb{R}^{n+1}) & \longrightarrow B \operatorname{GL}_{d+1}(\mathbb{R}),
\end{array}$$
(6.4.2)

one constructs maps

$$(\mathbb{G}_{-d}^{\mathbf{F}})_n = \operatorname{Th}(\theta_{n,d}^* U_{d,n}^{\perp}) \to \operatorname{Th}(\theta_{n+1,d+1}^* U_{d+1,n+1}^{\perp}) = (\mathbb{G}_{-(d+1)}^{\mathbf{F}})_{n+1}$$

which are compatible with the structural maps of the spectra and give the requested map.

#### **Proposition 6.4.3.** ([19])

- 1. The homotopy colimit of the sequence  $\mathbb{G}_{-d}^{\mathbf{F}} \to \Sigma \mathbb{G}_{-(d+1)}^{\mathbf{F}} \to \Sigma^2 \mathbb{G}_{-(d+2)}^{\mathbf{F}} \dots$  is the universal Thom spectrum  $\Sigma^{-d} M \mathbf{F}$ .
- 2. There is a cofiber sequence of spectra

$$\Sigma^{-1}\mathbb{G}^{\mathbf{F}}_{-(d-1)} \xrightarrow{\iota_d} \mathbb{G}^{\mathbf{F}}_{-d} \xrightarrow{\omega} \Sigma^{\infty} \mathbf{F}_{d,+},$$

where  $\omega$  is the map described in 6.3.3.

The proof can be found (modulo details) in [19]. It is also instructive to make the composite of all the  $\iota$ 's explicit. This is a map  $\lambda : \mathbb{G}_{-d}^{\mathbf{F}} \to \Sigma^{-d} M \mathbf{F}$ . The bundle  $\theta_{n,d}^* U_{n,d}^{\perp} \to B_{n,d}$  is an n-d-dimensional vector bundle which has an  $\mathbf{F}$ -structure, that is a lift



On the level of Thom spaces, we obtain a map

$$(\mathbb{G}_{-d}^{\mathbf{F}})_n := \operatorname{Th}(\theta_{n,d}^* U_{n,d}^{\perp}) \to \operatorname{Th}(r_{n-d}^* E(\operatorname{GL}_{n-d}(\mathbb{R}); \mathbb{R}^{n-d})) = (M\mathbf{F})_{n-d} = (\Sigma^{-d}M\mathbf{F})_n,$$

which define the spectrum map  $\lambda$ .

Let us consider the whole construction for the case that the base space B is a point. Let M be a d-dimensional manifold with a normal and tangential **F**-structure and let  $\pi : M \to *$  be the constant map. Then we have maps

$$\Sigma^{\infty}B_{+} = \Sigma^{\infty} \mathbb{S}^{0} \xrightarrow{\alpha^{\sharp}_{(M,\pi,*)}} \mathbb{G}^{\mathbf{F}}_{-d} \xrightarrow{\lambda} \Sigma^{-d}M\mathbf{F}, \qquad (6.4.4)$$

or in other words; an element in  $\pi_d(M\mathbf{F})$ , which is the bordism group  $\Omega_d^{\mathbf{F}}$  of *d*-dimensional manifolds with a normal **F**-structure by the Pontryagin-Thom theorem. The following is not surprising at all; and the proof is merely an unwinding of all the definitions.

**Proposition 6.4.5.** The element in  $\pi_d(M\mathbf{F}) \cong \Omega_d^{\mathbf{F}}$  represented by the map 6.4.4 corresponds to the **F**-bordism class of the manifold M under the Pontryagin-Thom isomorphism.

Finally, one can consider  $\mathbb{G}_{-2}^{SO}$  as  $\mathbb{G}_{-2}^U$ , because U(1) = SO(2). Thus one also has a map  $\lambda : \mathbb{G}_{-2}^{SO} \to \Sigma^{-2} \mathbf{MU}$ .

It is clear that all constructions in this and the preceding section are natural with respect to maps of fibrations over  $B \operatorname{GL}(\mathbb{R})$ .

#### 6.5 The theorems of Tillmann, Madsen and Weiss

From now on, we let d = 2. There are two examples for  $\mathbf{F}$  which play a role in this work. The first one is  $\mathbf{F} = BSO(2) = \mathbb{CP}^{\infty}$  where the fibration  $\mathbf{F} \to B \operatorname{GL}_2(\mathbb{R})$  is the classifying map for the universal complex line bundle, considered as a real vector bundle. We denote the resulting spectrum by  $\mathbb{G}_{-2}^{SO}$ . In [33], it is denoted by  $\mathbb{CP}_{-1}^{\infty}$  for some reasons. With this choice of  $\mathbf{F}$ , an  $\mathbf{F}$ -structure on a surface bundle  $E \to B$  is nothing else than an orientation of the vertical tangent bundle. If M is an oriented closed smooth surface of genus g, then smooth M-bundles on B are classified by maps  $B \to B \operatorname{Diff}^+(M)$ , which is homotopy equivalent to  $B\Gamma_g$  for  $g \geq 2$ . Because of the remark 6.1.3, the constructions above can be applied to the universal surface bundle, and we obtain a map

$$\alpha: B \operatorname{Diff}(M) \to \Omega^{\infty} \mathbb{G}^{SO}_{-2},$$

which was first studied in [32]. The group of components  $\pi_0(\Omega^{\infty}\mathbb{G}^{SO}_{-2})$  is isomorphic to  $\mathbb{Z}$ ; and the map  $\alpha$  maps  $B \operatorname{Diff}(M)$  into the component belonging to g-1 (or 1-g, depending on the choice of the isomorphism), see [18]. The Madsen-Weiss theorem is the following

**Theorem 6.5.1.** ([33], [19]) If 2k < g, then the map  $\alpha_* : H_k(B \operatorname{Diff}(F)) \to H_k(\Omega_{g-1}^{\infty} \mathbb{G}_{-2}^{SO})$  is an isomorphism.

The range of dimensions in which  $\alpha$  is an equivalence is precisely the range of stability in Harer's stability theorem ([22]), which is a crucial ingredient for the proof of Theorem 6.5.1 and the only part of the proof that does not apply to more general situations. I will now explain Harer's theorem.

For the proof of both, the Harer stability and the Madsen-Weiss theorem, it is crucial to consider surfaces with boundary. Let  $M_{g,n}$  be a connected surface of genus g with  $n \ge 0$ boundary components and let  $\text{Diff}(M_{g,n}; \partial M_{g,n})$  be the group of all orientation-preserving diffeomorphisms of  $M_{g,n}$  which fix the boundary pointwise. If  $g \ge 2$  or  $n \ge 1$ , then the unit component of these groups are contractible ([15], [27]) and the groups  $\Gamma_{g,n} := \pi_0(\text{Diff}(M_{g,n}; \partial M_{g,n}))$  of components are the mapping class groups. There are stabilization maps

- 1.  $\Gamma_{g,n} \to \Gamma_{g,n-1}$  for  $n \ge 1$  (glue in a disc in one boundary component and extend diffeomorphisms by the identity);
- 2.  $\Gamma_{g,n} \to \Gamma_{g,n+1}$  for  $n \ge 1$  (glue in a pair of pants along one boundary component);
- 3.  $\Gamma_{g,n} \to \Gamma_{g+1,n-1}$  for  $n \ge 2$  (glue in a pair of pants along two boundary components).

Harer's stability theorem asserts that all these maps are  $H_k(;\mathbb{Z})$ -isomorphisms as long as 2k < g. The composition of the last two stabilization maps is a map  $\Gamma_{g,n} \to \Gamma_{g+1,n}$  (which is obtained by glueing in a torus with two boundary components) and one can define the infinite mapping class group

$$\Gamma_{\infty,n} := \operatorname{colim}_{g \to \infty} \Gamma_{g,n}$$

The map  $\alpha$  can be constructed also for surfaces with boundary and this can be done in a way that it extends to a map  $B\Gamma_{\infty,n} \to \Omega^{\infty} \mathbb{G}_{-2}^{SO}$ .

It is a well-known theorem that the mapping class groups are perfect if  $g \geq 3$ , i.e.  $H_1(B\Gamma_{q,n};\mathbb{Z}) = 0$ . It was first proven by Powell ([42]). A simpler proof was given by Harer [21]. It also follows from the Madsen-Weiss theorem. Thus one can apply Quillen's plus construction (see [1]). The result is a simply connected space  $B\Gamma_{q,n}^+$  and an integral homology equivalence  $B\Gamma_{g,n} \to B\Gamma_{g,n}^+$ . Quillen's plus construction is functorial (up to homotopy). The glueing map  $\Gamma_{\infty,n} \to \Gamma_{\infty,n-1}$  are homology equivalences by Harer's theorem and consequently, we obtain homotopy equivalences

$$B\Gamma^+_{\infty,n} \to B\Gamma^+_{\infty,n-1}$$

and so we can write  $B\Gamma_{\infty}^+ := B\Gamma_{\infty,n}^+$  without danger of confusion.

By elementary obstruction theory, any map  $B\Gamma_{\infty,n} \to Y$ , where Y is a simple space (the fundamental group is abelian and acts trivially on all higher homotopy groups), extends uniquely (up to homotopy) to a map  $B\Gamma^+_{\infty} \to Y$ . Any grouplike *H*-space *Y* (i.e.  $\pi_0(Y)$  is a group) is simple, in particular  $\Omega^{\infty} \mathbb{G}^{SO}_{-2}$  and  $\Omega^{\infty}_{0} \mathbb{G}^{SO}_{-2}$ , and the map  $\alpha : B\Gamma_{\infty,n} \to \Omega^{\infty}_{0} \mathbb{G}^{SO}_{-2}$ yields a map  $\alpha^+ : B\Gamma^+_{\infty} \to \Omega^{\infty}_0 \mathbb{G}^{SO}_{-2}$ . The Madsen-Weiss theorem can be reformulated as the statement that  $\alpha^+$  is a homotopy equivalence. It follows that  $\mathbb{Z} \times B\Gamma^+_{\infty} \simeq \Omega^{\infty} \mathbb{G}^{SO}_{-2}$ . In particular,  $\mathbb{Z} \times B\Gamma_{\infty}^+$  has the homotopy type of an infinite loop space. This was proven by Ulrike Tillmann ([52]) before the spectrum  $\mathbb{G}_{-2}^{SO}$  and the Madsen-Tillmann map was constructed. Her proof relies on abstract infinite loop space machinery ([1],[48]). Tillmann's proof gives a connective spectrum  $B^{\infty}(\mathbb{Z} \times B\Gamma_{\infty}^+)$  (this is Adams' notation, [1]) and a homotopy equivalence  $\Omega^{\infty}(B^{\infty}(\mathbb{Z} \times B\Gamma_{\infty}^{+})) \simeq \mathbb{Z} \times B\Gamma_{\infty}^{+}$ . Moreover, there is a map  $\Sigma^{\infty}(\mathbb{Z} \times B\Gamma_{\infty,+}^{+}) \to B^{\infty}(\mathbb{Z} \times B\Gamma_{\infty}^{+})$  adjoint to the identity on

 $\mathbb{Z} \times B\Gamma^+_{\infty}$ .

In the paper [32], it is also shown that the map  $\alpha : \mathbb{Z} \times B\Gamma_{\infty} \to \Omega^{\infty} \mathbb{G}_{-2}^{SO}$  is an infinite loop map. Thus Tillmanns infinite loop space structure coincides with the infinite loop space structure provided by the Madsen-Weiss theorem.

Also in [52], Tillmann showed that the map  $\mathbb{Z} \times B\Gamma^+_{\infty} \to \mathbb{Z} \times B\operatorname{GL}_{\infty}(\mathbb{Z})^+$ , which is given by the action of the mapping class on the first homology of the surface, is an infinite loop map. Thus it comes from a map of spectra  $\rho: B^{\infty}(\mathbb{Z} \times B\Gamma_{\infty}^{+}) \to K\mathbb{Z}$  (the latter is the algebraic K-theory spectrum of  $\mathbb{Z}$ , see section 6.8 for details).

The spin case The second example of **F**-structures is  $\mathbf{F} = B \operatorname{Spin}(2) = \mathbb{CP}^{\infty}$ , and the map  $\mathbf{F} \to B \operatorname{GL}_2(\mathbb{R})$  is the classifying map of the square of the universal complex line bundle. An **F**-structure on a surface bundle is the same as a spin structure. The universal Madsen-Tillmann map in this case is

$$\alpha: B \operatorname{Sdiff}(M) \to \Omega^{\infty} \mathbb{G}_{-2}^{\operatorname{Spin}}.$$

It can be shown that the group of components  $\pi_0(\Omega^{\infty}\mathbb{G}_{-2}^{\text{Spin}})$  is isomorphic to  $\mathbb{Z} \oplus \mathbb{Z}/2$ and that  $\alpha$  maps  $B \operatorname{Sdiff}(M)^{\epsilon}$  to the component indexed by  $(g-1,\epsilon)$  (see 6.6.5). There are spin mapping class groups for surfaces with nonempty boundary and glueing maps as above (although they are more subtle). Harer proved a stability theorem for the groups  $\Gamma_g^{\epsilon}$  ([23]), which was later enhanced by Tilman Bauer ([8]) to a stability theorem for the (really relevant) groups  $\hat{\Gamma}_g^{\epsilon}$ . The known range of homological stability is much smaller in the spin case: one needs that  $2k^2 + 6k - 2 \leq g$  for Bauer's theorem. The Madsen-Weiss theorem in the spin case is:

**Theorem 6.5.2.** ([17], [19]) If  $2k^2 + 6k - 2 \leq g$ , then  $H_k(\alpha) : H_k(B \operatorname{Sdiff}(M)^{\epsilon}; \mathbb{Z}) \to H_k(\Omega_{(q-1,\epsilon)}^{\infty} \mathbb{G}_{-2}^{\operatorname{Spin}}; \mathbb{Z})$  is an isomorphism.

#### 6.6 Miscellaneous calculations

**Mumfords conjecture:** We show how the Madsen-Weiss theorem leads to a computation of the rational cohomology of  $B\Gamma_g$  in the stable range. This is based on the cofiber sequence

$$\mathbb{G}_{-2}^{SO} \xrightarrow{\omega} \Sigma^{\infty} \mathbb{CP}^{\infty} \longrightarrow \mathbb{G}_{-1}^{SO}$$

derived from 6.4.3. The spectrum  $\mathbb{G}_{-1}^{SO}$  is homotopy equivalent to  $\Sigma^{\infty-1}\mathbb{S}^0$ : its *n*th space is the Thom space  $\operatorname{Th}(U_{1,d})$  of the orthogonal complement of the tautological real line bundle on  $\operatorname{Gr}_1^{SO}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ , the Grassmannian of oriented lines in  $\mathbb{R}^n$ , which is homotopy equivalent to  $\mathbb{S}^{n-1}$ . Thus the inclusion of a fiber  $\mathbb{S}^{n-1} \to \mathbb{G}_{-1}^{SO}$  is (n-2)-connected; and the sequence of all these inclusions give the desired map of spectra  $\Sigma^{\infty-1}\mathbb{S}^0 \to \mathbb{G}_{-1}^{SO}$ , which is a homotopy equivalence.

Thus  $\omega$  as well as  $\Omega^{\infty}\omega$  induce isomorphisms in rational cohomology. It is a classical fact ([50]) that  $H^*(Q(\mathbb{CP}^{\infty}_+);\mathbb{Q})$  is a polynomial algebra in the generators  $\sigma z^n$ , where  $\sigma: H^*(\mathbb{CP}^{\infty}) \to H^*(Q(\mathbb{CP}^{\infty}_+))$  is the suspension map (which is *not* multiplicative). Write  $y_i := \Omega^{\infty}(\omega)^* \sigma^* z^i$ . It follows that

$$H^*(\Omega_0^{\infty} \mathbb{G}_{-2}^{SO}; \mathbb{Q}) = \mathbb{Q}[y_1, y_2, y_3, \ldots].$$
(6.6.1)

We can identify the MMM-classes as cohomology classes coming from the spectrum cohomology of  $\mathbb{G}_{-2}^{SO}$ . By 6.3.6 and 6.2.2, it follows that

$$\alpha^* (\Omega^\infty \omega)^* \sigma z^n = \kappa_n. \tag{6.6.2}$$

In view of 6.6.1 and 6.6.2, Mumfords conjecture 2.3.4 follows from the Madsen-Weiss theorem.

**The spin case** It is not difficult to see that the map  $\mathbb{G}_{-2}^{\text{Spin}} \to \mathbb{G}_{-2}^{SO}$  is a rational homotopy equivalence (it is even an equivalence after localization away from 2), see [17].

Let us study the component groups of the spectra  $\mathbb{G}_{-2}^{\text{Spin}}$  and  $\mathbb{G}_{-2}^{SO}$ . More generally, we study the component group of  $\Omega^{\infty}\mathbb{G}_{-d}^{\mathbf{F}}$  if  $\mathbf{F}$  is a stable fibration which has *connected* total spaces  $F_d$ . Start with the suspension of the cofiber sequence 6.4.3:

$$\mathbb{G}_{-d}^{\mathbf{F}} \to \Sigma \mathbb{G}_{-(d+1)}^{\mathbf{F}} \to \Sigma^{\infty+1}(F_{d+1,+}).$$

From the long exact homotopy sequence of this cofiber sequence we see that  $\pi_i(\mathbb{G}_{-d}^{\mathbf{F}}) \to \pi_i(\Sigma \mathbb{G}_{-(d+1)}^{\mathbf{F}})$  is an epimorphism if  $i \leq 0$  and an isomorphism if i < 0. Inductively, it follows that

$$\pi_0(\Sigma \mathbb{G}^{\mathbf{F}}_{-(d+1)}) \cong \pi_0(\Sigma^2 \mathbb{G}^{\mathbf{F}}_{-(d+2)}) \cong \dots \pi_0(\Sigma^{-d}M\mathbf{F}) = \pi_d(M\mathbf{F}).$$

The epimorphism  $\pi_0(\mathbb{G}_{-d}^{\mathbf{F}}) \to \pi_0(\Sigma \mathbb{G}_{-(d+1)}^{\mathbf{F}})$  is part of an exact sequence

$$\mathbb{Z} \cong \pi_1(\Sigma^{\infty+1}\mathbf{F}_{d+1,+}) \to \pi_0(\mathbb{G}_{-d}^{\mathbf{F}}) \to \pi_0(\Sigma\mathbb{G}_{-(d+1)}^{\mathbf{F}}) \cong \pi_d(M\mathbf{F}) \to 0.$$
(6.6.3)

We are interested in the case d = 2 and in the cases  $\mathbf{F} = B$  SO and  $\mathbf{F} = B$  Spin. It is well-known that  $\pi_0(\mathbb{G}_{-2}^{SO}) \cong \mathbb{Z}$  (see [18]) and that  $\pi_2(MSO) = 0$ . We have seen that  $\pi_2(M$  Spin) =  $\mathbb{F}_2$  (Corollary 4.1.19). There is an obvious map of stable fibrations B Spin  $\rightarrow B$  SO over B GL( $\mathbb{R}$ ). If we compare the two short exact sequences 6.6.3 for these cases, we obtain

from which we see by a diagram chase that  $\pi_0(\mathbb{G}_{-2}^{\text{Spin}}) \to \pi_0(\mathbb{G}_{-2}^{SO}) \oplus \pi_2(M \operatorname{Spin}) \cong \mathbb{Z} \oplus \mathbb{F}_2$  is an isomorphism.

In the case  $\mathbf{F} = B$  SO and d = 2, the element in  $\pi_0(\mathbb{G}_{-2}^{SO}) \cong \mathbb{Z}$  represented by  $\Sigma^{\infty} \mathbb{S}^0 \to \mathbb{T}\mathbf{h}(\nu_M) \to \mathbb{G}_{-2}^{SO}$  corresponds to  $\pm \frac{1}{2}\chi(M) = \pm (g(M) - 1)$  (see [18]). It follows

**Proposition 6.6.5.** If M is a surface with spin structure, then the element in  $\pi_0(\mathbb{G}_{-2}^{\text{Spin}}) \cong \mathbb{Z} \oplus \mathbb{F}_2$  represented by  $\Sigma^{\infty} \mathbb{S}^0 \to \mathbb{T}\mathbf{h}(\nu_M) \to \mathbb{G}_{-2}^{\text{Spin}}$  corresponds to  $(\pm (g-1); \operatorname{At}(M))$ .

The third homotopy group We let d = 2 and G = SO and turn to the computation of the homotopy group  $\pi_3(\mathbb{G}_{-2}^{SO})$ . We will make use of this computation at the very end of this work, in section 8.6. For a pointed space X, denote by  $X_+$  the space  $X \cup \{*\}; * \notin X$ . There are obvious pointed maps  $X_+ \to X$  and pr :  $X_+ \to \mathbb{S}^0$ . They induce a splitting

$$Q(X_{+}) \simeq Q(X) \times Q(\mathbb{S}^{0}). \tag{6.6.6}$$

**Proposition 6.6.7.** The composition

$$\mathbb{G}_{-2}^{SO} \xrightarrow{\quad \omega \quad} \Sigma^{\infty} \mathbb{CP}_{+}^{\infty} \xrightarrow{\mathrm{pr}} \Sigma^{\infty} \mathbb{S}^{0}$$

induces an isomorphism on the third homotopy groups. Thus,  $\pi_3(\mathbb{G}_{-2}^{SO}) \cong \mathbb{Z}/24$ .

**Proof:** The map  $\omega$  belongs to the cofiber sequence of spectra

$$\mathbb{G}_{-2}^{SO} \to \Sigma^{\infty} \mathbb{CP}_{+}^{\infty} \to \Sigma^{\infty-1} \mathbb{S}^{0},$$

from 6.4.3. Because  $\pi_4(\Sigma^{\infty}\mathbb{S}^0) = \pi_5(\Sigma^{\infty}\mathbb{S}^0) = 0$ , the map  $\pi_3(\omega)$  is an isomorphism. A computation of Juno Mukai ([40]) shows that the third homotopy group of the infinite loop space of  $\Sigma^{\infty}\mathbb{CP}^{\infty}$  (without additional base point) is zero. Thus  $\pi_3(\text{pr})$  is an isomorphism in view of 6.6.6.

## 6.7 The Atiyah-Singer index theorem

We now restrict to the case of a bundle  $\pi : E \to B$  of Riemann surfaces and show how the Atiyah-Singer index theorem for families of elliptic operators ([6]) fits in the present context. A similar discussion is valid for families of complex manifolds of arbitrary dimension and for other classical operators such as the Atiyah-Singer Dirac operator for families of Spin manifolds.

Denote by  $\beta: K^* \to K^{*-2}$  the Bott isomorphism. Then the Atiyah-Singer index formula for families can be stated as follows. If  $V \to E$  is a smooth complex vector bundle, then one can "twist" the Cauchy-Riemann operator with the vector bundle V ([4]). The result is only determined up to operators of lower order, and the K-theory class of the index index bundle only depends on the K-theory class of V. If V is holomorphic, then one can choose the Cauchy-Riemann operator of V as the twisted operator.

**Theorem 6.7.1.** Let  $\pi : E \to B$  be a bundle of Riemann surfaces over a compact base space B. Let  $V \to E$  be a complex vector bundle. Then the index of the twisted Dolbeault operator  $\operatorname{ind}(\bar{\partial}_V) \in K^0(B)$  equals  $\beta^{-1}\pi_!([V])$ .

Atiyah and Singer formulated the index theorem using a different push-forward map, which we denote by  $\pi_{\sharp}$ . In the sequel, the 0-th K-theory group with compact support of a locally compact space X will be denoted simply by K(X).

For the definition of the push-forward, Atiyah and Singer proceed in three steps. If  $f: X \to Y$  is a proper embedding with a complex structure on the normal bundle, then let  $U \subset X$  be a tubular neighborhood. They define  $f_{\sharp}$  as the composition  $K(X) \to K(U) \to K(Y)$ , where the first map is the Thom homomorphism for the normal bundle and the second map is induced by the inclusion.

The second case for which they define  $f_{\sharp}$  is when  $f: W \to X$  is the projection map of a complex vector bundle. In this case, the pushforward is defined to be the inverse of the Thom-isomorphism  $K^0(X) \to K^0(W)$ .

In general, the pushforward of a map  $f : X \to Y$  is defined by factoring f into  $X \to W \to Y$ , where W is a complex vector bundle on Y. One needs the assumption that the stable normal bundle  $\nu_f = f^*TY - TX$  has a complex structure (the choice of the complex structure influences the definition of  $f_{\sharp}$ ) and that such a factorization of f exists with the first map a *proper* embedding. If  $E \to B$  is a manifold bundle and if  $j : E \to B \times \mathbb{R}^n$  is an

embedding of the fibers, then the tangential map  $T_v j : T_v E \to B \times \mathbb{R}^{2n}$  is a proper embedding with a canonical complex structure on the normal bundle. The symbol of any elliptic pseudo-differential operator P defines a class  $\sigma_p \in K^0(T_v E)$ . The index theorem in the formulation of [6] says that the index bundle  $\operatorname{ind}(P) \in K^0(B)$  is the same as  $\operatorname{pr}_{\sharp}^B \circ (T_v j)_{\sharp}(\sigma_P)$ . The principal symbol of the Dolbeault operator is the K-orientation of  $T_v E$  defined by the Bott-class. It is now easy to derive the formulation 6.7.1, using naturality properties of the push-forward.

Sometimes the index factors through the transfer.

**Proposition 6.7.2.** Let  $E \to B$  is a bundle of Riemann surfaces. Let  $V \to E$  be a complex vector bundle and let  $\Lambda$  be the vertical cotangent bundle. Then

$$\operatorname{ind}(\overline{\partial}_{V\otimes(1-\Lambda)}) = \operatorname{trf}^*([V]) \in K^0(B).$$

**Proof:** The K-theory Euler class of a complex line bundle L is  $\beta^{-1}(1 - L')$ . Further, it follows from the definitions that the pushforward commutes with Bott periodicity. Thus

$$\operatorname{ind}(\bar{\partial}_{V\otimes(1-\Lambda)}) = \beta^{-1}(\pi_!(V\beta(\chi_K(T_vE)))) = \pi_!(V\chi_K(T_vE)) = \operatorname{trf}(V).$$

#### 6.8 Examples for the index theorem

I will discuss several examples of Proposition 6.7.2, which are "natural" in the sense that the operators exist on the universal surface bundle. We explained after 2.4.7, we can apply the index theorem with certainty only in the case that the base B is compact. If we say that two maps out of the universal base space  $B\Gamma_{\infty}$  are homotopic, then we mean that they are homotopic after restriction to any compact subspace.

Before we can study these examples, we need to say a few words about algebraic Ktheory. Let R be an associative ring with unit. Then there are obvious homomorphisms  $\operatorname{GL}_n(R) \times \operatorname{GL}_m(R) \to \operatorname{GL}_{n+m}(R)$ , which turn the space

$$\coprod_{n\in\mathbb{N}}B\operatorname{GL}_n(R)$$

into a topological monoid. The group completion of this monoid is

$$\Omega B(\coprod_{n\in\mathbb{N}}B\operatorname{GL}_n(R)).$$

The group completion theorem ([1]) shows that there is a natural map  $c : \mathbb{Z} \times B \operatorname{GL}_{\infty}(R) \to \Omega B(\coprod_{n \in \mathbb{N}} B \operatorname{GL}_n(R))$ , which is a homology equivalence. Furthermore, the infinite loop space machinery ([48], [1]) shows that there is a connective spectrum K(R) and a homotopy equivalence  $\Omega^{\infty}K(R) \simeq \Omega B(\coprod_{n \in \mathbb{N}} B \operatorname{GL}_n(R))$ . This is the algebraic K-theory spectrum of R. Because  $\Omega B(\coprod_{n \in \mathbb{N}} B \operatorname{GL}_n(R))$  is an H-space, the map c is a HZ-localization in the

sense of homotopy theory (see [11]).

It is well-known that the commutator subgroup  $[\operatorname{GL} \infty(R), \operatorname{GL} \infty(R)]$  is perfect. Thus we can apply Quillen's plus construction to the space  $B \operatorname{GL}_{\infty}(R)$  with respect to the commutator subgroup. The result is a simple space  $B \operatorname{GL}_{\infty}(R)^+$  and a homology equivalence  $B \operatorname{GL}_{\infty}(R) \to B \operatorname{GL}_{\infty}(R)^+$ . Thus  $\Omega K(R) \simeq \mathbb{Z} \times B \operatorname{GL}_{\infty}(R)^+$ .

If R is a topological ring, then  $\operatorname{GL}_n(R)$  is a topological group and we can apply the construction of KR literally. When  $R = \mathbb{C}$ , the result is the usual connective K-theory spectrum **k**.

Similarly, one can construct symplectic K-theory, replacing  $\operatorname{GL}_n(R)$  by  $\operatorname{SP}_{2n}(R)$  everywhere (we only need the case  $R = \mathbb{Z}$ ). More precisely, there is a connective spectrum  $K\operatorname{SP}(\mathbb{Z})$  and a homology equivalence  $\mathbb{Z} \times B\operatorname{SP}_{\infty}(\mathbb{Z}) \simeq \Omega^{\infty}K\operatorname{SP}(\mathbb{Z})$ . There is an obvious map  $\tau : K\operatorname{SP}(\mathbb{Z}) \to K(\mathbb{Z})$ . Note: under the isomorphisms  $\pi_0 K(\mathbb{Z}) \cong \mathbb{Z}$  and  $\pi_0 K\operatorname{SP}(\mathbb{Z}) \cong \mathbb{Z}$ , the map induces multiplication by 2.

The maps  $\operatorname{SP}_{2n}(\mathbb{Z}) \to \operatorname{SP}_{2n}(\mathbb{R}) \simeq U(n)$  induce a map  $\zeta : K \operatorname{SP}(\mathbb{Z}) \to K(\mathbb{C}) = \mathbf{k}$ .

Now we can describe our examples for the index theorem. The first example we want to study is the example V = 1, the trivial line bundle. As explained above,  $trf^*(1)$  is in general not  $1 \in K^0(B)$ .

Consider the unit in  $K^0(\mathbb{CP}^\infty)$ . It is a map of spectra  $\Sigma^\infty \mathbb{CP}^\infty_+ \to \mathbf{k}$ , which factors through the projection  $\Sigma^\infty \mathbb{CP}^\infty_+ \to \Sigma^\infty \mathbb{S}^0$  and the unit map  $u : \Sigma^\infty \mathbb{S}^0 \to \mathbf{k}$ . This unit map can be factored as  $\Sigma^\infty \mathbb{S}^0 \to K\mathbb{Z} \to K\mathbb{C}^\delta \to \mathbf{k}$ . The first is the unit map into  $K\mathbb{Z}$ , the spectrum  $K\mathbb{C}^\delta$  is the algebraic K-theory spectrum of the discrete ring  $\mathbb{C}$  and  $K\mathbb{Z} \to K\mathbb{C}^\delta$  is induced from the map of rings  $\mathbb{Z} \to \mathbb{C}$ . The third map is the map induced by  $\mathrm{id}_{\mathbb{C}}$  on algebraic K-theory, viewed as a map from the discrete ring  $\mathbb{C}$  to the topological ring  $\mathbb{C}$ .

Thus the index map ind  $\partial_{1-\Lambda} = \operatorname{trf}^*(1)$  of the operator  $\partial_{1-\Lambda}$  factors through the sphere spectrum. In particular, all rational characteristic classes of the index bundle in degrees larger than one vanish, because  $Q_0(\mathbb{S}^0)$  is rationally acyclic. This is not too surprising, since there is another description of  $\operatorname{ind}(\bar{\partial}_{1-\Lambda})$ . Let  $b \in B$  and let  $C := \pi^{-1}(b)$  be the compact Riemann surface over b. Then the fiber of the index bundle over b is the virtual vector space  $H^0(C, \mathcal{O}) - H^1(C; \mathcal{O}) - H^0(C, \Lambda_C) + H^1(C, \lambda_C) = \mathbb{C} - H^0(C; \Lambda_C)' - H^0(C, \Lambda_C) + \mathbb{C} =$  $2 - H^1(C, \mathbb{C})$ . Here we used Serre-duality and the Hodge-decomposition. All isomorphisms are natural, and so we obtain a bundle isomorphism  $\operatorname{ind}(\bar{\partial}_{1-\Lambda}) \cong 2 - H_v^1(\pi)$ . The latter is the flat bundle of first cohomology spaces. Thus the index bundle has a canonical flat structure. Moreover, the bundle  $H_v^1(\pi)$  can be identified with the sum of the Hodge bundles  $V_1(\pi) \oplus \overline{V_1(\pi)}$  and it is induced by the maps

$$B \to B\Gamma_g \to B\operatorname{SP}_{2g}(\mathbb{Z}) \to B\operatorname{GL}_{2g}(\mathbb{C})^{\delta} \to BU(2g).$$

We have seen that the diagram of spectra

is commutative (up to homotopy).

At this point, it starts to look plausible that already the two maps  $B^{\infty}(\mathbb{Z} \times B\Gamma_{\infty}^+) \to K\mathbb{Z}$ are homotopic. This is indeed true, at least if we take the induced maps on infinite loop spaces. This is pointed out by Tillmann in [53] and relies on the main theorem of [14]. More precisely, we can say

**Proposition 6.8.1.** ([53], [14]) The maps  $\mathbb{Z} \times B\Gamma_{\infty}^+ \to \mathbb{Z} \times B \operatorname{GL}_{\infty}(\mathbb{Z})^+$  given by the action on the first homology group and by the index map for the bundle  $1 - \Lambda$  are homotopic (as maps of spaces, not necessarily as infinite loop maps).

The index bundle ind  $\bar{\partial}_V$  does not factor through  $\Sigma^{\infty} \mathbb{CP}^{\infty}_+$  if V is not a multiple of  $1 - \Lambda$ . An interesting example for this phenomenon is provided by the bundle V = 1.

Recall the map of spectra  $\lambda : \mathbb{G}_{-2}^{SO} \to \Sigma^{-2} \mathbf{MU}$ , which can be composed with the Conner-Floyd map  $\xi : \mathbf{MU} \to \mathbf{k}$  to give a map  $\mathbb{G}_{-2}^{SO} \to \Sigma^{-2} \mathbf{k}$ . The Bott periodicity map is a map  $\Sigma^{-2} \mathbf{k} \to \mathbf{k}$ .

**Proposition 6.8.2.** Let  $E \to B$  be a surface bundle on a compact space B. Then the composition  $\Sigma^{\infty}B_+ \to \mathbb{G}_{-2}^{SO} \to \Sigma^{-2}\mathbf{k} \to \mathbf{k}$  represents  $\operatorname{ind}(\bar{\partial}_1)$ .

This is an immediate consequence of Theorem 6.7.1, Definition 6.2.3, and the fact that  $\xi$  represents the Thom class of the universal complex vector bundle.

There is another, more naive description for  $\operatorname{ind}(\partial_1)$ . We consider the map  $B\rho : B\Gamma_g \to B\operatorname{SP}_{2g}(\mathbb{Z}) \to B\operatorname{SP}_{2g}(\mathbb{R}) \simeq BU(g)$  from 2.3.6. It classifies the universal Hodge bundle  $\overline{V_1}$ . Serre duality tells us that  $\overline{V_1} \cong \operatorname{coker}(\overline{\partial}_1)$ . The kernel bundle of  $\overline{\partial}_1$  is the trivial complex line bundle and so we see that

$$\operatorname{ind}(\bar{\partial}_1) = 1 - \overline{V_1}.$$

#### 6.9 From the Mumford conjecture to the Madsen-Tillmann map

Here we study in more detail the example  $V = T_v E$ . The index bundle  $\operatorname{ind}(\bar{\partial}_{T(1-\Lambda)}) = \operatorname{ind}(\bar{\partial}_{T-1})$  is represented by the composition

$$\Sigma^{\infty}B_{+} \xrightarrow{\alpha} \mathbb{G}_{-2}^{SO} \xrightarrow{\omega} \Sigma^{\infty}\mathbb{CP}_{+}^{\infty} \xrightarrow{l} \mathbf{k}.$$

The whole composition pulls back the class  $s_n$  to the MMM-class  $\kappa_n$ , because  $l^*s_n = e^n$  and because of Proposition 6.3.5. It is important to mention that  $s_n$  is only a *rational* spectrum

cohomology class of  $\mathbf{k}$ , not an integral one. Thus the adjoint map  $B \to \Omega^{\infty} \mathbf{k} = \mathbb{Z} \times BU$ pulls back  $s_n \in H^{2n}(\mathbb{Z} \times BU; \mathbb{Q})$  to  $\kappa_n \in H^{2n}(B; \mathbb{Q})$ . The map l represents the class of the canonical line bundle in  $K^0(\mathbb{CP}^{\infty})$  and its adjoint  $Q(\mathbb{CP}^{\infty}_+) \to \Omega^{\infty} \mathbf{k} = \mathbb{Z} \times BU$  is the rational equivalence from [50] mentioned above. Thus we see that rationally the integral Chern character classes of the index bundle  $\operatorname{ind}(\overline{\partial}_{T-1})$  agree with the MMM-classes.

**Remark 6.9.1.** A few remarks are to be done at this place. If  $g \geq 2$ , and if C is the fiber at a point  $b \in B$ , then the fiber of the index bundle under consideration is just the formal difference  $-H^1(C, \mathcal{O}(T^{(1,0)}C)) - \mathbb{C} + H^1(C, \mathcal{O}_C)$ . By the Kodaira-Spencer deformation theory of complex manifolds (of complex dimension 1), it follows that the vector space  $H^1(C, \mathcal{O}(T^{(1,0)}C))$  parameterizes all infinitesimal deformations of the complex manifold C, that means, it should be the tangent space to the moduli space of Riemann surfaces of genus g. Teichmüller theory tells us that this is indeed true. By Serre duality  $H^1(C, \mathcal{O}(T^{(1,0)}C)) = H^0(C, \Lambda_C^{\otimes 2})'$ , and this is the tangent space to  $\mathcal{T}_g$  (and not the cotangent space, because the definition of the Teichmüller map  $H^0(C, \Lambda_C^{\otimes 2}) \to \mathcal{T}_g$  involves the choice of a metric on the space of quadratic differentials.) There is still the problem that the moduli space is not a smooth manifold, but only an orbifold. Nevertheless, it has a complex tangent orbibundle, which has well-defined Chern classes. However, these Chern classes are only rational cohomology classes and not integral ones.

It should be more than a curiosity that the Chern character of the difference of these two natural bundles agrees with the tautological classes, which ultimately yield the isomorphism  $\mathbb{Q}[\kappa_1, \kappa_2, \ldots] \to H^*(B\Gamma_{\infty}; \mathbb{Q})$  predicted by the Mumford conjecture.

I now show how one could *find* the Madsen-Tillmann map when one starts from the Mumford conjecture 2.3.4. This may be also the way Madsen and Tillmann found their map. The Mumford conjecture predicts that

$$\mathbb{Q}[\kappa_1, \kappa_2, \ldots] \to H^*(B\Gamma_q, \mathbb{Q}) \tag{6.9.2}$$

is an isomorphism in the stable range of Harer's stability theorem. The first observation is that the left-hand side of the conjectural isomorphism 6.9.2 is isomorphic to the cohomology of the infinite Grassmannian,  $H^*(BU, \mathbb{Q}) \cong \mathbb{Q}[s_1, s_2, \ldots]$ . We choose this system of generators instead of  $c_1, c_2, \ldots$  because of their better algebraic properties (see below). It is natural to look out for a map

$$\Phi: B\Gamma_a \to BU$$

realizing the conjectural isomorphism 6.9.2 in rational cohomology. By Tillmann's theorem (see [52]),  $B\Gamma^+_{\infty}$  is an infinite loop space, in particular,  $H^*(B\Gamma_{\infty}; \mathbb{Q})$  is a Hopf algebra. The multiplication map  $m : B\Gamma^+_{\infty} \times B\Gamma^+_{\infty} \to B\Gamma^+_{\infty}$  (homotopic to the loop sum) is homotopic to the colimit of the glueing maps

$$a_{g,h}: B\Gamma_{g,2} \times B\Gamma_{h,2} \to B\Gamma_{g+h,2}.$$

What is the behavior of the classes  $\kappa_n$  under the structural map? The answer is that they are primitive, i.e.

#### Proposition 6.9.3.

$$a_{q,h}^*\kappa_n = 1 \otimes \kappa_n + \kappa_n \otimes 1.$$

**Proof:** Let E, F be surface bundles over X of genus g, h with two trivialized boundary components and G be the bundle obtained by glueing at two boundary components. Then the vertical tangent bundles are trivialized along the boundary. Thus  $e(T_vF)e(T_vE) = 0$ . It follows that  $\kappa_n(G) = \pi_*e(T_vG)^{n+1} = \pi_*e(T_vE)^{n+1} + \pi_*e(T_vF)^{n+1}$ .

If we want that the conjectural map  $\Phi$  is a map of *H*-spaces (this is natural, because of Tillmann's theorem), then we are almost forced to have  $\Phi^*(n! \operatorname{ch}_n) = \kappa_n$ , since  $s_n = n! \operatorname{ch}_n$  generate the integral primitive classes. So, one is led to the question:

Question 6.9.4. Is there a virtual vector bundle V on  $B\Gamma_g$  such that  $n! \operatorname{ch}_n(V) = \kappa_n$ ?

Index bundles give virtual vector bundles. We want an index bundle ind  $\bar{\partial}_W$  which is defined naturally for all bundles of Riemann surfaces. There are not too much possibilities, because the tensor powers of the cotangent bundle are the only natural line bundles on Riemann surfaces. The Grothendieck-Riemann-Roch theorem shows that  $W = T_v - 1$  is the correct choice:

**Proposition 6.9.5.**  $s_n(\operatorname{ind}(\bar{\partial}_{T_v}) - \operatorname{ind}(\bar{\partial}_1)) = \kappa_n$  in rational cohomology, where 1 denotes the trivial holomorphic line bundle.

We can ask whether the equation in 6.9.5 is an equation of *integral* cohomology classes. To consider this more closely, we define the analytical MMM-classes  $\lambda_n \in H^{2n}(B\Gamma_q;\mathbb{Z})$ .

**Definition 6.9.6.** The analytical MMM-classes of a surface bundle  $\pi : E \to B$  are the classes  $s_n(\operatorname{ind}(\bar{\partial}_{T_v}) - \operatorname{ind}(\bar{\partial}_1)) \in H^{2n}(B;\mathbb{Z}).$ 

It is not true that the equation in Proposition 6.9.5 is an equation of *integral* cohomology classes. The topological MMM-classes differ from the analytical ones. This can be seen as follows. If one takes a surface M and an action of a finite (cyclic groups are enough) group G, then one studies the bundle  $E(G; M) := EG \times_G M \to BG$ . There are explicit methods to compute both, the analytical and the topological MMM-classes of these examples. The topological classes  $\kappa_n$  can be computed using the higher Riemann-Hurwitz formula of [30], see also [3]. The result only depends on the fixed-point data of the action.

The analytical classes can be computed using the Lefschetz-formula of Atiyah and Bott: There is an invariant complex structure on M; and the index bundles are just given by the appropriate combination of bundles of the form  $EG \times_G H^i(M; \Lambda_M^{\otimes n})$ .

If one chooses a cyclic group action almost at random, then one sees that both classes differ. Also, we have shown in section 5.2 that both classes differ for sphere bundles and in section 5.3 that the same is true for tori.

The work [50] by Graeme Segal, which was already mentioned, contains a stronger statement than merely the rational homotopy equivalence  $Q(\mathbb{CP}^{\infty}_{+}) \simeq \mathbb{Z} \times BU$ . Segal shows that there exist a splitting (not an infinite loop map)  $\mathbb{Z} \times BU \to Q(\mathbb{CP}^{\infty}_{+})$ , which shows that  $Q(\mathbb{CP}^{\infty}_{+}) \simeq \mathbb{Z} \times BU \times F$ , where F is a quite mysterious space which is rationally acyclic. The difference classes  $\kappa_n - \lambda_n$  seems to be related to the cohomology of the space F. A systematic study of the difference classes would go beyond the scope of this work.

## 6.10 The Madsen-Tillmann-diagram

In the following diagram of spectra, we recollect the discussion of the present chapter.


## 7 Divisibility of MMM-classes for spin surface bundles

#### 7.1 The general case

In this section, we study the divisibility properties of characteristic classes for surface bundles with spin structures. All our results are modulo torsion, i.e.:

**Convention 7.1.1.** If B is a space and  $x \in H^*(B, \mathbb{Z})$  and  $0 \neq a \in \mathbb{Z}$ , then the statement "x is divisible by a" means that the image of x in the free group  $H^*_{\text{free}}(B; \mathbb{Z}) := H^*(B, \mathbb{Z})/T$  is divisible by a (T denotes the torsion subgroup).

The divisibility of characteristic classes of oriented surface bundles was studied by Galatius, Madsen and Tillmann in [18]. Their main result is:

**Theorem 7.1.2.** ([18]) Let  $D_n$  be the maximal divisor of the class  $\kappa_n$ . Then  $D_{2i} = 2$  and  $D_{2i-1} = \operatorname{den}(\frac{B_i}{2i})$ .

 $B_i$  is the *i*th *Bernoulli number*, which is defined by the expansion

$$td(z) := \frac{z}{1 - e^{-z}} = 1 + \frac{z}{2} + \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} (-1)^{k+1} \frac{B_k}{(2k)!} z^{2k}.$$
(7.1.3)

 $B_k$  is a rational positive number; and von Staudt's theorem (see [10], p. 410-411) gives the prime decomposition of its denominator:

$$\operatorname{den}(\frac{B_k}{2k}) = \prod_{(p-1)|2k} p^{1+\nu_p(2k)}$$

Note that this is always an even number. That  $den(\frac{B_k}{2k})$  divides  $\kappa_{2n-1}$  was already noted by Morita ([38]) and follows from the Grothendieck-Riemann-Roch theorem in the following way. We compute  $ch(ind(\bar{\partial}_1))$  in two ways. First, it is:

$$\operatorname{ch}(\operatorname{ind}(\bar{\partial}_1)) = 1 - g + \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \frac{\gamma_k}{k!}$$

by the definition of  $\gamma_k$ . On the other hand, by the Grothendieck-Riemann-Roch theorem and by the definition of  $\kappa_n$ , we have  $(c = c_1(T_v))$ :

ch(ind(
$$\bar{\partial}_1$$
)) =  $\pi_1$ (td(c)) = 1 - g +  $\sum_{k=1}^{\infty} (-1)^{k+1} \frac{B_k}{(2k)!} \kappa_{2k-1}$ .

By the way, this shows that  $s_{2k}$  vanishes rationally. Comparison of coefficients leads to

$$s_{2k-1} = \frac{B_k}{2k} \kappa_{2k-1}.$$
 (7.1.4)

Thus  $\kappa_{2k-1}$  is divisible by den $\left(\frac{B_k}{2k}\right)$ .

#### 7.2 The even classes

Assumption 7.2.1. Let us now assume that the surface bundle  $\pi : E \to B$  admits a spin structure. Then there exists a complex line bundle  $S \to E$  and an isomorphism  $S^2 \cong \Lambda_v$ . We denote  $y := -c_1(S)$ ; thus  $2y = c = c_1(T_v)$ .

**Proposition 7.2.2.** For a spin surface bundle,  $\kappa_n$  is divisible by  $2^{n+1}$ . This holds even integrally.

**Proof:** 
$$\kappa_n = \pi_!(c^{n+1}) = 2^{n+1}\pi_!(y^{n+1}).$$

**Theorem 7.2.3.** For spin surface bundles, the class  $\kappa_{2n}$  is not divisible by any nontrivial multiple of  $2^{2n+1}$ . This holds in the stable range for spin mapping class groups.

Before we prove the result, we note that the statement is false if  $g \leq 2$  and if 4n is larger than the homological dimension of the spin moduli space. However, our proof relies on an unstable computation for g = 0 and on the Madsen-Weiss theorem.

**Proof:** First, we study the universal spin surface bundle of genus 0. This is the projective bundle of the 2-dimensional complex vector bundle

$$V := ESU(2) \times_{SU(2)} \mathbb{C}^2 \to BSU(2) \cong \mathbb{HP}^{\infty}.$$

Its even MMM-classes are (compare 5.2.6):

$$\kappa_{2n} = \pm 2^{2n+1} u^n,$$

where  $u \in H^4(\mathbb{HP}^{\infty};\mathbb{Z})$  is a polynomial generator of the ring  $H^*(\mathbb{HP}^{\infty};\mathbb{Z}) \cong \mathbb{Z}[u]$ . Thus it follows that the divisibility for  $\kappa_{2n}$  is optimal for g = 0.

We now enhance this result, where we use the Madsen-Weiss theorem in the spin case ([19]). Because the Arf-invariant of the spin structure on the sphere is 0, the Madsen-Tillmann map of the surface bundle studied above

$$\mathbb{HP}^{\infty} \to \Omega^{\infty} \mathbb{G}^{Spin}_{-2}$$

goes into the (-1, 0)-component. The reasoning above, together with Proposition 7.2.2 tells us that the maximal divisor of  $\kappa_{2n} \in H^{4n}(\Omega_{(-1,0)}^{\infty}\mathbb{G}_{-2}^{Spin},\mathbb{Z})$  is  $2^{2n+1}$ . Now let  $g \in \mathbb{N}$  and  $\epsilon \in \mathbb{Z}/2$  be arbitrary. By the Madsen-Weiss theorem in the spin case, the map

$$B\Gamma_g^{Spin,\epsilon} \to \Omega_{(g-1,\epsilon)}^{\infty} \mathbb{G}_{-2}^{Spin}$$

induces an isomorphism in integral homology in low degrees. This shows the claim.  $\hfill\square$ 

#### 7.3 The odd classes

Now we discuss the case of the odd MMM-classes. Let  $E \to B$  be a spin surface bundle. We have seen that  $2^{2n} |\kappa_{2n-1}$  and that  $den(\frac{B_n}{2n}) |\kappa_{2n-1}$  and we have seen that in the presence of a spin structure, the divisibility of the even classes improves by a power of 2. It is natural to ask whether this also happens for the odd classes. **Theorem 7.3.1.** If the surface bundle  $\pi : E \to B$  has a spin structure, then  $\kappa_{2n-1}(\pi)$  is divisible by  $2^{2n} \operatorname{den}(\frac{B_n}{2n})$  if B is compact (this is probably not a serious restriction, compare the remarks after Theorem 2.4.7).

We have already seen that both  $2^{2n}$  and  $den(\frac{B_n}{2n})$  divide  $\kappa_{2n-1}$ . But since the denominators of the Bernoulli numbers are even,  $2^{2n}$  and  $den(\frac{B_n}{2n})$  are *not* coprime, and we need new arguments to prove Theorem 7.3.1.

We keep the notations from 7.2.1 and prove Theorem 7.3.1 in two steps.

**Proposition 7.3.2.** For spin surface bundles, the class  $\kappa_{2n-1}$  is divisible by  $2^{2n-1} \operatorname{den}(\frac{B_n}{2n})$ 

**Proof:** The proof relies on the Grothendieck-Riemann-Roch theorem. We study the index bundle of the operator<sup>4</sup>  $\bar{\partial}_{1+S}$ . We keep the notation and compute

ch(ind 
$$\bar{\partial}_{1+S}) = \pi_!(\operatorname{td}(2y)(1+e^{-y})) = \pi_!(2\operatorname{td}(y)).$$

Thus  $v_{2n-1} := s_{2n-1} (\operatorname{ind} \bar{\partial}_{1+S}) = 2 \frac{B_n}{2n} \pi_!(y^{2n})$  is an integral class. By the definition of the MMM-class, it follows that

$$\kappa_{2n-1} = 2^{2n} \pi_!(y^{2n}) = 2^{2n-1} \frac{2n}{B_n} v_{2n-1} = 2^{2n-1} \frac{\operatorname{den}(\frac{B_n}{2n})}{\operatorname{num}(\frac{B_n}{2n})} v_{2n-1}.$$
(7.3.3)

Since  $\operatorname{num}(\frac{B_n}{2n})$  and  $2^{2n-1}\operatorname{den}(\frac{B_n}{2n})$  are coprime by von Staudt's theorem, the proposition follows.

Now we care about the last factor of 2. In the proof of Proposition 7.3.2, we did not really use the index theorem, because only the interpretation of  $\gamma_{2n-1}$  as the class of the Hodge bundle on the base and not its integrality required the use of analysis. This is not true for the proof of the next theorem, where the last factor of 2 is detected. In view of 7.3.3, it suffices to show that  $v_{2n-1}$  is divisible by 2. In other words:

**Proposition 7.3.4.** The class  $s_{2n-1}(\operatorname{ind} \overline{\partial}_{1+S}) \in H^{2n}(B;\mathbb{Z})$  is divisible by 2.

**Proof:** We compute

$$s_{2n-1}(\operatorname{ind}\bar{\partial}_{1+S}) = s_{2n-1}(\operatorname{ind}\bar{\partial}_{1}) + s_{2n-1}(\operatorname{ind}\bar{\partial}_{S}) = \gamma_{2n-1} + s_{2n-1}(\operatorname{i$$

By 7.3.3 and 7.1.4,  $\gamma_{2n-1}$  is divisible by 2.

If the dimension of the kernel of  $\bar{\partial}_S$  is constant (and thus the kernel is a vector bundle), then we see from Serre duality (2.4.4) that

$$\operatorname{ind} \bar{\partial}_S = \ker \bar{\partial}_S - \ker \bar{\partial}_S.$$

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup>This choice looks accidental, but it is not. The reason is that  $\Psi^2(\operatorname{ind}\bar{\partial}_{1+S}) = \operatorname{ind}\bar{\partial}_1$ ;  $\Psi^2$  is the Adams operation. The choice of the bundle 1 + S arises naturally from this requirement. Also, it should be more natural to consider the Dirac operator on spin surface bundles. This is true and the Dirac operator and the Cauchy-Riemann operator are closely related, but we prefer to use the Cauchy-Riemann operators which are more common.

Here it is really important that  $S^2 = \Lambda_v$  as holomorphic line bundles and not merely as complex line bundles. It is a general fact that for any complex vector bundle V, we have  $s_k(\bar{V}) = (-1)^k s_k(V)$ . Thus it follows that

$$s_{2n-1}(\operatorname{ind}\bar{\partial}_S) = 2s_{2n-1}(\ker\bar{\partial}_S),$$

as required. If the dimension of the kernel is not a constant function, then the argument above also applies. To see this, one has to look at the construction of the index bundle in that case (see [31]).  $\Box$ 

# 8 The icosahedral group and $\pi_3(B\Gamma_{\infty}^+)$

One possible construction for elements in the homotopy groups of  $B\Gamma_g^+$  arises in the following way. Take a homology *n*-sphere M and a representation  $\rho : \pi_1(M) \to \Gamma_g$ . We obtain a homotopy class of maps  $B\rho : M \to B\pi_1(M) \to B\Gamma_g$ , or an isomorphism class of surface bundles on M. Note, however, that the representation  $\rho$  does not need to be induced by an action of  $\pi_1(M)$  on  $\Sigma_g$  if  $\pi_1(M)$  is not finite.

Since the fundamental group of a homology sphere M is perfect, we can apply Quillen's plus construction to the whole fundamental group. The result is a 1-connected space  $M^+$  and a homology equivalence  $M \to M^+$ . The Hurewicz theorem tells us that  $\pi_n(M^+) \cong \mathbb{Z}$  and any generator of this group yields a homotopy equivalence  $M^+ \simeq \mathbb{S}^n$ .

Thus, if we apply the plus construction to the map  $B\rho$ , we obtain a homotopy class of maps  $\mathbb{S}^n \to B\Gamma_g$ , in other words, an element in  $\pi_n(B\Gamma_g^+)$ . A similar construction, applied to the general linear group instead of the mapping class group, was considered by Jones and Westbury in their paper [29], which we will use later and which was the stimulus for considering the icosahedral group in connection with the homotopy of the mapping class group.

The most famous case of a homology sphere, which was also the first example to be discovered is that of the Poincaré sphere, which I will describe now.

#### 8.1 The icosahedral group and the Poincaré sphere

Consider a regular icosahedron in Euclidean 3-space, centered at 0. It has 20 faces (which are triangles), 12 vertices (at every vertex, exactly 5 edges and 5 faces meet) and 30 edges. Let G be the symmetry group of the icosahedron. It acts transitively on the vertices as well as on the edges and faces of the icosahedron. We denote the isotropy subgroups of a chosen edge, face, vertex, respectively, by  $G_1$ ,  $G_2$  and  $G_3$ , respectively. The orders of this subgroups are 2, 3, 5, respectively. Thus G is a subgroup of SO(3) of order 60. It is well-known that G is isomorphic to the groups  $\mathbb{P} \operatorname{SL}_2(\mathbb{F}_5)$  and  $A_5$  (the alternating group). In particular, G is perfect.

There is a universal central extension  $\hat{G}$  of G by  $\mathbb{Z}/2$  which is isomorphic to  $\mathrm{SL}_2(\mathbb{F}_5)$ . We call this the *binary icosahedral group*. It can be obtained by taking the preimage of G under the 2-fold covering  $SU(2) \to SO(3)$ . The group  $\hat{G}$  is also perfect and its center is the same as the kernel of the map  $\phi : \hat{G} \to G$  and contains exactly one nontrivial element h. The quotient  $\hat{G} \setminus SU(2)$  is the Poincaré homology 3-sphere.

The Poincaré sphere also can be described as a Seifert 3-manifold ([47]). I give a short description of Seifert homology spheres.

Let  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ , and let  $(a_i, b_i)$  be pairs of coprime integers,  $i = 1, \ldots, n$ . Take n disjoint embedded discs in  $\mathbb{S}^2$  and let  $F := \mathbb{S}^2 \setminus (\mathbb{D}_1^2 \cup \ldots \cup \mathbb{D}_n^2)$ . Consider  $\mathbb{S}^1 \times F$ . Let h be the curve represented by  $\mathbb{S}^1$  and let  $x_i$  be the boundary of  $\mathbb{D}_i^2$ . Then n solid tori are glued in such that the meridian of the *i*th solid torus is glued to the curve  $a_i x_i + b_i h$ . The result is a closed manifold, the Seifert manifold  $M((a_1, b_1), \ldots, (a_n, b_n))$ . By the Seifert-van Kampen theorem, it follows that its fundamental group has the presentation

$$\langle h, x_1, \dots, x_n | [h, x_i] = 1, x_1 x_2 \dots x_n = 1, x_i^{a_i} = h^{-b_i} \rangle.$$

By the Hurewicz theorem,  $M((a_1, b_1), \ldots, (a_n, b_n))$  is an integral homology sphere if and only if  $a_1 \ldots a_n \sum_{i=1}^n \frac{b_i}{a_i} = \pm 1$ . If we take  $a_1 = 2, a_2 = 3, a_3 = 5, b_1 = -1, b_2 = 1, b_3 = 1$ , then we obtain the Poincaré sphere. This is not hard to see: Consider the quotient map  $\hat{G} \setminus \mathbb{S}^3 \to \hat{G} \setminus \mathbb{S}^3 / \mathbb{S}^1 = \hat{G} \setminus \mathbb{CP}^1$ . The latter is a compact Riemann surface which has necessarily genus 0 (If  $\mathbb{CP}^1 \to X$  is a nonconstant holomorphic map of Riemann surfaces, then  $X \cong \mathbb{CP}^1$ ). The quotient map  $M \to \mathbb{S}^2 = G \setminus \mathbb{CP}^1$  is not a fibration, but it has three singular fibers which lie over the orbit of the vertices, the orbit of the midpoints of the edges and the orbit of the midpoints of the faces of the icosahedron. With this construction, it is easy to derive the presentation of the Poincaré sphere as a Seifert sphere. This also gives us a presentation of the group  $\hat{G}$ :

$$\hat{G} \cong \langle h, x_1, x_2, x_3 | [x_i, h] = 1, x_1 x_2 x_3 = 1, x_1^2 = x_2^{-3} = x_3^{-5} = h \rangle.$$

The relation  $h^2 = 1$  does not seem to follow immediately from this presentation. From this presentation we derive a presentation of G:

$$G \cong \langle y_1, y_2, y_3 | y_1 y_2 y_3 = 1; y_1^2 = y_2^{-3} = y_3^{-5} = 1 \rangle$$

The map  $\hat{G} \to G$  is given by  $h \mapsto 1, x_i \mapsto y_i$ .  $y_i$  generates an isotropy group  $G_i \subset G$ . The Poincaré sphere seems to be the only example of a homology 3-sphere with *finite* fundamental group (cf [37]).

#### 8.2 Surfaces with an action of the icosahedral group

Now we construct certain actions of the binary icosahedral group on Riemann surfaces which in the end will give interesting elements in  $\pi_3(B\Gamma_g^+)$ . It is likely that these actions were already known to Felix Klein. The construction is based on an easy lemma. Let  $\mathcal{O}(k)$ be the *k*th tensor power of the Hopf bundle on  $\mathbb{CP}^1$ . Recall that the global holomorphic sections of  $\mathcal{O}(k)$  can be identified with the vector space of homogeneous polynomials of degree *k* on  $\mathbb{C}^2$ . Further,  $\mathcal{O}(k)$  is an  $\mathrm{SL}_2(\mathbb{C})$ -equivariant bundle over the  $\mathrm{SL}_2(\mathbb{C})$ -space  $\mathbb{CP}^1$ . If *k* is odd, then the central element -1 acts as -1 on  $\mathcal{O}(k)$  (i.e. on any fiber of the bundle). If *k* is even, then -1 acts trivially on  $\mathcal{O}(k)$ , i.e. the action descends to an action of  $\mathbb{P} \mathrm{SL}_2(\mathbb{C})$ .

**Lemma 8.2.1.** Let  $G \subset \mathbb{P} \operatorname{SL}_2(\mathbb{C})$  be a finite subgroup and let  $\hat{G} \subset \operatorname{SL}_2(\mathbb{C})$  be the extension of G by  $\mathbb{Z}/2$ . Let  $m \in \mathbb{N}$  be positive. Let s be a G-invariant holomorphic section of  $\mathcal{O}(2m)$ having only simple zeroes. Then there exists a hyperelliptic Riemann surface  $f : X \to \mathbb{CP}^1$ with a  $\hat{G}$ -action, such that f is equivariant. The construction has the following properties. If m is odd, then the central element  $h \in \hat{G}$  is the hyperelliptic involution, if m is even, then h acts trivially on X. Further, the branch points of f are precisely the zeroes of  $s.^5$ 

**Proof:** Let  $S \subset \mathcal{O}(2m)$  be the graph of the section s. It is a surface of genus 0 and it is stable under the *G*-action on  $\mathcal{O}(2m)$ . Let  $q : \mathcal{O}(m) \to \mathcal{O}(2m)$  be the squaring map, let  $X := q^{-1}(S)$  and let  $f := q|_X$ . Clearly, X has a  $\hat{G}$ -action and f is equivariant. Also, a generic point of S has exactly 2 preimages, being permuted by the involution -1 on the fibers on  $\mathcal{O}(m)$ . We need to show that X is a smooth connected Riemann surface. The smoothness of X is equivalent to the condition that the zeroes are simple (the locus  $\{(x,y) \in \mathbb{C}^2 | y^2 = x^m\}$  is smooth if and only if m = 1), and the connectivity is clear since s has precisely 2m > 0 zeroes.

We have seen that the antipodal map of  $\mathcal{O}(m)$  induces the hyperelliptic involution. This implies the second statement. The last sentence is clear from the construction.

From now on, let G again be the icosahedral group. I will give three examples of the construction above.

**Example 8.2.2.** Let  $z_1, \ldots, z_{30}$  be the midpoints of the edges of the icosahedron, considered as points on  $\mathbb{CP}^1$  instead on  $\mathbb{S}^2$ . The precise value of the points does not play a significant role in this discussion.

Now we take holomorphic sections  $s_i$ , i = 1, ..., 30 of the Hopf bundle  $\mathcal{O}(1)$  (alias square root of the tangent bundle of  $\mathbb{CP}^1$ ) having a simple zero at  $z_i$  and being nonzero elsewhere. Such sections exist and are unique up to multiplication with a complex constant. Set  $s := s_1 \otimes \ldots \otimes s_{30} \in H^0(\mathbb{CP}^1, \mathcal{O}(30)).$ 

For  $g \in \hat{G}$ , there exists a  $c(g) \in \mathbb{C}^{\times}$  with gs = c(g)s, because gs has the same zeroes as s. The map  $c : g \mapsto c(g)$  is a homomorphism  $\hat{G} \to \mathbb{C}^{\times}$ . Since  $\hat{G}$  has no Abelian quotient, c is constant. Thus, s is an invariant section.

If we apply the construction of the lemma to s, we obtain a surface of genus 14 (by the Riemann-Hurwitz formula) with a  $\hat{G}$ -action.

**Example 8.2.3.** Similarly, we can take the 12 vertices as branch points for the hyperelliptic covering. The result is a surface of genus 5. The central element h acts trivially on the surface. It is the surface of genus 5 which will give the best result (i.e., the order of the resulting element in  $\pi_3((B\Gamma_g)^+)$  is the largest).

**Example 8.2.4.** Similarly, we can take the 20 midpoints of the faces of the icosahedron as branch points. The result is a surface of genus 9 with an action of  $\hat{G}$ . The central element acts as the identity.

**Proposition 8.2.5.** 1. The number of fixed points of the elements  $x_1, x_2, x_3 \in \hat{G}$  in Example 8.2.2 is 2,0,0, respectively.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup>Conversely, the automorphism group of any hyperelliptic surface of genus  $g \ge 2$  is a possibly trivial extension of a finite subgroup of  $\mathbb{P}\operatorname{GL}_2(\mathbb{C})$  by  $\mathbb{Z}/2$ .

- 2. The number of fixed points of the elements  $x_1, x_2, x_3 \in \hat{G}$  in Example 8.2.3 is 4, 2, 4, respectively.
- 3. The number of fixed points of the elements  $x_1, x_2, x_3 \in \hat{G}$  in Example 8.2.4 is 4, 4, 2, respectively.

#### **Proof:**

**Example 8.2.2:** Since h is the hyperelliptic involution, it has precisely 2g + 2 = 30 fixed points, namely the branch points which lie over the midpoints of the edges of the icosahedron.

There are two fixed points of  $y_1$  on  $\mathbb{P}^1$ , and they are two opposite branch points (i.e. midpoints of edges). Thus,  $x_1$  has exactly 2 fixed points on X.

 $y_2$  fixes precisely two opposite midpoints of faces. Hence all fixed points of  $x_2$  lie over these two points. But if  $x_2$  would have at least one fixed point, then this must also be a fixed point of  $x_2^3 = h$ . This is impossible, since h has already the 30 fixed points mentioned above and since no nontrivial automorphism of a Riemann surface of genus  $g \leq 2$  can have more than 2g + 2 fixed points ([16], p.257). Thus  $x_2$  is fixed-point-free.

The same argument shows that  $x_3$  is also fixed-point free.

**Example 8.2.3:** Recall that h acts as the identity and that the branch points are precisely the midpoints of the 20 faces of the icosahedron, two of which are fixed by  $y_2$ .

Down on  $\mathbb{P}^1$ ,  $y_2$  has exactly 2 fixed points. Since both are branch points, it follows that the number of fixed points of  $x_2$  is 2.

Down on  $\mathbb{P}^1$ ,  $y_3$  has exactly 2 fixed points, which are not branch points and thus have 2 preimages. The two points in the preimage are permuted by  $x_3$ . Because  $x_3$  acting on the surface has *odd order*, the permutation of the two preimages must be the identity. Thus  $x_3$  has 4 fixed points.

The consideration for  $x_1$  is slightly more complicated.  $y_1$  has exactly 2 fixed points on  $\mathbb{P}^1$  (they are midpoints of two opposite edges of the icosahedron). A more careful look at the action of h and  $x_1$  shows that the number of fixed points must be 4.

**Example 8.2.4:** Now the vertices of the icosahedron are the branch points and the central element h acts as the identity.

The generator  $y_3$  has two fixed points, and since they are branch points,  $x_3$  also has 2 fixed points.

 $y_2$  has 2 fixed points on  $\mathbb{P}^1$  and so  $x_2$  has 4 fixed points (since its order is odd and the fixed points lie over the two fixed points of  $x_2$ ).

 $x_1$  has 4 fixed points. To see this, let  $q \in \mathbb{CP}^1$  be the midpoint of an edge fixed by  $x_1$  and let  $p_1, p_2$  be the adjacent vertices. The preimage of the edge containing q under the hyperelliptic covering is a simple closed curve S which is fixed by  $x_1$  (as a set, not pointwise).  $y_1$ defines a diffeomorphism f of the curve. Since  $x_1$  changes the adjacent faces of the edge, the resulting diffeomorphism is *orientation-reversing* and interchanges two opposite points (the preimages of  $p_i$ ). Further, we can choose a parameterization of S by  $\mathbb{S}^1$  and of the arc in  $\mathbb{P}^1$  by [-1, 1], such that the branch points correspond to  $\pm$  and the projection to the arc in  $\mathbb{P}^1$  to the real part and such that f is linear. Then it follows that  $f(z) = -\overline{z}$ . This shows that  $x_2$  has two fixed points on the curve and thus the total number of fixed points is 4.  $\Box$ 

#### 8.3 Review of the work by Jones-Westbury

Now I will describe the work [29] by Jones and Westbury. They consider the following situation. Assume that M is a homology n-sphere and assume that  $\rho : \pi_1(M) \to \operatorname{SL}_N(\mathbb{C})$ is a representation (in fact, any representation  $\pi_1(M) \to \operatorname{GL}_N(\mathbb{C})$  takes values in  $\operatorname{SL}_N(\mathbb{C})$ , because  $\pi_1(M)$  is perfect). The representation defines a map  $B\rho : M \to B\pi_1(M) \to$  $B\operatorname{GL}_N(\mathbb{C}^{\delta})$  (the latter is the classifying space of  $\operatorname{GL}_N(\mathbb{C})$ , considered as a discrete group). After stabilization ( $\operatorname{GL}_N \to \operatorname{GL}_\infty = \operatorname{colim} \operatorname{GL}_N$ ) and application of the Quillen plus construction to, we obtain a homotopy class of maps  $\mathbb{S}^n \simeq M^+ \to (B\operatorname{GL}_\infty(\mathbb{C})^{\delta})^+$ , or, in other words, an element in  $\pi_n((B\operatorname{GL}_\infty(\mathbb{C})^{\delta})^+) = K_n(\mathbb{C}^{\delta})$ . More precisely,  $\operatorname{SL}_\infty(\mathbb{C}^{\delta}) \subset \operatorname{GL}_\infty(\mathbb{C}^{\delta})$ is the commutator subgroup and it is perfect. Thus we can take the Quillen plus construction of  $B\operatorname{GL}_\infty(\mathbb{C}^{\delta})$  with respect to the group  $\operatorname{SL}_\infty(\mathbb{C}^{\delta})$ . The result is the unit component  $(K\mathbb{C}^{\delta})_0$  of the K-theory space of the discrete ring  $\mathbb{C}^{\delta}$ . Because the representation takes values in  $\operatorname{SL}_\infty(\mathbb{C})$ , the image of the map induced by  $B\rho$  on fundamental groups is in the group  $\operatorname{SL}_\infty(\mathbb{C})$ . Hence the Quillen plus construction applies to  $B\rho$ .

Further, for odd values of n, there exists a homomorphism  $e : K_n(\mathbb{C}^{\delta}) \to \mathbb{C}/\mathbb{Z}$ . The name for this homomorphism results from the fact that it extends the classical *e*-invariant  $e : \pi_{2n+1}^{st} \to \mathbb{Q}/\mathbb{Z}$  defined by Adams. Let us explain the meaning of the last phrase. By the Barratt-Priddy-Quillen theorem (see, for example [48]), there is a homotopy equivalence  $\mathbb{Z} \times B\Sigma_{\infty}^+ \simeq Q(\mathbb{S}^0)$ , where the plus construction on the left hand side is taken with respect to the alternating group, which is perfect. The obvious representation  $\Sigma_{\infty} \to \operatorname{GL}_{\infty}(\mathbb{Z})$ , together with the inclusion  $\mathbb{Z} \subset \mathbb{C}^{\delta}$ , gives us a map  $q : Q(\mathbb{S}^0) \to K\mathbb{Z} \to K\mathbb{C}^{\delta}$  and thus a homomorphism  $\pi_{2n+1}^{st} \to K_{2n+1}(\mathbb{C}^{\delta})$  ([43]) <sup>6</sup>.

Let us also recall the classical fact that  $e: \pi_3^{st} \to \frac{1}{24}\mathbb{Z}/\mathbb{Z}$  is an isomorphism.

Jones and Westbury considered the problem of computing the *e*-invariant for those classes in  $K_3(\mathbb{C}^{\delta})$  defined by Seifert-spheres and representations of their fundamental groups, at least for special classes of homology spheres and special classes of representations.

Let  $M = M((a_1, b_1), \ldots, (a_n, b_n))$  be a Seifert homology sphere and let  $\rho : \pi_1(M) \to$ SL<sub>N</sub>( $\mathbb{C}$ ) be a representation (alias flat vector bundle on M), such that  $\rho(h)$  acts as a scalar  $\lambda_h$ . Define

$$\alpha_i := \rho(x_i)$$

and let

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup>An alternative way to see the map q: Recall that the K-theory space of a ring R is an infinite loop space. A map  $\mathbb{S}^0 \to KR$  is given by sending the non-basepoint in  $\mathbb{S}^0$  to a point in the 1-component of KR. By the universal property of the functor Q from spaces to infinite loop spaces, this map extends uniquely (up to homotopy) to  $Q(\mathbb{S}^0)$ .

$$\lambda_1(i),\ldots,\lambda_N(i)$$

be the eigenvalues of  $\alpha_i$ . We have

$$\lambda_h =: \zeta_N^{r_h}, \zeta_N := \exp(\frac{2\pi i}{N}).$$

We define rational numbers  $s_k(j)$  by the relation

$$\lambda_k(j) =: \zeta_{Na_j}^{Ns_k(j) - b_j r_h}.$$

Let *e* be the *e*-invariant of the element in  $K_3(\mathbb{C}^{\delta})$  defined by the map  $M \to B \operatorname{SL}_N(\mathbb{C}^{\delta}) \to B \operatorname{GL}(\mathbb{C}^{\delta})$  given by the representation  $\rho$ . Theorem C in [29] states that

$$2\Re Ne = -a \sum_{j=1}^{n} \sum_{k=1}^{N} \sum_{l=1}^{N} \frac{(s_k(j) - s_l(j))^2}{2a_j^2} \in \mathbb{C}/\mathbb{Z},$$

where  $a := a_1 \dots a_n$ . In the case where *h* acts as the identity, there is a simpler formula to compute the *e*-invariant ([29], Lemma 5.3 and Theorem A), namely

$$e = -\sum_{j=1}^{n} \sum_{k=1}^{N} \frac{as_k(j)^2}{2a_j^2}.$$

The proof of these formulae depend strongly on the Atiyah-Patodi-Singer index theorem for manifolds with boundary.

# 8.4 Application of the Jones-Westbury formula to the mapping class group

In this section, we compute the *e*-invariants of the representations of the icosahedral group on the first homology spaces of the surfaces from the examples 8.2.2, 8.2.3, 8.2.4 constructed above. We keep the notation from the last subsections. Recall that we have

$$(a_1, b_1) = (2, -1); (a_2, b_2) = (3, 1); (a_2, b_2) = (5, 1).$$

**Proposition 8.4.1.** The e-invariant of the element in  $K_3(\mathbb{Z})$  given by example 8.2.2 has order 6, 12 or 24 in  $\mathbb{Q}/\mathbb{Z}$ .

We cannot obtain a sharper result with these methods.

**Proof:** Because h is the hyperelliptic involution, it acts as -1 on the first homology group. Since N = 28, we have  $r_h = 14$ .

Since  $x_1$  has 2 fixed points, it follows that  $tr(\alpha_1) = 0$  by the Lefschetz fixed point formula. Because  $x_1^2 = h$ , the eigenvalues are  $\pm i$ , the multiplicities being 14 for both signs.

Thus  $s_k(1) = 0$  for k = 1, ..., 14;  $s_k(1) = 1$  for k = 15, ..., 28. The first summand in the Jones-Westbury formula amounts to

$$56e_1 = -30\sum_{k=1}^{28}\sum_{l=1}^{28}\frac{(s_k(1) - s_l(1))^2}{2a_1^2} = -\cdot 30 \cdot 49 \equiv 0 \pmod{\mathbb{Z}}$$

Because  $x_2$  is fixed-point-free, it follows that  $tr(\alpha_2) = 2$ . Because  $x_2^3 = h$ , it follows that the eigenvalues of  $\alpha_2$  are of the form  $\zeta_6^j$  with j = 1, 3 or 5. Let  $\mu_i$  be the number of eigenvalues with power *i*. We must determine  $\mu_i$ . The relevant equations are

- 1.  $\mu_1 + \mu_3 + \mu_5 = 28;$
- 2.  $\zeta_6 \mu_1 + \zeta_6^3 \mu_2 + \zeta_6^5 \mu_3 = 2$  (trace formula);
- 3.  $\mu_1 = \mu_5 \ (\alpha_1 \text{ is real}).$

These equations have a unique integral nonnegative solution,  $(\mu_1, \mu_3, \mu_5) = (10, 8, 10)$ . Thus  $s_1(2) = \ldots = s_{10}(2) = 1$ ;  $s_{11}(2) = \ldots = s_{20}(2) = 0$ ;  $s_{21}(2) = \ldots = s_{28}(2) = 2$ . The contribution to the *e*-invariant is

$$56e_2 = -\frac{30}{18}(1000) = -\frac{5}{3}(1000) \equiv -\frac{5}{3} \pmod{\mathbb{Z}} \equiv \frac{1}{3} \pmod{\mathbb{Z}}.$$

The computation of the third summand follows the same pattern. We end up with  $s_1(3) = \ldots s_6(3) = 1, s_7(3) = \ldots s_{12}(3) = 2, s_{13}(3) = \ldots s_{18}(3) = 4, s_{19}(3) = \ldots s_{24}(3) = 0, s_{25}(3) = \ldots s_{28}(3) = 3$ . It follows that  $56e_3 = -\frac{30}{50}(36+6)80 \equiv 0 \pmod{\mathbb{Z}}$ . In the end, we obtain  $56e \equiv \frac{1}{3}$ .

Choose a representative of e in  $\mathbb{Q}$ , also denoted e. Because e must be annihilated by 24 in  $\mathbb{Q}/\mathbb{Z}$  (see section 8.6), we can write  $e = \frac{s}{24}$  for  $s \in \mathbb{Z}$ . We obtain  $\frac{56s}{24} = r + \frac{1}{3}$  which implies the proposition.

**Proposition 8.4.2.** For Example 8.2.3, the e-invariant is  $\frac{1}{2}$ . For Example 8.2.4, the e-invariant is  $-\frac{1}{12}$ .

**Proof:** We keep the notation as before and treat first Example 8.2.3. Then N = 18. By the count of fixed points and the Lefschetz formula, we see that  $tr(\alpha_1) = -2$ ,  $tr(\alpha_2) = 0$ ,  $tr(\alpha_3) = -2$ .

The eigenvalues of  $\alpha_1$  are of the form  $\pm 1$ . It follows that  $s_1(1) = \dots s_8(1) = 0$  and  $s_9(1) = \dots s_{18}(1) = 1$ . The contribution to the *e*-invariant is  $e_1 = -30 \sum_{k=1}^{18} \frac{s_k(1)^2}{8} = -\frac{75}{2} \equiv \frac{1}{2} \pmod{\mathbb{Z}}$  (mod  $\mathbb{Z}$ ) (we use the simplification of the Jones-Westbury formula).

For  $y_2$ , it follows that  $s_1(2) = \ldots = s_6(2) = 0$ ,  $s_7(2) = \ldots = s_{12}(2) = 1$ ,  $s_{13}(2) = \ldots = s_{18}(2) = 2$  and that  $e_2 = \frac{-900}{18} \equiv 0 \pmod{\mathbb{Z}}$ .

For the last summand, we obtain  $s_1(3) = s_2(3) = 0$ ;  $s_3(3) = \ldots = s_6(3) = 1$ ,  $s_7(3) = \ldots = s_{10}(3) = 2$ ;  $s_{11}(3) = \ldots = s_{14}(3) = 3$ ,  $s_{15}(3) = \ldots = s_{18}(3) = 4$ . The summand for the *e*-invariant is  $-180 \equiv 0 \pmod{\mathbb{Z}}$ .

Summing everything up, gives us  $e = \frac{1}{2}$ .

For Example 8.2.4, we only give the results, because the computation follows the same pattern.

 $s_{1}(1) = \dots = s_{4}(1) = 0, \ s_{5}(1) = \dots = s_{10}(1) = 1. \text{ Thus } e_{1} = \frac{-75}{4}.$   $s_{1}(2) = \dots = s_{2}(2) = 0, \ s_{3}(2) = \dots = s_{6}(2) = 1; \ s_{7}(2) = \dots = s_{10}(2) = 2. \text{ Thus } e_{2} = \frac{-100}{3}.$   $s_{1}(3) = s_{2}(3) = 0, \ s_{3}(3) = s_{4}(3) = 1, \ s_{5}(3) = s_{6}(3) = 2; \ s_{7}(3) = s_{8}(3) = 3, \ s_{9}(3) = s_{10}(3) = 4. \text{ Hence } e_{3} \equiv 0 \pmod{\mathbb{Z}}.$ In the end, we obtain  $e \equiv -\frac{1}{12}.$ 

#### 8.5 Increasing the genus

Example 8.2.4 produces an element  $\pi_3(B\Gamma_5^+)$  whose *e*-invariant is  $\frac{1}{12}$ . The question arises whether we can increase the genus of the surface, since  $\pi_3(B\Gamma_5)^+$  is certainly not in the stable range for Harer stability.

Geometrically, the stabilization procedure is as follows. Consider our surface X of genus 5 with an action of the icosahedral group G, which is *faithful* (the central element  $h \in \hat{G}$  acts as the identity on X). Then we choose a point  $p \in X$  which is not fixed by any nontrivial  $g \in G$  and an embedding  $j : \mathbb{D}^2 \to X$ ,  $p \in D = j(\mathbb{D}^2)$ , such that  $gD \cap hD = \emptyset$  whenever  $g, h \in G, g \neq h$ . Let  $F_n$  be a surface of genus n with one parameterized boundary component. Define  $X_n$  as the pushout of the diagram



Then  $X_n$  is a closed smooth surface of genus 5 + 60n with an faithful G-action. The representation of  $\hat{G}$  on  $H_1(X_n)$  is the direct sum  $H_1(X) \oplus 2n \cdot \phi^* \mathbb{Z} G$ , where  $\phi : \hat{G} \to G$  was the extension homomorphism and  $\mathbb{Z} G$  denotes the regular representation of G. Since the *e*-invariant is additive as a map  $R\hat{G} \to \mathbb{Q}/\mathbb{Z}$  (see [29]), we need to compute the *e*-invariant of the regular representation of G, pulled back to  $\hat{G}$ . We do this with the Jones-Westbury formula again. Because  $\hat{G}$  is perfect, the regular representation takes values in the special linear group.

Let  $\alpha : \hat{G} \to \operatorname{SL}_{120}(\mathbb{C})$  represent  $2 \cdot \phi^* \mathbb{Z} G$ . Certainly, the central element acts as the identity. If we restrict the representation  $2 \cdot \mathbb{Z} G$  to the subgroup  $\langle y_1 \rangle \subset G$  of order 2, it is the sum of 60 copies of the regular representation of  $\mathbb{Z}/2$ . Thus, the contribution to the *e*-invariant is  $e_1 = -\frac{30}{8} \cdot 60 \equiv 0 \pmod{\mathbb{Z}}$ . Similarly, the second summand in the Jones-Westbury formula becomes  $-\frac{1000}{3} \equiv -\frac{1}{3} \pmod{\mathbb{Z}}$  (the representation restricted to  $\langle y_2 \rangle$  is 40 times the regular representation of  $\mathbb{Z}/3$ . The third summand is  $e_3 \equiv 0 \pmod{\mathbb{Z}}$ . Thus we obtain

**Proposition 8.5.1.** The e-invariant of the action  $\hat{G} \curvearrowright X_n$  is  $-\frac{1}{12} - \frac{n}{3}$ .

In particular, we do not obtain element with *e*-invariants of higher order. It seems reasonable that this result is the best possible, i.e. that there does not exist an action of the binary icosahedral group on some surface such that the resulting element in  $\pi_3(B\Gamma^+_{\infty})$  has a smaller *e*-invariant. To prove this, it would suffice to show that the *e*invariant of any *integral* representation of  $\hat{G}$  belongs to  $(\frac{1}{12}\mathbb{Z})/\mathbb{Z} \subset \mathbb{Q}/\mathbb{Z}$ . How can one show this? The *e*-invariant defines an additive homomorphisms  $R\hat{G} \to \mathbb{C}/\mathbb{Z}$ . The representation ring of the finite group  $\hat{G}$  is a free finitely generated abelian group and one has a rather small explicit basis. By direct checking it is possible to find a  $\mathbb{Z}$ -basis for the subgroup of  $R\hat{G}$  consisting of representations which are defined over the integers. However, the amount of time and paper one needs for this may be quite large and so we refrain from doing anything in this direction.

#### 8.6 Concluding remarks

Proposition 6.6.7 and the Madsen-Weiss theorem show that  $\pi_3(B\Gamma_{\infty}^+) \cong \mathbb{Z}/24$  and an isomorphism is induced by  $B\Gamma_{\infty}^+ \to Q(\mathbb{CP}_+^\infty) \to Q(\mathbb{S}^0)$ . Theorem 6.8.1 tells us that the maps

$$\mathbb{Z} \times B\Gamma^+_{\infty} \to \mathbb{Z} \times B\operatorname{GL}_{\infty}(\mathbb{Z})^+$$

given by the action on the first homology and

$$\mathbb{Z} \times B\Gamma_{\infty}^{+} \to \Omega^{\infty} \mathbb{G}_{-2}^{SO} \to Q(\mathbb{CP}_{+}^{\infty}) \to Q(\mathbb{S}^{0}) \to \mathbb{Z} \times B\operatorname{GL}_{\infty}(\mathbb{Z})^{+}$$

are homotopic.

Since the *e*-invariant  $\pi_3(Q(\mathbb{S}^0)) \to \mathbb{Q}/\mathbb{Z}$  is injective, the composition

$$\pi_3(B\Gamma^+_\infty) \to \pi_3(Q(\mathbb{S}^0)) \to \mathbb{Q}/\mathbb{Z}$$

is also injective and it agrees with the composition

$$\pi_3(B\Gamma^+_\infty) \to K_3(\mathbb{Z}) \to \mathbb{Q}/\mathbb{Z}$$

of the representation map with the *e*-invariant. This shows that the order of the element in  $\pi_3(B\Gamma^+_{\infty})$  with *e*-invariant 1/12 constructed in this chapter has order 12 (and not 24).

## A Appendix on groupoids

In this appendix, we give the proof of two abstract statements about classifying spaces of topological groupoids.

**Lemma A.0.1.** Let G be a topological groupoid with a discrete object set. Let R be a system of representatives for the set  $\mathfrak{Ob}(G)/\cong$ . Then the functor

$$F:\coprod_{x\in R}\operatorname{Aut}(x)\to G$$

induces a homotopy equivalence of classifying spaces:

$$\prod_{x \in R} B\operatorname{Aut}(x) \to BG$$

**Proof:** We show that F is an equivalence of topological categories by defining an inverse functor H.

For any  $y \in \mathfrak{Ob}(G)$ , there is a unique object  $H(y) \in R$  and an isomorphism  $a_y : H(y) \to y$ . We define H by sending

$$y \mapsto x; (g: y \to z) \mapsto a_z^{-1} \circ g \circ a_y.$$

We write composition in a category contravariantly, pretending that the morphisms are maps between sets. Since the object set is discrete, H is a continuous functor. It is trivial to check that H is right adjoint (it is even an equivalence of categories). Thus F and H induce mutually inverse homotopy equivalences.

Let H be a topological groupoid (with discrete object set); G a topological group with unit 1 and  $\phi: H \to G$  a continuous morphism of groupoids. The *kernel* of  $\phi$  is the groupoid whose objects are the objects of H and whose morphisms are the elements  $h \in \mathfrak{Mor}(H)$ with  $\phi(h) = 1$ . We say that a morphism of groupoids (alias functor)  $\Phi: H \to G$  is *surjective* if for any object  $x \in \mathfrak{Ob}(H)$  and any  $g \in \mathfrak{Mor}(G) = G$ , there exists  $y \in \mathfrak{Ob}(H)$  and  $h \in \mathfrak{Mor}_H(x; y)$  with  $\Phi(h) = g$ .

**Proposition A.0.2.** Let G, H and  $\phi$  as before and let  $K = \ker \phi$ . Assume that  $\phi$  is surjective in the sense that for any  $g \in G$ , there exists  $h \in \mathfrak{Mor}H$  with  $\phi(h) = g$ . Assume further that the map  $\mathfrak{Mor}(H) \to G$  is a Serre fibration.

Then the canonical map from BK to the homotopy fiber of  $B\phi: BH \to BG$  is a homotopy equivalence.

The proof is a bit longer. First, we prove the proposition under the assumption that G and H are *discrete*. We can use Quillen's Theorem B ([44], p. 97) to do the job. We state it in greater generality than actually needed. Let  $F : \mathcal{A} \to \mathcal{B}$  be a functor between small categories. For an object  $Y \in \mathfrak{Ob}(\mathcal{B})$ , we define the *right fiber* Y/F to be the category

whose objects are the pairs (X, b); X an object of  $\mathcal{A}$  and  $b : Y \to F(X)$  a morphism in  $\mathcal{B}$ . A morphism  $(X; b) \to (X', b')$  in Y/F is a morphism  $a : X \to X'$  in  $\mathcal{A}$  such that  $b' = F(a) \circ b$ .

Any morphism  $\beta: Y \to Y'$  in  $\mathcal{B}$  determines a functor  $\beta^*: Y'/F \to Y/F$  by sending (X', b') to  $(X', b' \circ \beta)$ . This functor is called the *transition map*. There is an obvious forgetful functor  $v: Y/F \to \mathcal{A}$ . There is also an obvious functor  $u: Y/F \to Y/\mathcal{B}$ , where the latter is the category of all objects over Y in  $\mathcal{B}$ . The classifying space of  $Y/\mathcal{B}$  is contractible, since it has a terminal object. Quillen's Theorem B states that if all transition maps induce homotopy equivalences on the level of classifying spaces, then the following commutative diagram is homotopy cartesian:



In other words, B(Y/F) is the homotopy fiber of  $BF : B\mathcal{A} \to B\mathcal{B}$ . If  $\mathcal{B} = G$  is a group, then every morphism in  $\mathcal{B}$  is an isomorphism and thus every transition map is a homotopy equivalence after realization. Thus the assumption of Quillen's Theorem B are satisfied. It remains to identify B(Y/F) with BK. Let  $F : H \to G$  be a morphism of groupoids, let G be a group and let  $\phi$  be surjective. Let K be the kernel of  $\phi$ .

Let \* be the object of  $\mathcal{B}$ . We define a functor  $\mathcal{F}: K \to */\phi$ :

The objects of K are the objects of H, and  $\mathcal{F}$  sends an object a to the object  $(a, 1) \in \mathfrak{Ob}(*/\phi)$ . A morphism  $f: a \to b$  in H is in K if and only if  $\phi(f) = 1$ ; and  $\mathcal{F}$  sends it to the morphism  $f: (a, 1) \to (b, 1)$ . It is readily checked that  $\mathcal{F}$  is essentially surjective (every object in  $*/\phi$  is isomorphic to one of the form  $\mathcal{F}(a)$ ) and that  $\mathcal{F}$  is bijective on morphism sets. Under these circumstances,  $\mathcal{F}$  induces a homotopy equivalence on classifying spaces. Note that the construction of  $\mathcal{F}$  is natural in G, H and  $\phi$ .

This finishes the proof of the proposition in the case that H and G are discrete.

In the general case, we want to apply a generalized version of Quillen's Theorem B, due to Waldhausen ([54]). It is stated for simplicial categories. Recall that a *simplicial category* is a simplicial object in the category of small categories and functors. The standard example is the singular simplicial category  $S_{\bullet}C$  of a topological category C. The objects of the category  $S_nC$  in the *n*th degree are the continuous maps from the standard *n*-simplex  $\Delta^n$ to the object space of C, the morphisms of  $S_nC$  are the continuous maps  $\Delta^n \to \mathfrak{Mor}(C)$ , with pointwise composition.

If  $\mathcal{A}_{\bullet}$  is a simplicial category, we can form its *nerve*  $N_{\bullet}\mathcal{A}_{\bullet}$ , which is the bisimplicial set  $([n], [m]) \mapsto N_n \mathcal{A}_m := Funct([n]; \mathcal{A}_m)$ , where [n] is the partially ordered set  $0 < 1 < \ldots n$ , viewed as a category.

For any bisimplicial set  $([n], [m]) \mapsto X_{n,m}$ , there is a canonical homeomorphism between the iterated realizations:

$$|[n] \mapsto |[m] \mapsto X_{n,m}|| \cong |[m] \mapsto |[n] \mapsto X_{n,m}||,$$

see [44], p. 94. We denote both spaces with the symbol  $B|\mathcal{A}_{\bullet}|$ . In the case that  $X_{n,m} = N_n S_m \mathcal{C}$  for a topological category  $\mathcal{C}$ , this shows that

$$|[m] \mapsto |[n] \mapsto N_n S_m \mathcal{C}|| \cong |[m] \mapsto B(S_m \mathcal{C})|$$

and

$$|[n] \mapsto |[m] \mapsto N_n S_m \mathcal{C}|| \cong |[n] \mapsto |S_{\bullet} N_n \mathcal{C}|$$

are homeomorphic. Because for any space X; X and  $|S_{\bullet}X|$  are weakly homotopy equivalent, we see that

$$|[n] \mapsto |S_{\bullet}N_n\mathcal{C}| \simeq |[n] \mapsto N_n\mathcal{C}| = B\mathcal{C}.$$

All homeomorphisms and homotopy equivalences occurring in this discussion are natural. It follows that we can replace H, G and  $\phi$  in the proposition by their singular simplicial counterpart. More precisely, we study  $S_{\bullet}\phi: S_{\bullet}H \to S_{\bullet}G$ . It is a simplicial functor. Let us state Waldhausens improvement of Quillen's Theorem B. Assume that  $F_{\bullet}: \mathcal{A}_{\bullet} \to \mathcal{B}_{\bullet}$  is a simplicial functor. We make the additional assumption that any object in  $\mathcal{B}_{\bullet}$  is isomorphic to a zero-dimensional one. That means the following: For any  $y \in \mathfrak{Ob}(\mathcal{B}_q)$ , there exist  $z \in \mathfrak{Ob}(\mathcal{B}_0)$  and an isomorphism  $f: y \to \epsilon^* z$ ; where  $\epsilon: [q] \to [0]$  is the unique map. Then the right fiber over  $y \in \mathcal{B}_0$  is the simplicial category

$$q \mapsto F_n/\epsilon^* y.$$

If all transition maps of the right fibers which are induced by morphisms in  $\mathcal{B}_0$  are homotopy equivalences, then the analogous statement to Quillen's Theorem B is true. There is a version without the assumption about the zero-dimensional objects which we do not need here.

In our case,  $\mathcal{B} = S_{\bullet}G$  is a simplicial group and thus it has only one object in any degree. Thus the additional assumption is satisfied. The transition maps are all homotopy equivalences because all morphisms in  $\mathcal{B}_0$  are isomorphisms.

The assumption that our original  $\phi$  was a surjective Serre fibration implies that  $S_n\phi$ :  $S_nH \to S_nG$  is a surjective homomorphism of discrete groupoids with kernel  $S_nK$ . We conclude that we have a homotopy equivalence

$$BK = B|[n] \mapsto S_n K| \to B|[n] \mapsto F_n/\epsilon^* * | = B(F_{\bullet}/*)$$

by the consideration for the discrete case. By the improved Theorem B, it follows that

$$B(F/*) \rightarrow \operatorname{hofib} B|S_{\bullet}\phi|$$

is a homotopy equivalence, which finishes the proof of the proposition.

## **B** List of notations

 $At(M,\sigma)$  — the Atiyah invariant of the spin structure  $\sigma$  on the surface M (4.1.2)

 $B_n$  — *n*th Bernoulli number, 7.1.3

BG — classifying space of the group G

C(X;Y) — space of continuous maps  $X \to Y$ 

 $\chi_A(V)$  — Euler class in the generalized cohomology theory A of the A-oriented vector bundle V

 $\bar{\partial}_V$  — Cauchy-Riemann operator on a surface bundle twisted with a vector bundle V den(q) — denominator of the rational number q

 $\operatorname{Diff}(M)$  — usually the group of *orientation-preserving* diffeomorphisms of the manifold M

 $\operatorname{Diff}_0(M)$  — the group of diffeomorphisms of M homotopic to the identity

 $\mathrm{Diff}(M,\sigma)$  — subgroup of  $\mathrm{Diff}(M),$  consisting of diffeomorphisms fixing the spin structure  $\sigma$  (3.2.1)

e — the e-invariant (only in chapter 8)

e(V) — Euler class in ordinary cohomology of the oriented vector bundle V

 $\chi_A(V)$  — Euler class in the generalized cohomology theory A

 $EG \to BG$  — universal *G*-principal bundle;  $E(G; X) \to BG$  — the bundle  $EG \times_G X$ ; where X is a *G*-space

 $G \curvearrowright X$  — the group G acts on the space X

 $G^{\delta}(\mathbb{C}^{\delta})$  — the Lie group G (the ring  $\mathbb{C}$ ) considered as discrete group (ring)

 $\mathbb{G}_{-d}^{\mathbf{F}}$  — the generalized Madsen-Tillmann spectrum (6.3.2)

 $\operatorname{GL}_d^+(\mathbb{R})$  — the group of all real matrices with positive determinant

 $\operatorname{GL}_{d}^{+}(\mathbb{R})$  — the twofold connected covering group of  $\operatorname{GL}_{d}^{+}(\mathbb{R})$  (3.1)

 $\Gamma_g, \Gamma_{g,n}, \Gamma_{\infty}$  — mapping class group of closed surfaces of genus g, mapping class group of surfaces of genus g with n boundary components, infinite mapping class group

 $\Gamma_g^{\epsilon}, \hat{\Gamma}_g^{\epsilon}$  — subgroup of the mapping class group fixing a spin structure of Atiyah invariant  $\epsilon$ , spin mapping class group of genus g and Atiyah invariant  $\epsilon$ 

 $\gamma_n, \gamma_n(E), \gamma_n(\pi)$  — the symplectic cohomology classes (2.3.8)

 $\mathbf{k}$  — connective complex topological K-theory spectrum

 $\kappa_n, \kappa_n(\pi), \kappa_n(E)$  — the Morita-Miller-Mumford classes or MMM-classes (2.3.1)

KR — algebraic K-theory spectrum of the discrete ring R

 $\Lambda_v E$  — vertical cotangent bundle of the manifold bundle  $\pi: E \to B$ 

 $\lambda_n$  — the analytical Morita-Mumford classes (6.9.6)

 $\mathfrak{M}_q$  — moduli space of Riemann surfaces of genus g

 $\mathfrak{Mor}(C)$  — morphism space of the topological category C

 $\mathcal{O}_C$  — sheaf of local holomorphic functions on the Riemann surface C

 $\mathfrak{Ob}(C)$  — object space of the topological category C

 $\Omega_d^{\mathbf{F}}$  — the normal **F**-bordism group

 $\Omega^{\infty} \mathbf{E}$  — infinite loop space of the spectrum  $\mathbf{E}$ 

 $\Omega_a \mathbf{E}$  — the component of  $\Omega^{\infty} \mathbf{E}$  which corresponds to  $a \in \pi_0(\mathbf{E}) = \pi_0(\Omega^{\infty} \mathbf{E})$ 

 $\pi: E \rightarrow B$  — default notation for a manifold bundle

 $Q(X), Q_0(X)$  — the infinite loop space of the spectrum  $\Sigma^{\infty} X$ , the unit component of Q(X)

 $\mathcal{S}(M)$  — the space of all almost complex structures on the surface M

 $s_n$  — integral Chern character class (2.3)

 $SP_{2n}(R)$  — the symplectic group with entries in R (2.3.5)

SPIN(M) — the groupoid of all spin structures on the manifold M (3.3.1)

 $\operatorname{Sdiff}(M,\sigma)$  — the group of spin diffeomorphisms of  $(M,\sigma)$  (3.3.4)

Sdiff(M) — the groupoid of all spin structures and spin diffeomorphisms of M (3.3.4)

 $\operatorname{Sdiff}(M)^{\epsilon}$  — the groupoid of all spin structures with Atiyah invariant  $\epsilon$  and all spin dif-

feomorphisms (if M is a surface)

 $\Sigma_n, \Sigma_\infty$  — the symmetric groups

 $\Sigma^\infty X$  — suspension spectrum of a pointed space X

 $\mathcal{T}_g$  — Teichmüller space of Riemann surfaces of genus g

 $T_v E$  — vertical tangent bundle of the manifold bundle  $\pi: E \to B$ 

Th(V) — Thom space of the vector bundle V

 $\mathbb{T}\mathbf{h}(V)$  — Thom spectrum of the stable vector bundle V (6.1.5)

 $V_n(\pi)$  — *n*th Hodge bundle of the surface bundle  $\pi: E \to B$ .

 $X_+$  — the space X with an additional base point

 $X^+$  — the Quillen plus construction applied to X

### References

- Adams, John F.: Infinite loop spaces. Annals of Mathematics Studies, 90. Princeton University Press, Princeton, N.J.; University of Tokyo Press, Tokyo, 1978.
- [2] Adams, John F.: Stable homotopy and generalised homology. Reprint of the 1974 original. Chicago Lectures in Mathematics. University of Chicago Press, Chicago, IL, 1995.
- [3] Akita, Toshiyuki; Kawazumi, Nariya; Uemura, Takeshi: Periodic surface automorphisms and algebraic independence of Morita-Mumford classes. J. Pure Appl. Algebra 160 (2001), no. 1, 1-11.
- [4] Atiyah, M. F.: Bott periodicity and the index of elliptic operators. Quart. J. Math. Oxford Ser. (2) 19 (1968) 113-140.
- [5] Atiyah, Michael F.: Riemann surfaces and spin structures. Ann. scient. Ec. Norm. Sup. 4e serie, t. 4, (1971), 47-62.
- [6] Atiyah, Michael F.; Singer, Isidore: The index of elliptic operators IV. Ann. of Math. (2) 93 (1971), 119-138.
- [7] Atiyah, Michael F.; Singer, Isidore: The index of elliptic operators V. Ann. of Math. (2) 93 (1971), 139-149.
- [8] Bauer, Tilman: An infinite loop space structure on the nerve of spin bordism categories. Quart. J. Math 55, (2004), p. 117-133.
- Becker, James C.; Gottlieb, Daniel H.: The transfer map and fiber bundles. Topology 14 (1975), 1-12.
- [10] Borewicz, Senon I.; Safarevič, Igor R.: Zahlentheorie. Mathematische Reihe, Band 32, Birkhäuser Verlag, Basel-Stuttgart 1966.
- Bousfield, A. K.: The localization of spaces with respect to homology. Topology 14 (1975), 133-150.
- [12] Bredon, Glen: Topology and Geometry. Graduate Texts in Mathematics 139, New York, 1993.
- [13] Brown, Kenneth S.: Cohomology of groups. Graduate Texts in Mathematics, 87. Springer-Verlag, New York-Berlin, 1982.
- [14] Dwyer, Wiliam; Weiss, Michael; Wiliams, Bruce: A parametrized index theorem for the algebraic K-theory Euler class. Acta Math. 190 (2003), no. 1, 1-104.

- [15] Earle, Clifford J.; Eells, James: A fibre bundle description of Teichmüller theory. J. Differential Geometry 3 (1969), 19-43.
- [16] Farkas, Hershel M.; Kra, Irwin: *Riemann surfaces*. Graduate Texts in Mathematics, 71. Springer-Verlag, New York-Berlin, 1980.
- [17] Galatius, Søren: Mod 2 homology of the stable spin mapping class group, preprint, arXiv math.AT/0505009 (2005).
- [18] Galatius, Søren; Madsen, Ib; Tillmann, Ulrike: Divisibility of the stable Morita-Mumford class. University of Aarhus preprint, February 2005, available at http://www.imf.au.dk/cgi-bin/dlf/viewpublications.cgi.
- [19] Galatius, Søren; Madsen, Ib; Tillmann, Ulrike; Weiss, Michael: The homotopy type of the cobordism category. Preprint, arXiv.org/math.AT/0605249, 2006.
- [20] Griffiths, Phillip; Harris, Joseph: Principles of Algebraic Geometry. Reprint of the 1978 original. Wiley Classics Library. John Wiley and Sons, Inc., New York, 1994.
- [21] Harer, John L.: The second homology of the mapping class group of an orientable surface, Invent. math. 72 (1983), 221-239.
- [22] Harer, John L.: Stability of the homology of the mapping class groups of orientable surfaces. Ann. of Math. (2) 121 (1985), no. 2, 215-249.
- [23] Harer, John L.: Stability of the homology of the moduli spaces of Riemann surfaces with spin structure. Math. Ann. 287 (1990), no. 2, 323-334.
- [24] Harris, Joe; Morrison, Ian: Moduli of curves. Graduate Texts in Mathematics, 187. Springer-Verlag, New York, 1998.
- [25] Hirsch, Morris W.: Differential topology. Graduate Texts in Mathematics, 33. Springer-Verlag, New York-Heidelberg, 1976.
- [26] Imayoshi, Yoichi; Taniguchi, Masahiko: An introduction to Teichmüller spaces. Translated and revised from the Japanese by the authors. Springer-Verlag, Tokyo, 1992.
- [27] Ivanov, Nikolai: Mapping Class Groups. In: Handbook of geometric topology, ed. by R.J. Daverman and R. B. Sher, 2002, p. 523-633.
- [28] Johnson, Dennis: Spin structures and quadratic forms on surfaces. J. London Math. Soc. (2), 22 (1980), 365-373.
- [29] Jones, John D. S.; Westbury, Bruce W.: Algebraic K-theory, homology spheres, and the η-invariant. Topology 34 (1995), no. 4, 929-957.

- [30] Kawazumi, Nariya; Uemura, Takeshi: Riemann-Hurwitz-formula for Morita-Mumford classes and surface symmetries. Kodai Math. J. 21(1998), 372-380.
- [31] Lawson, H. Blaine, Jr.; Michelsohn, Marie-Louise: Spin Geometry. Princeton Mathematical Series, 38. Princeton University Press, Princeton, NJ, 1989.
- [32] Madsen, Ib; Tillmann, Ulrike: The stable mapping class group and  $Q(\mathbb{CP}^{\infty}_{+})$ . Invent. Math. 145 (2001), no. 3, 509-544.
- [33] Madsen, Ib; Weiss, Michael: The stable moduli space of Riemann surfaces: Mumfords conjecture. arXiv.org/math.AT/0212321 version 3, July 14, 2004.
- [34] Masbaum, Gregor: On representations of Spin mapping class groups arising in Spin TQFT. Geometry and physics (Aarhus, 1995), 197–207, Lecture Notes in Pure and Appl. Math. 184, Dekker, New York, 1997.
- [35] Miller, Edward Y.: The homology of the mapping class group. J. Differential Geom. 24 (1986), no. 1, 1-14.
- [36] Milnor, John W.; Stasheff, James D.: *Characteristic classes*. Annals of Mathematics Studies, No. 76. Princeton University Press, Princeton, N. J.; University of Tokyo Press, Tokyo, 1974.
- [37] Milnor, John: Groups which act on  $\mathbb{S}^n$  without fixed points. Amer. J. Math. 79 (1957), 623-630.
- [38] Morita, Shigeyuki: Characteristic classes of surface bundles. Invent. math. 90 (1987), 551-577.
- [39] Morita, Shigeyuki: Characteristic classes of T<sup>2</sup>-bundles. Homotopy theory and related topics (Kyoto, 1984), 135–148, Adv. Stud. Pure Math., 9, North-Holland, Amsterdam, 1987.
- [40] Mukai, Juno: The S<sup>1</sup>-transfer map and homotopy groups of suspended complex projective spaces. Math. J. Okayama Univ. 24 (1982), no. 2, p. 179-200.
- [41] Mumford, David: Towards an enumerative geometry of the moduli space of curves. In: Arithmetic and geometry, Vol. II, 271-328, Progr. Math., 36, Birkhäuser Boston, Boston, MA, 1983.
- [42] Powell, Jerome: Two theorems on the mapping class group of a surface. Proc. Amer. Math. Soc. 68 (1978), no. 3, 347-350.
- [43] Quillen, Daniel: Letter from Quillen to Milnor on  $\text{Im}(\pi_i \mathbf{0} \to \pi_i^s \to K_i \mathbb{Z})$ . In: Algebraic K-theory (Proc. Conf., Northwestern Univ., Evanston, Ill., 1976), pp. 182-188. Lecture Notes in Math., Vol. 551, Springer, Berlin, 1976.

- [44] Quillen, Daniel: Higher Algebraic K-Theory, I. In: Algebraic K-theory, I: Higher K-theories (Proc. Conf., Battelle Memorial Inst., Seattle, Wash., 1972), pp. 85-147. Lecture Notes in Math., Vol. 341, Springer, Berlin 1973.
- [45] Robbin, Joel; Salamon, Dietmar: A construction of the Deligne-Mumford orbifold, arXiv.org/math.SG/0407090 (2004).
- [46] Rudyak, Yuli: On Thom spectra, orientability, and cobordism. Springer Monographs in Mathematics. Springer-Verlag, Berlin, 1998.
- [47] Saveliev, Nikolai: Lectures on the topology of 3-manifolds. Walter de Gruyter, Berlin, New York, 1999.
- [48] Segal, Grame: *Categories and cohomology theories*. Topology 13 (1974), 293-312.
- [49] Segal, Graeme: Classifying spaces and spectral sequences. Inst. Hautes Etudes Sci. Publ. Math. No. 34 (1968), 105-112.
- [50] Segal, Graeme: The stable homotopy of complex projective space. Quart. J. Math. Oxford Ser. (2) 24 (1973), 1-5.
- [51] Smale, Stephen: Diffeomorphisms of the 2-sphere. Proc. Amer. Math. Soc. 10 (1959), 621-626.
- [52] Tillmann, Ulrike: On the homotopy of the stable mapping class group. Invent. Math. 130 (1997), no. 2, 257-275.
- [53] Tillmann, Ulrike: A splitting for the stable mapping class group. Math. Proc. Cambridge Philos. Soc. 127 (1999), no. 1, 55-65.
- [54] Waldhausen, Friedhelm: Algebraic K-theory of spaces, a manifold approach. In: Current trends in algebraic topology, Part 1 (London, Ont., 1981), pp. 141-184, CMS Conf. Proc., 2, Amer. Math. Soc., Providence, R.I., 1982.

# Curriculum vitae

Name: Johannes Felix Ebert

Date and place of birth: 1976, June 16, in Bonn-Bad Godesberg

June 1995: Abitur at the Friedrich-Ebert-Gymnasium, Bonn August 1995 until August 1996: Civil service

October 1996 until September 1998: Undergraduate studies of mathematics at the Rheinische Friedrich-Wilhelm-Universität Bonn September 1998: Vordiplom

October 1998 until May 2003: Graduate studies in mathematics, University of Bonn October 1998 until September 2002: Tutor at the Mathematical Insitute, University of Bonn

May 2003: Diplom

Title of diploma thesis: "Über den Modulraum mehrfach gerichteter und punktierter Kleinscher Flächen". Supervisor: C.-F. Bödigheimer

July 2003 until June 2006: PhD studies at the University of Bonn, financally supported by the Max-Planck-Institut für Mathematik Bonn; member of the International Max-Planck Research School "Moduli spaces", member of the Bonner Internationale Graduiertenschule, associate member of the Graduiertenkolleg "Homotopie und Kohomologie."